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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under The Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of the China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way
of introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
As at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,532,937,817 shares, of which
China Resources Group is holding approximately 73.35% of the issued shares of the Company.
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LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 4606-08, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 3118 6800
Fax : (852) 3118 6830
E-mail : crcement@crc.com.hk
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HONG KONG LIMITED

1313 (shares)
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“AR”

“associated corporation”

“Board”

“China Resources Group”

“Chinese Mainland”

“CG Code”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

“CRC”

“Director(s)”

Autonomous Region, PRC

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macau

SAR

Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, the Company’s
intermediate holding company

China Resources Co., Limited, a company
established in PRC with limited liability,
an intermediate holding company of CR
Holdings

director(s) of the Company



&
DEFINITIONS

[BEEERE] 5

(8]

[ERLERE]

[ &E

BN

&%

EEN

[EmARA

[F2E<7A]

[FRE

[ RIT TR |

B A
AATREHBAT
hEEES
EEEEAE

A ENE
HEERE

BRI THE

NEH B
BT LT RA
PRI EA
PRIAEBETEES
SagiEETa
GEIN-E

A BT
AATEEN-TENE
1A = BERANEIRR (D LD
sl BIEEEN =T

ZFE+—A+LRESRR
— IR & Rt El

“FAI”
“Fujian”
“GDP”
“Group”
“Guangdong”
“Guangxi”
“Guizhou”

“Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

“PRC” or “China”

“SAR”

“Scheme”

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

gross domestic products

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang AR

Guizhou Province, China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong SAR

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

Special Administrative Region, PRC

the share award scheme of the Company
adopted by the Directors on 2 September
2009 and amended by the Directors as
a cash award scheme on 17 November
2010
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

HSFOH

“Shanxi”

“Share(s)”

“Southern China”

“Stock Exchange’

“Yunnan”

“HKS”

“RMB”

7

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
and Hainan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Yunnan Province, China

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China
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“kcal”

“

”

kg

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent

kilocalorie

kilogram

kilometer

kilowatt-hour

cubic meter

square meter
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is the largest cement and
concrete producer in Southern China and is one of the large-scale cement
producers supported by Chinese government authorities. We are currently
the largest clinker and cement producer by production capacity and the
largest concrete producer by sales volume in Southern China.

Our operations range from the excavation of limestone to the production,
sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete. Our products
are primarily used in the construction of infrastructure projects such as
hydroelectric power stations, dams, ports, bridges, airports and roads, as
well as suburban development and high-rise buildings. Our products are
mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Shanxi, Yunnan and
Guizhou through our well-established waterway, railway and road logistics
networks.

As at 31 December 2016, we had ninety three cement grinding lines and
forty four clinker production lines in operation, with annual production
capacity of 81.3 million tons of cement and 59.8 million tons of clinker
respectively. We also operated fifty nine concrete batching plants with
annual production capacity of 35.1 million m? of concrete. The locations of
our production facilities and their respective production capacities are as

follows:
e B BT
Cement Clinker Concrete
&1}/ BRAE/  Province/AR/ EEGHE BEWM 4SEHKHE BHEMWE BHUZEE BEUAK
BRITHE SAR No.oflines  miliontons ~ No.oflines ~ miliontons ~ No. of plants million m3
E® Guangdong 24 225 10 144 25 15.3
=] Guangxi 35 31.2 17 25.0 22 13.0
BE Fujian 14 101 6 7.0 = =
1= Hainan 5 44 3 33 5 30
i Shanxi 6 6.0 3 4.6 1 0.6
e Yunnan 7 5.1 4 39 1 0.6
&M Guizhou 2 2.0 1 16 =
yijpan Zhejiang — - - - 2 11
BB Hong Kong = = = = 3 15
a5t Total 93 81.3 44 59.8 59 35.1
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In addition, through our equity interests in certain associates and joint
ventures, we owned a total of eighty five cement grinding lines, thirty seven
clinker production lines and fifteen concrete batching plants with total
annual production capacities of 58.6 million tons of cement, 39.7 million
tons of clinker and 7.4 million m? of concrete. These production capacities
are mainly located in Guangdong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia.
The respective annual production capacities attributable to the Company
according to our equity interests in these associates and joint ventures
were 19.3 million tons of cement, 13.1 million tons of clinker and 3.4
million m? of concrete.

We place strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility and are one of
the few cement producers in China which equips all the clinker production
lines with denitration systems for the removal of nitrogen oxides and
residual heat recovery generators that reuse the exhaust heat generated
during the clinker production process. This enables us to reduce energy
consumption, achieve higher production efficiency, minimize pollution and
improve product quality. Our clinker production plants are strategically
located near our limestone quarries, which supply the limestone required
for our clinker production.
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The production plants with cement grinding lines and clinker production lines in operation
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The production plants with cement grinding lines and clinker production lines under construction
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The cement grinding lines in operation
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7T Zhanjiang
37T Lianjiang
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The concrete batching plants in operation
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The production plants with clinker production lines in operation owned by associates and joint ventures
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The cement grinding lines in operation owned by associates and joint ventures
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The concrete batching plants in operation owned by associates and joint ventures
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

15 June 2016

EVENT

Submitted an application to the
National Association of Financial Market
Institutional Investors of PRC for the
purpose of issuance of medium-term notes
in an aggregate amount of not more than
RMB9.0 billion and commercial paper in
an aggregate amount of not more than
RMB9.0 billion (which was revised to
RMB4.5 billion on 27 July 2016) in PRC.
On 5 September 2016, the Company
completed the issuance of the first tranche
of the medium-term notes in the amount of
RMB3.0 billion at the coupon rate of 3.5%
per annum for a term of five years and
the first tranche of the commercial paper
in the amount of RMB500.0 million at the
coupon rate of 2.96% per annum for a
term of 365 days.
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DATE

16 June 2016

28 June 2016

28 July 2016

EVENT

Entered into a strategic co-operation
agreement with Anhui Conch Cement
Company Limited. According to the
agreement, Anhui Conch Cement
Company Limited shall assist the Company
in the construction and the technological
upgrade of production plants. Both
parties shall establish a communications
mechanism for experience sharing in
production, technology and business
management on a regular basis. Both
parties also agreed to jointly promote the
sustainable and healthy development of
the cement industry in China and explore
the possibilities of co-operation in China
and overseas.

Commencement of operation of the
sixth clinker production line with annual
production capacity of approximately
1.6 million tons in Fengkai County,
Guangdong.

Commencement of operation of the clinker
production line with annual production
capacity of approximately 1.9 million tons
in Lianjiang City, Guangdong.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

16 December 2016

19 December 2016

EVENT

Increase of financial assistance to Yunnan
Cement & Building Materials Group
Co., Ltd. to provide (i) guarantees in
respect of bank loans in the total amount
of RMB1,403.75 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,572.2 million)
and (ii) shareholder’s loan amounting
to RMB200.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$224.0 million).

Entered into a strategic co-operation
agreement with BBMG Corporation.
According to the agreement, the Company
and BBMG Corporation shall jointly
explore the Chinese and overseas markets,
further promote the advancement of the
technology as well as the transformation
and upgrade of the cement industry,
and establish a market communications
mechanism to strengthen the sharing
of market information and experience
in production, technology and business
management on a regular basis, which
would allow the parties to learn from each
other’s strengths for mutual benefits,
achieve improvement on management,
jointly explore paths on transformation
development towards environmental
protection and promote the advancement
of the cement industry in China.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
“E-XRE 0% —T—mE
2016 2015 2014
BEB(AEET) Turnover (HK$ million) 25,647.5 26,778.7 32,6689
AEHAIR BB -HER EBITDA (HK$ million)

BRI AT (BEAT) 4,881.7 3,837.6 8,285.2
FREBMN(BEET) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 1,261.6 936.9 41233
RRAIEE AELET Profit attributable to owners of

(B&#ET) the Company (HK$ million) 1,325.9 1,015.0 4,206.4
FREAEF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 0.203 0.155 0.644

R-Z—RE —hF RIZE-OEF
+=A=+-8B +=-A=+—-8B +=-A=t+-—8H
As at As at As at
31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2014
EERE(BEAT) Total assets (HK$ million) 52,156.5 54,216.8 57,537.1
ANEHE AEEER Equity atiributable to owners of
(B&EBT) the Company (HK$ million) 26,006.8 26,556.9 28,1799
FEERiES (BBET) Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 245.1 4288 535.3
fEFE (B8BT) (#1) Net borrowings (HK$ million) (note 1) 14,667.7 16,945.3 16,112.7
BEE(#2) Gearing ratio (note 2) 68.7% 71.3% 72.0%
FEEE(#3) Net gearing ratio (note 3) 56.4% 63.8% 57.2%
SREEFE-F@ (Er) Net assets per share — book (HK$)
(it4) (note 4) 3.98 4.07 431
it notes:
1. ERFRESRIRITER  EERPES  SiREs kP 1. Net borrowings equal to total bank borrowings, unsecured bonds, commercial paper
ﬁ?@%@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%&ﬁE?%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ(° and medium term notes less cash and bank balances and pledged bank deposits.
2. BERTIRITER BERES SHRESF LT 2. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings, unsecured bonds,
BB RER AR A R AJE(G e matE - commercial paper and medium term notes by equity attributable to owners of the
Company.
3. FEERTAGBRFER AR REE ABGERT 3. Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to
B owners of the Company.
4. SREEFE-REIUARQRIES ABGERRIA 4 Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of

FRENEBITRNBBEE-

the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.

—B-REER
Annual Report 2016

17



18

FRHRS
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FEER

BE_Z—RFt_A=T—RHLEFENGEEE
S FE 25,647,500,00078 7T - A F IR A42% B
ECE-RETA=+—RIFE RNARE
B ANEIE4RE B 71,325,900,000/8 7T - A
H130.6% ° G EFREAREMN R02038 7T °

B
CN

o

X

EEREFEMRETRNEEZE—F—R"F+=
A=1t—H L FENRARBER00758T (=
T—hF: BROETT) - FARBRRNERE
BEBERE LHUER  REREAN —F—+t
FAA=+T—H(EH=D)HAEDIRTR_-F
—tFHA+TN\B (ZHH) IR ABRER AT
MARAIRR - AR SRS BABREAE
FETRFORL °

EZREEMURESTRIRN T —RFoP
HlR BB R0015E T (ZE— A% - §RO.06E
) MEBE-T—R"FT-A=t—BLFEN
DIKA B AR R ERR0.008 T (—F—H%F:
BRO.08%E T )

ERRERBR AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2016
amounted to HK$25,647.5 million, representing a decrease of 4.2%
from that of last year. The consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to
HK$1,325.9 million, representing an increase of 30.6% from that of last
year. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$0.203.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.075 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$0.02
per Share). Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed
on or about Wednesday, 31 May 2017 to shareholders of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 18 May 2017. Such final dividend will not be subject to any
withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.015 per Share in cash
for 2016 (2015: HK$0.06 per Share) and the total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2016 will be HK$0.09 per Share (2015: HK$0.08
per Share).
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2016, facing the downward pressure on economy, the Chinese
government actively promoted supply-side structural reform backed by
infrastructure construction so as to maintain steady economic growth.
According to the information of the National Bureau of Statistics of China,
China’s GDP grew by 6.7% to RMB74.4 trillion over last year.

In 2016, the Chinese government accelerated its investments in
infrastructure construction and fostered public-private-partnership in
infrastructure projects such as transportation, hydraulic engineering and
major municipal projects. Government investments played a crucial role in
stabilizing the economic growth by stimulating private investments. During
the year, national FAI (excluding rural households) increased by 8.1%
over last year to RMB59.7 trillion; among which, national infrastructure
investments (excluding the production and supply of electricity, heat, gas
and water) reached RMB11.9 trillion, representing an increase of 17.4%
over last year.

During the year, the Chinese government further reformed the RMB
exchange rate, and it was the first time RMB was included by the
International Monetary Fund in the basket of currencies with the Special
Drawing Rights. However, the persistently rising expectation on interest
rate hike in the United States of America increases the volatility of
RMB exchange rate, which adds pressure on financial systemic risk
management and brings challenges to asset and liability management by
Chinese enterprises.

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2016, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Shanxi, Yunnan and Guizhou, at which the Group has operations,
reached RMB8.0 ftrillion, RMB1.8 ftrillion, RMB2.9 trillion, RMB404.5
billion, RMB1.3 trillion, RMB1.5 trillion and RMB1.2 trillion, representing
increases of 7.5%, 7.3%, 8.4%, 7.5%, 4.5%, 8.7% and 10.5%
respectively, while the FAI (excluding rural households) of these provinces
increased by 10.0%, 12.8%, 9.3%, 11.7%, 0.8%, 19.8% and 21.1%
to RMB3.3 ftrillion, RMB1.8 trillion, RMB2.3 trillion, RMB374.7 hillion,
RMB1.4 trillion, RMB1.6 trillion and RMB1.3 trillion respectively.

—E-REER
Annual Report 2016

19



20

FRMRE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ZENF RIBER AR R A A
TR RASBERTE IS RIBHRE - AR BPEH
RimEEL N 2EEETERTEERER
AREESOISETT  BREF N FE2.7%  ABEERIE
BARARBISEEL REFIERT 7%  KEE
BB BARKELBMETT  BRAF TFEA1.0% °

BB R ARSI E RORR KM EE
NEYS o
FHELE  —T—"F  PEBAHSTRMT

K EHE T 5 1B R B E BRI - AR E
EmSTiRERER FREER K LA R+
BRI G AR 2F2REnEHEEELL7ET
TR B EFE25% [ HEFIBRIMSBE A
RE118BETL -FEHENER F&THEHE
FERFEAIIEE B - 2REKEHERER
EARKEI03BIET  BEFIER6I%  ERE L
FMRIEE S FEFHFIERLE/ETS
KIERB1% - M AFMHFIER140%  FERTH
FRI06EF K E6.1% MEF A TFE69%
B ERERAE KRR KABEER-

1T

ZERNEF - BEEKRE RO TTERFIRER
ERE KEEETFRER KEEKEB=A
RN 58 - RIRP BRI K G5 2 EIK
RER R2A0ENE  RAFIER25% mM=—F—H
FRTEIO% -H -ER B 182 8m-
IL7E - Er REMEKREE D BIRLERE 1.2
B R - 80908 I - 2,230 A - 3,600 1A + 1. 11218
R1UEM 9 R A FIERAL1% 82% 45%
0.1%09% 17.8%185%

HRKORERBR AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

In 2016, the infrastructure construction for transportation secured the
coordinated development of various regions, urban and rural areas and
stable economic growth. According to the Ministry of Transport of China,
during the year, FAI on national railways decreased by 2.7% from last
year to RMB801.5 billion. FAI on highways amounted to RMB1.8 trillion,
representing an increase of 7.7% over last year. FAI on waterways reached
RMB189.4 billion, representing a decrease of approximately 1.0% from
last year. The infrastructure investments in transportation have provided a
stable and strong support to the demand for cement.

In respect of real estate, in 2016, the Chinese government introduced
various appropriate measures having regard to different circumstances of
the local property markets of different cities so as to maintain steady and
healthy development of the property market. Housing demand increased
during the year. According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China,
the contracted gross floor area of commaodity housing sold in China during
the year increased by 22.5% over last year to 1,570 million m? and the
sales amount increased by 34.8% to RMB11.8 trillion. The increase
in property sales propelled the recovery of real estate investments and
newly commenced construction. Investments in real estate development
in China reached RMB10.3 trillion, representing an increase of 6.9%
over last year, which was higher than that of last year by 5.9 percentage
points. The floor area of properties that commenced construction was
1,670 million m?, representing an increase of 8.1% as compared with a
decrease of 14.0% last year. The floor area of completed properties was
1,060 million m?, representing an increase of 6.1% as compared with a
decrease of 6.9% last year. The recovery of real estate investments has
stabilized the demand for cement.

THE INDUSTRY

In 2016, upon recovery of the demand for cement and the significant
improvement of the competition environment of the industry, cement
production increased steadily and cement price had rebounded strongly
from its low since March. According to the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2016, total cement production in China was 2.4 billion tons,
representing an increase of 2.5% over last year, as compared with a
decrease of 4.9% in 2015. Among which, total cement production in
Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Shanxi, Yunnan and Guizhou
were 150.0 million tons, 120.0 million tons, 80.9 million tons, 22.3
million tons, 36.0 million tons, 110.0 million tons and 110.0 million tons,
representing increases of 4.1%, 8.2%, 4.5%, 0.1%, 0.9%, 17.8% and
8.5% respectively.
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According to the statistics of Geography Cement, construction of twenty
new clinker production lines was completed in China in 2016, which
increased clinker production capacity by approximately 28.2 million
tons, representing a decrease of 38.0% from last year. Among which,
clinker production capacities in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Shanxi,
Yunnan and Guizhou were increased by 3.4 million tons, 3.4 million tons,
1.6 million tons, 1.6 million tons, 3.9 million tons and 1.6 million tons
respectively.

In 2016, the Chinese government steadily implemented supply-side
structural reform and actively promoted green development of the cement
industry. In May, the General Office of State Council issued the “Guiding
Opinions on Promoting Steady Growth, Restructuring and Efficiency
Improvement of Building Materials Industry” which aims to increase the
production concentration of the top ten cement and clinker enterprises
from 53% in 2015 to over 60% by 2020. Construction of new cement and
clinker projects shall be strictly prohibited. Production capacities failing
to meet the standards for environmental protection, energy consumption,
safety and quality shall be required to take remedial actions or even cease
operations. Meanwhile, the government shall implement multi-tiered
electricity tariffs policy, promote industry consolidation and fine-tune the
practice of off-peak production.

In October, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology published
the “Development Plan for the Building Materials Industry (2016-2020)"
which further specifies the targets of production capacity reduction and
green development. The Plan clearly states that by 2020, 10% of clinker
production capacity shall be eliminated, the proportion of cement kiln
production lines with co-processing capacity shall increase from 7%
in 2015 to 15% by 2020, and comprehensive energy consumption for
producing each ton of clinker shall decrease from 112 kg of standard coal
in 2015 to 105 kg by 2020.

In December, the Ministry of Environmental Protection issued the “Policy
on Pollution Prevention Technology of Co-processing Solid Wastes in
Cement Kilns”, which requires the cement kilns co-processing solid
wastes to be built to possess a daily clinker production capacity of 3000
tons or above and provides guidance on production technology, technical

equipment and pollutant treatment.
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In January 2017, the General Administration of Quality Supervision,
Inspection and Quarantine of PRC announced that it had revoked the
manufacturing licenses for industrial products of approximately 680
cement enterprises. In February 2017, various government departments
including the Ministry of Environmental Protection and the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of PRC
conducted special inspection on the cement and glass industries so as
to clean up and rectify obsolete capacities, verify the status of elimination
of obsolete capacities in the industry and implementation of standards of
environmental protection policies. During the inspection, the public was
encouraged to report against pollution problems, as well as production and
sale of cement products without production licenses.

Under the strict supervision of the Chinese government, the
implementation of policies and plans for the cement industry will help
to improve the efficiency of production and operation, increase the
investments in environmental protection from cement enterprises,
accelerate the elimination of inefficient capacities, promote the
transformation and innovation of leading cement enterprises, and foster
the sustainable development of the cement industry.

BRAND BUILDING

During the year, in order to define the branding position and enhance
brand awareness, the Group rebuilt the brand name “Runfeng Cement”
in China, which has established an image of excellent-quality product. In
the future, through strengthening its brand building, the Group will further
build up a sterling product reputation, raise customers’ recognition of the
Group and its products, and enhance its differentiated competitive edge in
the cement industry so as to lay a solid foundation for long-term business
development.
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The Group rebuilt the brand name “Runfeng Cement”in China
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT

The Group actively promotes energy saving and emission reduction, and
assists local governments in co-processing household garbage and other
wastes for commitment to corporate social responsibilities and drive for
green development of the cement industry. All the production lines of the
Group have been equipped with residual heat recovery generators and
denitration systems. Upgrade of dust collection systems will be gradually
completed, which has placed us at a leading position in the industry. In
the future, the Group will continue to upgrade and transform equipment
for energy saving and emission reduction, and promote the construction of
co-processing projects in order to secure the sustainable development of
the Group.

In December 2016, as the co-Chairman of the Cement Sustainability
Initiative in China, the Group attended the annual Chief Executive
Officer Meeting held by the organization, and exchanged views with
global cement enterprises on climate and energy, safety and health,
product management, sustainable construction and its domestic impact.
Research on various topics including co-processing treatment and carbon
emission reduction under the environmental condition in China has been
conducted for the promotion of sustainable development of the cement
industry in China.

In 2016, the Group’s continuous efforts in environmental protection were
recognized by the industry and the society. These include:

° The Company was honoured “Hong Kong Green Awards 2016
— Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) —
Platinum Award” by Green Council of Hong Kong;

° Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd. was
honoured “Hong Kong Green Awards 2016 — Green Management
Award — Service Provider (Large Corporation) — Silver Award” by
Green Council of Hong Kong;
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° China Resources Cement (Shangsi) Limited, China Resources
Cement (Wuxuan) Limited, China Resources Cement (Changjiang)
Limited and Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe Cement
Co., Ltd. were awarded “One Hundred Energy-Saving Model
Enterprises in Building Materials Industry” by China Building
Materials Federation;

o China Resources Cement (Yangchun) Limited was awarded the
title of “Advanced Energy-Efficient Enterprises in the Cement
Industry of Guangdong Province”.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Led.
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The Company was honoured “Hong Kong Green
Awards 2016 — Environmental, Health and Safety
Award (Large Corporation) — Platinum Award” by
Green Council of Hong Kong

B B )2 Al R

BT A AR RSB 1 D M B RS ARAR
B HARELEERETER - RETBEBA
THRE —FT—tFRRNEERERFREER
65%IE - BIE BERE BIRIEERRO0%I A o

REBERS —T—F HBREEEE
ZRE AREBO0OETT  REFA2 10028 :
B KB EIRE R ARBLSEE L FiES
HAFES 000 R - RIE—T—RF+ = M

(FEEERER) BNE 2T _FF §
BIZRABIREARKISEE  HKEEBE
R B RERNIAENEREFISENE - B
hEREREEBREE T RFRI228 R
BREFIENE  SRABBEERRIE T X
FROBERBIEEISERNENU L MATEE
EEE BIZRHTE3 000N B 26,000 B LA Lo
BRI RIENER BB BREEORITE Y
RREER-

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

The supply-side structural reform initiated by the Chinese government
and investments in infrastructure construction will lay the foundation for
stable economic growth. According to the Work Report of the Chinese
government, the targeted GDP growth in 2017 is approximately 6.5% and
the targeted FAI growth is approximately 9.0%.

According to the Ministry of Transport, in 2017, the FAI on railways will
reach RMB800 billion for the construction of 2,100 km of new lines.
The total FAI on highways and waterways will reach RMB1.8 trillion, and
5,000 km of expressways will be built. According to the White Paper on
the “Development of Transportation in China” issued in December 2016,
by 2020, the FAIl on railways will reach RMB3.5 trillion whereas the
operational length of railways will be increased from 124,000 km at the
end of 2016 to 150,000 km, among which, the operational length of high-
speed railways will be increased from 22,000 km at the end of 2016 to
30,000 km. The operational length of expressways will be increased from
130,000 km at the end of 2016 to over 150,000 km. The operational
length of urban rail transit will be increased by 3,000 km to over 6,000
km. The construction of transportation facilities will be conducive to the
steady and healthy development of the cement industry.
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The Group believes that during the “Thirteenth Five-Year” period, stable
infrastructure investments will provide strong support to the demand for
cement in the medium to long term. Driven by the supply-side reform,
the competition environment in cement industry will gradually improve.
The Chinese government will continue to raise the production standards
in environmental protection, energy consumption and safety as well as
product quality, and will encourage qualified cement enterprises to launch
solid waste co-processing projects for promotion of the healthy and
sustainable development of the cement industry.

As at 31 December 2016, the aggregate annual production capacities of
cement, clinker and concrete of the Group controlled by its subsidiaries
together with the annual production capacities held by associates and joint
ventures attributable to the Group according to its share of equity interests
amounted to 100.6 million tons, 72.9 million tons and 38.5 million m3
respectively. Currently, the annual production capacities of cement and
clinker of the Group under construction are 4.0 million tons and 3.0
million tons respectively.

Looking ahead, facing the new norm of the Chinese economy, through
the control, conversion and distribution of resources, the Group will
persistently achieve the lowest total cost with a leading market position in
the region. By utilizing resources and our market advantage, the Group
will strengthen our brand building and distribution channels, accelerate
environmental protection transformation and research and development
of new products, and drive for further development with innovation.
Meanwhile, the Group will explore the feasibility of extending our business
to upstream and downstream sectors, actively seize the opportunities from
supply-side reform in the cement industry, seek strategic co-operation
with domestic and international leading cement enterprises, and jointly
promote the sustainable and healthy development of the cement industry.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to my fellow
directors, the management team and all staff for their dedication, hard
work and loyalty to the Group. On behalf of the Board, | would also like
to express our sincere thanks to our customers, business partners and
stakeholders for their relentless support.

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2017
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement products and concrete are basic building materials in the
construction of infrastructural projects, buildings and rural development.
Their consumptions are highly correlated to economic development
and FAI. As cement and concrete are heavy building materials, the
successfulness of its business is highly dependent on the competitive
advantage of the individual supplier located within the reasonable radius
in a competitive environment. The performance of the Group’s business
operations is therefore subject to the business environment where the
Group’s assets are located, which significantly affects the selling prices
of the cement and concrete products. On the production side, coal cost
represents the most significant and volatile component of the cost of
cement production. Accordingly, the significant fluctuation of coal price
poses the other major risk and uncertainty to the performance of the
Group and the industry at large.
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NEW PRODUCTION PLANTS

During the year, the Group completed the construction of (1) the sixth
clinker production line with annual production capacity of approximately
1.6 million tons at Fengkai County, Guangdong; (2) one clinker production
line with annual production capacity of approximately 1.9 million tons and
two cement grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 2.0
million tons at Lianjiang City, Guangdong; and (3) one concrete batching
plant, which increased our total annual concrete production capacity by
0.6 million m?.
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The Group’s cement production plant at Lianjiang City, Guangdong

CONTRACT PRODUCTION FACILITY

During the year, the Group had processing contracts with certain cement
grinding factories in Guangdong, Guangxi and Hainan as a strategy
to improve production efficiency and optimize clinker consumption.
Total annual cement grinding capacity of these factories amounted to
approximately 4.4 million tons.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

CAPACITY UTILIZATION

Excluding the contract production capacity and the related production
volume abovementioned, the utilization rates of our cement, clinker and
concrete production lines during the year were 101.5%, 114.3% and
35.9% as compared with 99.5%, 113.3% and 36.3% respectively for
2015.

PROCUREMENT MANAGEMENT

In 2016, coal price had been rising continuously since mid-year due to
shortage of coal supply in China. According to the statistics of China Coal
Transportation and Distribution Association, the average value of Bohai-rim
Steam-Coal Price Index for the year was approximately RMB460 per ton,
representing an increase of 7.6% over last year.

The Group purchased 9.9 million tons of coal in 2016 (9.3 million tons
in 2015), representing an increase of 6.3% over last year; among which,
approximately 75%, 20% and 5% (75%, 19% and 6% in 2015) were
sourced from northern China, neighbouring areas of our production plants
and Australia respectively. The proportion of direct procurement from coal
producers increased to approximately 77% (74% in 2015). The Group
has engaged large-scale domestic coal companies as main suppliers
and imported coal from overseas for stable supply of high-quality coal.
In the future, the Group will continue to strengthen co-operation with
large-scale domestic coal suppliers, streamline procurement channels of
imported coal, and take advantage of centralized procurement to reduce
procurement cost.

LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT

In 2016, the Group accelerated the construction of logistics information
systems so as to enhance the efficiency in delivery, distribution and
operation and to promote the level of its delicacy management in logistics.
By the end of 2016, the truck transportation scheduling management
system and the information collection system had commenced operation
in all the operating regions of the Group, which helped to enhance the
efficiency in vehicle scheduling, surveillance and delivery, secure supply
of goods to customers and improve customer service. The information
collection system also facilitated accurate distribution and higher
efficiency in logistics. Furthermore, the Group’s “Smart Card” system has
commenced operation at our cement production plants in Dongguan
City, Fengkai County and Luoding City, which increased the efficiency
of delivery of these three plants. The system will be rolled out at other
production plants of the Group in the future.
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During the year, the shipping and silo capacities of the Group along Xijiang
River remained basically stable. Annual shipping capacity maintained at
approximately 34.5 million tons. At the end of 2016, the Group controlled
the operations of forty seven silo terminals with annual capacity of over
30.0 million tons.

CAPABILITY OF RESEARCH AND
DEVELOPMENT

The Group has been committed to boosting innovative development
in products, materials and technology. In 2016, the Group’s newly
developed products — cement for marine engineering, pervious concrete,
and decorative cement, were put into production. Cement for marine
engineering is featured with high resistance on erosion and crack.
Concrete made of cement for marine engineering is highly durable and
meets the requirements for marine engineering. Cement for marine
engineering was officially approved as the “Key Technologies in Cement-
based Materials for Marine Engineering with High Resistance on
Corrosion” of the “National Thirteenth Five-Year Projects” in 2016. With
the advantages of high water permeability and high heat dissipation,
pervious concrete effectively enhances urban draining capacity and
facilitates regulation of urban temperature and humidity. The Group has
been selling the product in Huizhou, Nanning and other cities. Decorative
cement is easy to mix, easy to plaster, highly durable and environmentally-
friendly, which can effectively enhance the efficiency in construction. The
product was officially launched in the market in September 2016.

In order to protect our achievements in research and development,
the Group proactively applied for patent licenses. In 2016, the Group
registered 34 patent licenses, mainly including equipment and systems
for energy saving, emission reduction and enhancement of production
and operation efficiency, as well as new materials. Among which, 8 were
inventions and 26 were utility models. As of the end of December 2016,
the Group held 87 patent licenses, including 11 inventions and 76 utility
models.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Group attaches great importance to corporate social responsibilities.
In order to secure the green development of the Group, increase the
corporate value and strengthen its competitive edge in the industry, the
Group actively encourages energy saving and environmental protection,
production safety and occupational health.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Energy saving and emission reduction

The Group has been proactively supporting the national policies of
environmental protection on energy saving and emission reduction.
By comparing the benchmark indicators of production and operation,
each production plant could learn from the successful experience of
the model plants for continuous reduction of energy consumption and
enhancement of operational efficiency. The Group has also incorporated
operating indicators including consumption of coal and electricity in the
performance assessment of our production plants in order to stimulate
staff initiative for further raising the level of operation. Details of operation
including consumption of coal and electricity have been set out in the
section of Major Production Costs in this annual report.

As regards to reduction of pollutant emission, the Group has installed
denitration systems for all its clinker production lines in order to control
emission of nitrogen oxides. Currently, our emission levels of nitrogen
oxides are lower than the national emission standard limits. During the
year, the Group added one clinker production line while the nitrogen
oxides emitted in total maintained at the level of approximately 41,000
tons, which was more or less the same as last year.

In order to raise the stability and efficiency of its dust collection systems,
the Group has continued the technical upgrade of dust collection systems
by replacing static electricity dust collection systems with bag filter
systems at all our clinker production lines. Currently, the emission levels of
particulate matters of all our production lines are lower than the national
emission standard limit.

The Group also pays keen attention to the control of sulphur dioxide
emission. Desulfurization systems have been installed in the production
lines operating in quarries with limestone of higher sulphur concentration.
Desulfurizer has been used in some production lines since 2016 in
order to maintain the stability of sulphur dioxide emission and ensure
the emission levels of sulphur dioxide to meet the required standards.
Currently, the average emission level of sulphur dioxide from the Group’s
production lines meets the national emission standard limit.
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Co-processing

With respect to composite utilization of resources, the Group proactively
advocates urban and rural waste co-processing by use of cement kilns.
Compared to traditional ways of waste treatment such as landfill and
combustion for power generation, waste co-processing by use of cement
kilns could save land use and avoid secondary pollution, thereby achieving
waste treatment in a “hazardous free, mass reduction and recyclable”
manner. The problem of “Garbage Siege” is effectively solved for local
governments, which brings about a healthy living environment for the local
residents.

Since the commencement of operation of the urban and rural waste co-
processing project in our cement production plant at Binyang County
of Guangxi in December 2015, a total of approximately 100,000 tons of
untreated urban waste had been processed as at the end of December
2016. Our urban sludge co-processing project in Nanning City of Guangxi
had processed approximately 30,000 tons of urban sludge as at the end
of December 2016 since the commencement of its operation in July
2016. The urban waste co-processing projects in Tianyang County of
Guangxi and Midu County of Yunnan with respective daily processing
capacities of 500 tons and 300 tons are under construction and are
expected to be completed by the end of 2017. The Group will continue
to foster transformation for environmental protection and roll out co-
processing projects by use of cement kilns to other production plants for
sustainable corporate development in the future.

AL B 71 P B G R KB A B M A I A
JELIR 5 Rl e &R B

The urban and rural waste co-processing project in the Group’s cement

production plant at Binyang County, Guangxi
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Production Safety

The Group has been dedicated to production safety management by
continuous improvement of its safety management system and standards,
division of implementation responsibilities and assessments. The Group
promotes production safety standardization and construction of EHS
(environment, health and safety) model plants through strengthening
safety training, actively launching safety activities and innovative
management. Persistent implementation of the construction of EHS
management system will improve the corporate safety management level.

As of the end of 2016, nineteen cement production plants of the Group
had passed the assessments as the First-Class Enterprise in Production
Safety Standardization, among which, our cement production plant at
Fengkai County of Guangdong had further passed the on-site acceptance
inspection as the model unit of First-Class Enterprise in Production Safety
Standardization, reflecting its advanced level in the industry in terms of
production safety standardization. In addition, the Group has conducted
annual safety assessment checks on all the cement production plants and
concrete batching plants of the Group. These assessment results were
incorporated in the respective annual safety performance assessments so
as to regulate the employees’ behavior of production safety and arouse the
employees’ awareness of production safety.

Community Work

The Group proactively fulfills its corporate social responsibilities by
supporting local construction development, thereby creating a harmonious
and friendly community for the local residents. During the year, the Group
donated approximately 6,000 tons of cement and limestone to assist the
local governments of the regions at which the Group has operations in
the repair and construction of roads in towns and villages and tapping
water channels. Cash donations were also made to local schools and
charities for more harmonious relationship between the Company and the
community.

EMPLOYEES

General Information

As at 31 December 2016, our Group employed a total of 21,897 full-time
employees (23,663 as at 31 December 2015) of whom 159 (166 as at
31 December 2015) were based in Hong Kong and the remaining 21,738
(23,497 as at 31 December 2015) were based in the Chinese Mainland. A
breakdown of our employees by function is set out as follows:
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T8 [B Management 404 393
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et Total 21,897 23,663
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Among our 404 senior and middle-level managerial staff (393 as at 31
December 2015), 90% are male (89% as at 31 December 2015) and
10% are female (11% as at 31 December 2015), 64% possess university
degrees (65% as at 31 December 2015), 28% have received post-
secondary education (27% as at 31 December 2015) and their average
age is about 45 (44 as at 31 December 2015). We offer our employees
remuneration packages mainly on the basis of individual performance
and experience and also having regard to common practice in the
industry, including basic wages, production allowance, performance
related bonuses and other staff benefits. The Company has established
a long term award scheme whereby eligible employees of the Group may
be granted cash benefits calculated and paid according to the Shares
acquired by the trustee under the Scheme. Details of the Scheme are
stated in the section on Long Term Award Scheme in the Report of the
Directors.

Care for employees

The Group regards its employees as the most valuable resource for its
corporate survival and development and has been continuously improving
the working environment and atmosphere for its employees. In 2016, the
Group raised its employees’ cohesion and sense of belonging through
organizing various group activities such as ball games, photography
competitions and hiking.

In 2016, the Company and its employees donated a total amount of
RMB1,230,000 to the “China Resources Cement Gratitude Fund”, which
aims at caring for and helping the employees in need. Twenty three
employees were subsidized with a total amount of RMB546,000.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Personnel Training

China Resources Cement College is an internal training institute set up
by the Group for achieving the Company’s strategic goals and enhancing
talent development. Training was provided to managerial, professional and
technical personnel according to their various demands at work. Lecturers
from local and overseas consulting and training institutions were invited
to give lectures to improve the leadership of the managerial personnel.
Experts from local colleges and large-scale science research institutes
were invited for experience sharing. Department supervisors also provided
guidance and helped to solve practical problems at work. These have
secured talents in coping with the business development of the Group.

In 2016, in response to the development strategy of transformation for
environmental protection, the Group launched a training project on co-
processing. Local and overseas experts from large-scale science research
institutes and equipment suppliers were invited as lecturers. Coupled
with guidance from department supervisors, professional and technical
personnel of each production plant received training, which has laid
a solid foundation of talent development for further promotion of co-
processing projects. On the other hand, in order to promote innovative
development, the Group organized innovation contests which encouraged
all employees to make full use of their innovative capacity. The winning
proposals were further optimized and implemented to enhance corporate
efficiency and economic benefits.

In addition, the Group continued to optimize the information system for
personnel training. In 2016, the Group improved the information system
for training management to achieve sharing of information on courses and
lecturers. Various departments may also request for training according to
their needs. At the same time, the system can manage the performance
and training results of the trainees, which provides support for promotion
and development of personnel. In addition, the Group has further put
forward the online-offline hybrid training mode. In the second half of
2016, the i-learning online learning platform had covered the entire Group
with 43 online courses, providing training on procurement, production,
operation and sales.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2016
amounted to HK$25,647.5 million, representing a decrease of 4.2% from
HK$26,778.7 million for the last year. An analysis of segmental turnover by
product is as follows:
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Average Average
Sales selling Sales selling
volume price Turnover volume price Turnover
'000 HK$ per '000 HK$ per
tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000 tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000
KR Cement 80,037 2520 20,172,719 76,721 2699 20,706,812
A Clinker 4,859 1934 939,866 4,632 203.2 941,060
REL Concrete 12,395 3659 4534879 12,311 416.8 5,130,799
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In 2016, our external sales volume of cement, clinker and concrete
increased by 3.3 million tons, 227,000 tons and 84,000 m?, representing
increases of 4.3%, 4.9% and 0.7% respectively over 2015. During the
year, approximately 65.4% of the cement products we sold were 42.5 or
higher grades (63.2% in 2015) and approximately 49.9% were sold in
bags (52.5% in 2015). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete
production was 2.6 million tons (2.7 million tons in 2015), representing
3.1% of the total volume of cement sold (3.4% in 2015).

Segmental turnover by product

HK$ million
K Cement S]] 20,707
@ =& Clinker
@® EStL Concrete 941
2015
—E-REFR
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Our cement sales by geographical area in 2016 were as follows:
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Average Average

Sales selling Sales selling
volume price Turnover volume price Turnover
£/ BRE Province/AR '000 tons  HK$ per ton HK$'000 '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$'000
BR Guangdong 30,010 2639 7918982 30,748 2884 8,868,234
-3 Guangxi 23,988 2533 6,075,048 22,317 2712 6,052,878
BH Fujian 9,534 217.8 2,076,103 8,660 239.2 2,071,239
ie Hainan 5,053 3117 1,574,949 5,046 317.8 1,603,444
il Shanxi 3,245 1712 555,704 3,047 1765 537,938
£ Yunnan 5,827 254.3 1,481,559 4,686 2394 1,121,889
M Guizhou 2,380 206.0 490,374 2,217 2035 451,190
ot Total 80,037 2520 20,172,719 76,721 2699 20,706,812
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2016 were
HK$252.0 per ton, HK$193.4 per ton and HK$365.9 per m? respectively,
representing decreases of 6.6%, 4.8% and 12.2% respectively from
2015. The average selling prices of cement and clinker continued to slide
in the first quarter and have rebounded since April when the demand
for cement recovered despite the rainy season in the second and third
quarters. The average selling price of concrete dropped as a result of more
severe competition in the industry when producers’ cost of production
declined generally.

RiwEE D HKIEHE Cement sales volume by geographical area
FHE '000 tons
5,827 2,380 4,686 2217
&3 Guangdong
3,245 @ =7 Guangxi 3,047
B2 Fujian 5,046
2002 30,010 @ ;7 Hainan 30,748
9,534 2016 @ L7 Shanxi 8,660 2015
@® =/ Yunnan
@® =M Guizhou
23,988 22,317
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Major production costs

The Group’s average price of coal purchased in 2016 was approximately
HK$519 per ton, representing a decrease of 4.8% from the average
price of HK$545 per ton in 2015, while the average thermal value of coal
increased by 0.8% to 5,316 kcal per kg. During the year, our unit coal
consumption per ton of clinker decreased from the average of 147.9 kg
in 2015 to 146.2 kg, representing a decrease of 1.1%, while our standard
coal consumption per ton of clinker remained the same as that in 2015
at 107.6 kg. As a result of the lower coal price and improved unit coal
consumption, our average coal cost per ton of clinker decreased by 6.0%
from HK$80.6 in 2015 to HK$75.8 for the year. Coal cost represented
approximately 31.6% of the cost of sales of cement for the year (31.2% in
2015) and approximately 27.2% of the Group's total cost of sales for the
year (26.7% in 2015).

Our average electricity cost per ton of cement decreased by 14.1% from
HK$38.9 in 2015 to HK$33.4 for the year. Since the beginning of 2016,
various provinces in PRC introduced direct power supply policy under
which power generation enterprises and major industrial electricity users
may agree on concessionary tariffs for an agreed volume of electricity
consumed. During the year, we enjoyed the benefits of lower electricity
tariff for a total of 1,158.1 million kwh consumed and saved approximately
HK$55.3 million under direct power supply agreements and price bidding
arrangements. We managed to lower our electricity consumption to 73.9
kwh per ton of cement for the year (74.6 kwh in 2015), representing a
cost saving of approximately HK$36.4 million (HK$103.8 million in 2015).
Our residual heat recovery generators generated 2,032.9 million kwh
of electricity in the year, representing an increase of 6.0% over 1,917.1
million kwh in 2015. The electricity generated in 2016 accounted for
approximately 31.7% of our required electricity consumption (31.6% in
2015) and we achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$1,101.1 million
for the year (HK$1,145.3 million in 2015). Electricity cost represented
approximately 18.2% of the cost of sales of cement for the year (18.7% in
2015) and approximately 15.7% of the Group's total cost of sales for the
year (16.0% in 2015).
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Cost structure of cement products

HK$ per ton
$54.0 $64.7
ik Coal (26.1%) (31.2%)
@® =5 Electricity
©® E## Materials
Hfth  Others 2015
$49.9

(24.0%) $38.9

(18.7%)

$207.5
(100.0%)

Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2016 was HK$7,025.5 million,
representing an increase of 9.5% from HK$6,417.3 million for 2015 and
the consolidated gross margin was 27.4%, representing an increase of
3.4 percentage points from 24.0% for 2015. The increase in consolidated
gross profit for 2016 was mainly attributable to increase in sales volume
and lower cost of sales of cement products as partly offset by lower selling
prices compared to year 2015. The gross margins of cement, clinker and
concrete for 2016 were 27.6%, 12.8% and 29.4%, as compared with
23.4%, 9.7% and 28.8% respectively for 2015.

Other income

Other income for 2016 was HK$265.9 million, representing a decrease
of 43.7% from HK$471.9 million for 2015, mainly due to decrease of
HK$170.5 million in government subsidies relating to the tax rebates for
the comprehensive use of waste materials in the production of cement,
other incentives and the expiry of rebate for investment incentives.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2016 were HK$1,675.9 million,
representing a decrease of 4.6% from HK$1,756.6 million for 2015. This
was mainly due to lower transportation costs by approximately HK$59.9
million. As a percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution
expenses decreased from 6.6% in 2015 to 6.5% in 2016.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2016 were HK$2,301.6 million,
representing a decrease of 5.7% from HK$2,439.6 million for 2015. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, general and administrative expenses
decreased to 9.0% for 2016 from 9.1% for 2015. During the year, a net
allowance of doubtful debts of HK$4.3 million was charged to general and
administrative expenses for the year (HK$139.3 million in 2015).

Exchange loss

During the year, RMB continued to depreciate against other major foreign
currencies. An exchange loss of HK$418.6 million was generated from
non-RMB net borrowings of the Group for the year (HK$902.9 million in
2015).

Share of results of associates

The associates of the Group contributed a combined loss of HK$58.1
million for the year (HK$235.0 million in 2015) of which HK$1.8 million,
HK$5.3 million and HK$50.4 million (losses of HK$141.8 million,
HK$43.6 million and HK$51.5 million in 2015) were attributable to the
Group's associates operating in Inner Mongolia, Fujian and Yunnan
respectively. The business environments in these provinces improved
generally in 2016 but at different magnitudes.

Share of results of joint ventures

Our joint ventures principally operating in Guangzhou area contributed a
profit of HK$8.5 million for 2016 (loss of HK$9.2 million in 2015).
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Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for the year was 41.6% (4.8% for
2015). According to Document No. 14 of 2015 issued by the State
Administration of Taxation dated 10 March 2015, enterprises which no
longer belong to the category of encouraged industries in the western
territories shall cease to enjoy the reduced enterprise income tax rate
of 15% with effect from 1 October 2014. An amount of HK$499.4
million representing the over-provision of enterprise income tax that was
previously provided at 25% for the period from 1 January 2013 to 30
September 2014 was therefore reversed and included in taxation for the
year ended 31 December 2015. Due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams, no deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of
the increase in tax losses of HK$699.9 million during the year (decrease
of HK$116.7 million in 2015). Had the effects of the abovementioned tax
over-provision, the results of associates and joint ventures, the exchange
loss as well as the unrecognized tax losses been excluded, the effective tax
rate of the Group for 2016 would be 27.0% (27.1% in 2015).

Net margin

Net margin of the Group for 2016 was 4.9%, which was 1.4 percentage
points higher than that of 3.5% for 2015.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:

R+=A=+—H
—x"E ZZT—RF
T T
As at 31 December
2016 2015
000 ‘000
BIT HK$ 361,708 458,077
AR RMB 2,462,929 1,273,768
e us$ 9,976 128

EHKRIERER AR
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As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
HK$5,200.0 million, RMB11,500.0 million and US$180.0 million, of
which HK$900.0 million, RMB6,200.0 million and US$100.0 million were
unutilized and remained available for drawdown and the total bank loans
of the Group amounting to HK$10,845.4 million equivalent (HK$15,824.4
million as at 31 December 2015) comprised loans in the following
currencies:
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The bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December
2015 were unsecured.

As at 31 December 2016, bank loans of the Group which carried
interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to HK$5,030.7 million and
HK$5,814.7 million respectively (HK$5,848.8 million and HK$9,975.6
million respectively as at 31 December 2015).

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had outstanding bonds in
the amount of US$400.0 million due in October 2017. The bonds are
unsecured and payments of principal and interest in respect of the bonds
are supported by an irrevocable standby letter of credit issued by DBS
Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch.

During the year, the Company submitted an application to the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors of PRC for the
purpose of issuance of medium-term notes in an aggregate amount of
not more than RMB9.0 billion and commercial paper in an aggregate
amount of not more than RMB9.0 billion (which was revised to RMB4.5
billion on 27 July 2016) in PRC. On 5 September 2016, the Company has
completed the issuance of the first tranche of the medium-term notes in
the amount of RMB3.0 billion at the coupon rate of 3.5% per annum for
a term of five years and the first tranche of the commercial paper in the
amount of RMB500.0 million at the coupon rate of 2.96% per annum for
a term of 365 days. The proceeds have been applied to repay bank loans
and increase working capital, being the intended use as disclosed in the
relevant prospectuses. These medium-term notes and commercial paper
are unsecured and remained outstanding at 31 December 2016.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$3,843.5 million equivalent which will expire from June 2017 to
February 2018, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than 51% of the
voting share capital in the Company. Under the terms of the aforesaid
outstanding bonds and certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$6,995.3 million equivalent with expiry dates from August 2018 to May
2019, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than 35% of the issued
share capital in the Company. Under the terms of certain agreements for
total banking facilities of HK$9,951.1 million equivalent, the net gearing
ratio of the Company (as may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible
assets) shall not exceed 180%. The net gearing ratio of the Group as
at 31 December 2016, calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was 56.4% (63.8% as at 31
December 2015).

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group’s exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and debts which were denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances and
debts were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure
and will consider taking appropriate measures to control the risk arising
from significant exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging
significant currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest costs be
considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses. The Group was
not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015.

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$5,743.0 million as at 31
December 2016. Taking into account the cash and bank balances, the
unutilized banking facilities, the unissued registered amount of medium-
term notes and commercial paper, the expected future internally
generated funds and the new banking facilities to be obtained, the Board
is confident that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations
when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, there was no pledge of
assets by the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has issued guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB1,714.7 million
(RMB546.5 million as at 31 December 2015) granted to associates, of
which RMB1,655.2 million (RMB530.5 million as at 31 December 2015)
had been utilized.

FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

New construction projects

During the year, the Company had approved the following new projects
under construction:

(1) One set of 300 ton per day urban waste co-processing equipment
at our cement production plant in Midu County, Yunnan; and

2) One set of 500 ton per day urban waste co-processing equipment
at our cement production plant in Tianyang County, Guangxi.
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As at 31 December 2016, the Group has outstanding capital expenditure
for production plants under construction during the year in the amount of
HK$3,650.9 million. Details of these production plants are as below:

44

R-E-E% RZB-XRE
BHEEMN +ZA=t-H AFER t-A=t-H
BRLH#E ENRE ERRE  HHEALH
BEBT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
HH Projects for the project 31/12/2015 the year 31/12/2016
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
HERUNBRIFEMNEESR  Construction of production lines in Fengkal
(R EEEESR3100000  County, Guangdong, with total annual
W) capacity of 3.1 million tons of clinker 28755 1,745.1 246.7 883.7
ARMUAEMNZIETREES  Construction of production lines in Anshun City,
UKERZM B BEEED R Guizhou, with total annual capacities of 2.0
/2,000,000 2 1,400,0000 ) million tons of cement and 1.4 million tons of
clinker 14195 3123 193 1,0879
HRMUNBAAEZNEESR  Construction of production lines in Hepu
OKERZR B BEEED R County, Guangxi, with total annual capacities
/£2,000,0008 2 1,600,0008 ) of 2.0 million tons of cement and 1.6 million
tons of clinker 12283 3639 3945 469.9
ARUNBEREITNEES  Construction of production lines in Lianjiang
KRRAMBBEEED City, Guangdong, with total annual capacities
/23,000,00002 2 1,900,00012)  of 3.0 million tons of cement and 1.9 million
tons of clinker 1,7759 908.8 2019 665.2
ERMNBEAEREIOEEEE  Construction of one set of 300 ton per day
WH—ZEBRES00MMMT  urban waste co-processing equipment at our
NRHREERE cement production plant in Binyang County,
Guangxi 1469 787 36.2 320
HRUREERESKEEEE  Construction of one set of 300 ton per day
E—EHEEE300M AT urban waste co-processing equipment at our
B3R 9h R e B U cement production plant in Midu County,
Yunnan 1342 - - 1342
EHEUNEABESZIEEEE  Construction of one set of 500 ton per day
R —EBRESS00MFMT  urban waste co-processing equipment at our
N BREERE cement production plant in Tianyang County,
Guangxi 1426 - - 1426
HE R LRI Construction of six concrete batching plants
CRBIMEFERA3600000  with total annual capacity of 3.6 million m?
UHK) of concrete 251.0 155 01 2354
st Total 79739 34243 898.7 3,650.9
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Payment of capital expenditure

In addition to the capital expenditure on the production plants under
construction, the Group had outstanding payment for the construction of
production plants completed in the previous years, which have already
been included under other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2016. Total payments for capital
expenditure of the Group are expected to be approximately HK$2,301.1
million and HK$2,208.2 million in the years 2017 and 2018 respectively,
which will be financed by borrowings and internally generated funds.

JI Youhong
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 10 March 2017
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS

Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 56, has been an executive Director since
March 2003, was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from
August 2008 to October 2011 and has been appointed the Chairman
of the Board since October 2011. He is the Chairman of the Executive
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr.
ZHOU obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the Jilin Finance
and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He joined China Resources Group
in 1984 and has over 30 years’ experience in international trade and
corporate management. He is the Vice Chairman of the China Building
Materials Federation, the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association,
the Vice President of the eighth Session Council of the China Concrete
and Cement Products Association and the President of China Cement Net
Council.

Mr. JI Youhong, aged 52, has been appointed an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since September 2016. He
is a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. He joined the
Group in October 2003 and had served various managerial positions
of the Company including the general manager of various cement and
concrete subsidiaries, the Marketing Controller from November 2008
to December 2012 and the Regional General Manager (Guangxi) from
April 2012 to September 2016. He currently serves as the director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Jl is a senior engineer of building
materials accredited by the Private Enterprise Senior Engineer Panel of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. He graduated from the Nanjing
Industrial College (currently known as Southeast University), China with
a bachelor's degree in engineering in 1985 and a master's degree in
inorganic and non-metallic materials in 1988. He has over 28 years of
experience in construction materials engineering and marketing. He is
currently the Chairman of the Guangxi Cement Association.
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Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, aged 60, joined the Company in May 2003
as the Chief Financial Officer and has been an executive Director since
April 2008. He is a member of the Executive Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. He
has been appointed as a director of Hong Kong Construction Materials
Association Limited since April 2016. Mr. LAU obtained a bachelor’s
degree in social sciences from the University of Hong Kong in 1979 and
has over 30 years' experience in reorganization, assurance and advisory
services with international accounting firms and in serving as financial
controllers and chief financial officers of listed companies. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (formerly the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants).

Mr. DU Wenmin, aged 53, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2008. He is a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources
Group in 1985 and is currently the Deputy General Manager of CR
Holdings. He has been a non-executive director of China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited (both listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange) since August 2007 and March
2008, respectively. He was a non-executive director of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
from September 2007 to April 2016, a non-executive director of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange) from July 2010 to April 2016, a director of
China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from June 2011 to December 2015, a
director of China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) from May 2012 to December 2015
and the Chief Human Resources Officer of CR Holdings from October
2009 to October 2016. Mr. DU obtained a master's degree in business
administration from the University of San Francisco, USA in 1993.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Mr. WEI Bin, aged 47, was appointed a non-executive Director in August
2008. He is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. He joined
China Resources Group in 2001 and is the Chief Financial Officer of CR
Holdings. He has been a non-executive director of three listed companies
on the main board of the Stock Exchange, namely, China Resources Gas
Group Limited, China Resources Land Limited, and China Vanke Co., Ltd.
(also listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) since November 2008,
October 2010 and March 2013 respectively. He was a director of Shan
Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
from September 2011 to May 2016, a director of China Resources
Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange) from June 2011 to December 2015, a director of China
Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange) from May 2012 to December 2015, a non-executive
director of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange) from July 2010 to April 2016,
a non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited, listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from November 2010 to April
2016. Mr. WEI holds a bachelor's degree in auditing from Zhongnan
University of Economics in China and a master's degree in finance from
Jinan University in China. He is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor
in PRC. He is also a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. CHEN Ying, aged 46, was appointed a non-executive Director in
May 2012. He joined China Resources Group in 1993 and is currently
the Chief Strategy Officer of CR Holdings and the General Manager of its
Strategy Management Department. He has been a non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited (all listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange) since June 2012. He is also a director
of China Vanke Co., Ltd. (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
and Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Mr. CHEN was a non-executive director
of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources Enterprise, Limited, listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange) from May 2012 to April 2016, a director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from June 2012 to December 2015 and a
director of China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) from May 2012 to December 2015. Mr.
CHEN obtained a bachelor's degree of architectural management from
the Tsinghua University, China, in 1993 and a master’s degree of business
administration from the University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in
2007.
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Mr. WANG Yan, aged 45, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2014. He is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
Mr. WANG joined China Resources National Corporation in July 1994.
Mr. WANG worked for China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company
Limited (currently known as Sinopec (Hong Kong) Petroleum Holding
Company Limited) from 2000 to 2006. Mr. WANG was appointed as
a director of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005. He
was a Deputy General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited from September 2007 to April 2012. He was a Deputy General
Manager of the Internal Audit Department of CR Holdings from April
2012 to January 2016 and was appointed as the General Manager in
February 2016. He was a non-executive director of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
from August 2014 to April 2016. He has been a non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited since August
2014 and has been a non-executive director of China Resources Phoenix
Healthcare Holdings Company Limited (all listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) since November 2016. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the Finance and Accounting Department,
Capital University of Economics and Business, and a master of business
administration degree from the University of South Australia, and is a
qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 65, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. IP graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in 1973. Mr. IP joined
the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was promoted to
the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong
Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007.
Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary
for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in
respect of economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services,
competition and consumer protection. He was also responsible for
labour policies including matters relating to employment services, labour
relations and employees rights. In his capacity as Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport
Authority Board, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong
Kong International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman
of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development Board, Maritime
Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP
retired from the Hong Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received
the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the Hong Kong Government in 2001,
and is an unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of four listed companies on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, namely Synergis Holdings Limited
since September 2008, Lai Sun Development Company Limited since
December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited since May 2011
and Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited since October 2011.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 71, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. SHEK was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in
1995, awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007 and awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star in 2013. Mr. SHEK has been a member of the Legislative
Council for Hong Kong representing the real estate and construction
functional constituency since 2000.

Mr. SHEK acts as an independent non-executive director of numerous
companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, including
Midas International Holdings Limited since August 2001, Paliburg
Holdings Limited since July 2002, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited
since March 2004, Chuang's Consortium International Limited since May
2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004, Regal Portfolio
Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate Investment
Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited (the
manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust) since March 2006,
ITC Corporation Limited since June 2006, Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited since December 2006, Hop Hing Group Holdings
Limited since September 2007, SJM Holdings Limited since October
2007, MTR Corporation Limited since December 2007, Chuang’s China
Investments Limited since April 2008, ITC Properties Group Limited since
September 2010, Lai Fung Holdings Limited since December 2012,
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited since December 2013 and
Goldin Financial Holdings Limited since January 2017. Mr. SHEK was also
an independent non-executive director of Hsin Chong Construction Group
Ltd. from January 2008 to May 2014 and TUS International Limited from
June 2015 to January 2017, companies listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. He was also an independent non-executive director of
Dorsett Hospitality International Limited, which was a listed company on
the main board of the Stock Exchange and the listing of its shares was
withdrawn from 16 October 2015, from September 2010 to March 2016.
Mr. SHEK is a committee member of the fifth Shenzhen Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of PRC, a member
of the Committee on Strategic Development of the Central Policy Unit
of the Government of Hong Kong, a Court member of the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology, a Court and Council Member of
the University of Hong Kong, a Non-Executive Director of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Authority, an Independent Member of the Board
of Governors and Chairman of English Schools Foundation, and a member
of the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption. Mr. SHEK graduated from the University of Sydney,
Australia with a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 72, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. She is a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. She was
also an independent non-executive director of Inner Mongolia Mengxi
Cement Co., Ltd., which is an associate of the Company from May 2009
to May 2015. Madam ZENG was an independent director of Dalian
East New Energy Development Co., Ltd. (listed on the GEM board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from November 2009 to February 2015,
and of Xinjiang Tianshan Cement Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) from December 2011 to October 2014, and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of China Shanshui Cement
Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from
June 2015 and was removed at the Extraordinary General Meeting held
on 1 December 2015. Madam ZENG is a senior engineer at professor
level accredited by the State Economic and Trade Commission and a
registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited by the National
Development and Reform Commission of China. She studied at the Beijing
Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963 to 1968 and started her
career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement Factory as a technician
and director of the laboratory between 1969 and 1983. From 1984 to
March 2001, she worked at the Production Division and the Planning
Division of the State Building Materials Bureau and served as the deputy
director and the director of the various departments and divisions. She
was the Vice President of the China Cement Association from April
2001 to April 2014 and has been appointed as a distinguished expert
since July 2014. She has been the branch officer of China Association
for Engineering Construction Standardization from July 2002 to date.
Madam ZENG is specialized on managing the development and planning
for, and the scientific advancement, policies and laws and regulations,
construction investment as well as setting up the relevant standards
and quotas applicable to the building materials industry. She took the
lead in formulating the relevant building materials industry development
plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-Year Plan, Ninth Five-
Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in setting up a wide spectrum
of construction standards and quotas for the building materials industry,
including the standards of design for a cement factory. In the area of
engineering and construction management, she was awarded with a
number of Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the provincial level.
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Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, aged 48, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He has been a practicing director
of Nelson CPA Limited. He has extensive experience in professional
accountancy in Hong Kong, in particular in advising and speaking on
issues relating to International and Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards in Hong Kong and other Asian cities. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University
in 1992, a master degree of business administration from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 1998 and a master of science
degree in finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001. Mr.
LAM was appointed the non-official non-executive director of the Urban
Renewal Authority of Hong Kong in May 2013, a member of the Financial
Reporting Review Panel of Hong Kong in July 2013 and a member of the
Air Transport Licensing Authority of Hong Kong in August 2013. Mr. LAM
is a practicing fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of several professional bodies in Australia,
the USA and the United Kingdom, including CPA Australia, the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales. He is also a CFA charter holder and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. LAM became
a Council Member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors in
December 2006 and was its President from December 2011 to December
2013. In December 2011, Mr. LAM has also been elected as member of
the Council of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant. Mr.
LAM has also been appointed an independent non-executive director of
Hydoo International Holding Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange since March 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Liang, aged 54, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangdong) of the Company since August 2016. He joined
China Resources Group in 1994 and was responsible for marketing
and promotional activities. He was the Deputy General Manager and a
Regional General Manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China)
Co., Ltd. from February 2002 to December 2012, and the Chief Marketing
Officer of the Company from January 2013 to August 2016. Mr. ZHANG
obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from the Dalian Institute of
Light Industry (currently known as Dalian Polytechnic University), China in
1984. He has over 25 years of experience in corporate management and
marketing.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 49, has been appointed the Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since March 2016. He joined the
Company in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Financial Controller, the Chief Procurement Officer and the
Regional General Manager (Guangdong). Mr. WANG obtained a master's
degree in business administration from the University of South Australia in
2004. He has over 20 years of experience in financial management, raw
materials procurement and business operations.

Mr. LIU Jianwei, aged 54, has been appointed the General Manager
of International Department of the Company since August 2016. He
joined China Resources Group in 2002 and was responsible for human
resources management. He was the Chief Human Resources Officer
of the Company from April 2012 to January 2014, and the Regional
General Manager (Guangdong) from January 2014 to August 2016. Mr.
LIU obtained a master's degree in management science and engineering
from the China University of Mining and Technology in 1998. He has over
30 years of experience in building materials, corporate management and
human resources.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 50, has been appointed the Chief Safety
and Environmental Protection Officer of the Company since January 2014,
responsible for safety management, energy saving and environmental
protection of the Company. He joined the Group in September 2007 and
was the Chief Operating Officer from February 2010 to January 2014.
Mr. ZHANG completed the certificate course in ceramic technology at
the Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1993. He has 30 years of
working experience in the cement industry.

Mr. LIU Guixin, aged 52, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) and the Regional General Manager (Guizhou) of
the Company since September 2016. He joined the Group in January
2002 and had served various managerial positions including the
Regional General Manager (Shanxi) and the Chief Operating Officer. Mr.
LIU obtained a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering (building
materials) from the Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1987. He
has over 25 years of experience in building materials and mechanical
engineering management.
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Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 47, has been appointed the Financial Controller
of the Company since April 2012. He joined the Group in 2003 and had
served various managerial positions. Mr. HUANG obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the Xiamen University, China in 1992. He has
over 15 years of experience in financial management.

Mr. QIU Suhao, aged 56, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Hainan) of the Company since January 2014. He joined
the Company in September 2009 and had served various managerial
positions including the Regional General Manager (Shanxi) and the Chief
Safety and Environmental Protection Officer. Mr. QIU graduated from the
Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1983 with a bachelor's degree
in electrical automation. He has over 30 years of experience in building
materials and project management.

Mr. HE Youdong, aged 54, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Fujian) of the Company since February 2013. He joined the
Group in July 2010 as the Deputy Regional General Manager (Fujian). Mr.
HE obtained a bachelor's degree in mining engineering from the Fuzhou
University, China in 1984. He has over 30 years of experience in the
cement industry.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 51, has been appointed the Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since November 2015.
He joined the Group in April 2000 and had served various managerial
positions including the Regional General Manager (Fujian) and the Chief
Logistics Officer. Mr. ZHENG obtained a master's degree in building
materials in 1993 from the Wuhan University of Technology, China. He has
over 15 years of experience in the cement industry.

Mr. WANG Xiaohu, aged 50, has been appointed the General Manager
of Discipline Supervision Department of the Company since August 2016.
He joined the Group in August 2003 and had served various managerial
positions including the Deputy General Manager of Investor Relations
Department and the Regional General Manager (Shanxi). Mr. WANG
obtained a master's degree in business administration from the Asia
International Open University (Macau) (currently known as City University
of Macau) in 2002. He has over 15 years of experience in corporate
management.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Mr. LI Baojun, aged 48, has been appointed the Chief Strategy Officer
of the Company since January 2014, responsible for the overall strategic
development work. He joined China Resources Group in September 2002
and was the Assistant General Manager of the Strategic Development
Department of China Resources Group. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor’s
degree in power system and automation engineering from the Tianjin
University, China in 1990, a master’s degree in industrial engineering from
the Hebei University of Technology, China in 2003 and a master’s degree
in business administration from the China Europe International Business
School, China in 2012. He has over 10 years of experience in corporate
management and strategic development.

Mr. LI Chuanji, aged 47, has been appointed the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since March 2016. He
joined the Company in August 2003 and had served various managerial
positions including the Chief Logistics Officer and the Deputy General
Manager of the Marketing Department. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor’s
degree in accounting in 1992 from the Shanghai University of Finance
and Economics, China and a master’s degree in business administration
in 2013 from the Hong Kong Baptist University. He is an Accountant and
also a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has 20 years of
experience in corporate management and financial management.

Mr. CAl Xiang, aged 50, has been appointed the Chief Procurement
Officer of the Company since August 2016. He joined the Company in
January 2003 and had served various managerial positions including the
Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong) and the Regional General
Manager (Guizhou). Mr. CAl obtained a bachelor's degree in business
administration in 2008 from the Wuhan University of Technology, China.
He has over 25 years of experience in the cement industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 49, has been appointed the Chief Marketing Officer of
the Company since August 2016. He joined the Company in September
2001 and had served various managerial positions including the Deputy
General Manager of the Marketing Department, the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Hainan) and the Chief Procurement Officer. Mr.
LI obtained a bachelor's degree in economic management from the
Shandong Cadres Correspondence University, China in 1999 and a
master’s degree in business administration from the Queen’s University of
Brighton, USA in 2009. He has over 10 years of experience in the cement
and concrete industry.
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Mr. WANG Yue, aged 40, has been appointed the Chief Audit Officer of
the Company since January 2014. He joined the Company in October
2012 as the General Manager of the Internal Audit Department,
responsible for the internal audit and risk management functions of the
Company. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from
the Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (currently known as
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law), China in 1998. He has over
15 years of experience in auditing, risk and internal control.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 116.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.075 per
share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$0.02 per
share). Such final dividend will not be subject to any withholding tax in
Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.015 per share in cash
for 2016 (2015: HK$0.06 per share) and total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2016 will be HK$0.09 per share (2015: HK$0.08
per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
8 May 2017 to Friday, 12 May 2017, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 12 May 2017, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 5 May 2017 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.
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Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
Wednesday, 31 May 2017 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company after the close of
business of the Company at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 18 May 2017 and
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Thursday, 18
May 2017, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates shall
be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 17 May 2017 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year, the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, the material factors underlying its results and financial
position, and the future development of the Company's business have
been set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the Report from Chief
Executive Officer of this annual report.

In addition, general information regarding the Group's performance
on environmental and social-related policies, as well as compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group and an account of the Company’s relationships with its key
stakeholders are discussed throughout this annual report including in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Report from Chief Executive Officer. Further
details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report 2016 to be published within three months from the
date of this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment properties of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized and issued share capital
of the Company during the year. Details of the authorized and issued
share capital of the Company for the year are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES

Details of the commercial paper, unsecured bond and medium-term notes
of the Company for the year are set out in Notes 32, 33 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of raw materials and finished goods in the total amount of approximately
HK$6,094,000 (2015: HK$3,819,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman lIslands, there are currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of the
Company'’s shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and
there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.
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RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$3,936.4
million (2015: HK$4,148.2 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

/HOU Longshan

JI Youhong (appointed with effect from 22 September 2016)
LAU Chung Kwok Robert

PAN Yonghong (resigned with effect from 22 September 2016)

Non-executive Directors

DU Wenmin
WEI Bin
CHEN Ying
WANG Yan

Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen

SHEK Lai Him Abraham

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

XU Yongmo (resigned with effect from 31 December 2016)

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. JI Youhong shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, Mr. WANG Yan
and Madam ZENG Xuemin shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

All Directors are entitled to fees approved by the Board by reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The executive Directors are entitled to
salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and awards under the Scheme
determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s performance, the
prevailing market condition and recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are stated in Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its parent company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected
entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 or nominees to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Directors, chief executive of the Company
or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
as follows:

(a Z&2AF (@  The Company
R R A ER
IR H 1 B A B
HE BT
EEnR &4 FERGEE ROOLH ()
(%)
Aggregate long
position in Shares
and underlying
Number of Shares to issued
Name of Director Capacity Shares held Shares (riote)
(%)
B [IREp s 1,000,000 0.02
ZHOU Longshan Interest of spouse
WRAL EREAA 60,000 0.01
JI Youhong Beneficial owner
BRIE BEmEAA 230,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner

it BREARRNR-_E-—RF+-A=+—H
B #17196,532,937 817A% =1 5 »

note: Based on 6,532,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2016.
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(b) EHEE (ER)EMRAT (KXAFTH (b))  China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an

HEEE) associated corporation of the Company
R 45 &
BR13 Y iF B A B
IR EEE
(ZR)
BRAGE#T
EEnE 514 FREROEBE ROBLH ()
(%)
Aggregate long
position in shares
and underlying
shares to issued
shares of China
Resources Beer
(Holdings)
Number of  Company Limited
Name of Director Capacity shares held (note)
(%)
MR EnfEAA 100,000 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
TE EmEEA 167,999 0.01
WANG Yan Beneficial owner
it REEMERE () ARAFN=ZZE—X note: Based on 3,244,176,905 shares of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
F+= A=+—HBET)3,244,176905 Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2016.
AEHE -
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an

BEE) associated corporation of the Company

R4 KA

gl oh gy

HEBELER

BRARERT

EEgR &4 FrERGOEE  REHOLE (7)

(%)

Aggregate long

position in shares

and underlying

shares to issued

shares of China

Resources Power

Number of Holdings Company

Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (rofe)

(%)

215 EnEAA 6,600 0.01
LAU Chung Kwok Robert Beneficial owner

YR BERERA 480,240 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner

TE EnfAA 44,000 0.01
WANG Yan Beneficial owner

it RIBZEBHENZERER AR —AF note: Based on 4,807,662,800 shares of China Resources Power Holdings

+ = A=+—BE#7%{14,.807,662,8008%

s

Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2016.
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(d Z=EEHERAT(XKLOFTHMEBEE (d  China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of the

) Company
RIRH R
HE R AR 17 /Y
HRBEHG
EHEM
BRABRE#T
EEnE 514 FREROEBE ROBLH ()
(%)
Aggregate long
position in shares
and underlying
shares to issued
shares of China
Number of Resources Land
Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (rofe)
(%)
HXE EmBEEA 640,000 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
PRIE EmHEAA 500,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner
it BIEEEE AR AR T —F+=A note: ~ Based on 6,930,939,579 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
=+—H 2 377A%196,930,939,579/% & - as at 31 December 2016.
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(&) EHEMREREMRAT (XRDTHMWAE  (e)  China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated corporation

BEE) of the Company
R4 KA
gl oh gy
EEBRRIZER
BRAGE#T
EEgR &4 FrERGOEE  REHOLE (7)
(%)
Aggregate long
position in shares
and underlying
shares to issued
shares of China
Resources Gas
Number of Group Limited
Name of Director Capacity shares held (note)
(%)
JEBELL EnEAA 6,000 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Beneficial owner
YR BERERA 54,000 0.01
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
it REEBRRIERAERARRZE—RF note: Based on 2,224,012,871 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in

T A=+T—BEE{TR7H2224,012,8718%
5

issue as at 31 December 2016.
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Name of Director Capacity

(f) China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

R 45 &
BR13 Y iF B A B
HEHEBEE
BRAGE#T

IR B Ee Bl (7))
(%)

Aggregate long
position in shares
and underlying
shares to issued
shares of China
Resources
Pharmaceutical
Group Limited
(note)

(%)

R 8 E

Number of
shares held

TE
WANG Yan

fo Bt

it REZFHEEKSEEFRATAN_F—RF
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

2,000 0.01

Interest of spouse

note: Based on 6,284,506,461 shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited in issue as at 31 December 2016.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, so far as is known
to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code
or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded
in the register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executive (including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had,
as at 31 December 2016, any interest in, or had been granted any right to
subscribe for the securities and options of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such
rights.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors’
and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the executive Directors, senior vice presidents, vice
presidents and assistant presidents of the Company as members of the
senior management team.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, total remunerations paid to
members of the senior management team who are not executive Directors
and Mr. JI Youhong who has only been appointed a Director during the
year are as follows:

it AL —E—hF
FE&T T
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
e KRR Salaries and allowances 18,593 16,415
B R Performance related bonus 36,832 10,412
SN A5 Pension costs and mandatory provident fund

BEIENTES R contributions 1,705 1,650
RHAEE)ET B Long term award scheme 44,323 _
101,453 28477
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RAER B BN SR EREKRKENEED AR
FHREELSREBEABRE—HAME-

HRKORERBR AT

LATNEE - are not executive Directors are within the following bands:
A
Number of individuals

—E—REF —E—hF

2016 2015

£ 21,000,000 7T Nil - HK$1,000,000 - 2
1,000,001/ 7t £1,500,000/%8 7t HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1 11
1,500,001/ 7 £2,000,000/8 7  HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 - 6
2,000,001 7C 2,500,000 7c  HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 1 1
3,000,001/ 7t £3,500,000%8 7 HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 1 -
3,500,001/ 7 £4,000,000%8 7 HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 1 -
4,000,001/ 74,500,000 7 HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 2 -
4,500,001/ 7t 25,000,000 7C  HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 1 -
5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7 HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 3 -
5,500,001/ 7T 26,000,000/ 7C  HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 4 -
6,000,001 7c 26,500,000 7t HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,500,000 3 -
6,500,001 7t 27,000,000 7t HK$6,500,001 — HK$7,000,000 2 -
7,500,001 7T 28,000,000/ 7 HK$7,500,001 — HK$8,000,000 1 -

The biographies of members of the senior management team at the date
of this annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details of

Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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RZZ—R"EFE+ZA=1+—H8 RESHME T
PIAL (WIFEESARREBITRAL ) HEA
SRR AR AR IR B A K BB 6B E336IKF B
B ECME AR R BIHIRR () RABRARR (7 e za SOk
- UNNE

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

BEEZALERE "R/ KR ROHBE BRESANEILE

(%)

Approximate

Name of interested parties Long position/Short position Number of Shares shareholding

(%)

FEEBBE AT () FE 4,792,189,749 73.35
China Resources National Corporation Long position

(note)

EHRMDERAR (i2) FE 4,792,189,749 73.35
CRC (note) Long position

CRC Bluesky Limited ( #%) HE 4,792,189,749 73.35
CRC Bluesky Limited (note) Long position

8 (KE8) (i) HE 4,792,189,749 73.35
CR Holdings (note) Long position

FHEE OKR)BRAA (i) "E 4,792,189,749 73.35
CRH (Cement) Limited (note) Long position

it REERANRERIRGBRATEIHE EHITR
AHEZHEAE A 1% % ACRC Bluesky LimitedZ
BRITIRAKEZ B A - CRC Bluesky Limiteds 4
=M (EE)2POHTRANESEA A MEH
(£E) A AERER KR BRARZIBEET
BANEZEEA - EHEE (KR BRAREE
54,792,189, 74908 B 15 - (A AR R R B BT IR AL
7335% °

b EXFTHESN BEFAA R B At
B=+—A - BHE AR R E S R
DIV ER3D BRIREAMAR AR R
PR BRAR A AR E S R 01
33651 E B ME AR TR RARRR
BRI R -

note: China Resources National Corporation is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CRC, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share
capital of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire
issued share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the
entire issued share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited. CRH (Cement) Limited directly
held 4,792,189,749 Shares representing approximately 73.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2016, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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FERERS CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
BIE FHRBINES 58 PSRRI 44T H
EMETHEARSITBNFEREBET S
o RN EETHE AR HEEEHEITH
BRAZSHF BRI T

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
continuing connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules.
Details of such transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the
Company with connected parties during the year are summarized below:

EHRAIRAART
x| WEE LR
FHET FAT
Annual cap
permitted under
Amount  the Listing Rules
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEBEHN(BE)BRAA Purchase of electricity from China
BEEN (:71) Resources Power (Haifeng) Co., Ltd.
(note 1) 155,010 155,010
BEMEBE N (D) AR Purchase of electricity from Yunnan China
NRIBEE N (i2) Resources Power (Honghe) Co., Ltd.
(note 2) 9,805 10,112
BEMEBREN (D) AR Purchase of electricity from Yunnan China
NAIBEEY (13) Resources Power (Honghe) Co., Ltd.
(note 3) 13,517 13,792
BERMR () BRABIR  Purchase of garments and shoes from
f AR Bt (i74) China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited (note 4) 20,105 40,931
$%)\5’<‘§E?F§H§Tﬁﬁﬁg’&ﬁ B Maximum daily aggregate amount of
Mﬁ%’_&ﬁj%f;&ﬁ ﬁfgﬁéﬁﬁ deposits with China Resources Bank of
';EL; MFRER SRR Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of CRC
ot (note 5) 621,799 765,989
72 EHKRIERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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ZEREERERENKE (HMH)BRAF
BT R IE A RB00097T, /TR TY
B H BN 55 = T (B R AR T RO IR AR

=z
o

o

BERERED (A1) ARARBEE
A

RZTB—XFEtLtA+REB AARKNEB
NEIFEEKE (BBE) AR AR EARE
BEMRZEMEARZEEREE N (L)
BRAFMEBEMERARBEE S
54,500,000F B R ET 2 7 HAIRR B =
E-RNFENA—HE2ZZ—XRF+=A
=+ —HiE - FERBIEAR L REEEE
B BRABIREMBIE=F
HEFHRER  ERKE (BE)ERA
RS RIEKENEEBTIREEEERHSE
71 (A0 BIRAR] - &1 A5 8 BhEE oK
B (BE)ERATAANE -ABMART
N ERESE HHIE - EmA R ER
EEREERA -

notes:

Purchase of electricity from China Resources Power (Haifeng)
Co. Ltd.

On 1 January 2016, China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with
China Resources Power (Haifeng) Company Limited, a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, for the purchase of 25,000,000 kwh of
electricity per month through Guangdong Power Grid Company
for the term from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016. The
agreement will enable China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited
to secure electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and competitive
price which is lower than the normal on-grid tariffs, which in
turn reduces its operating costs. The price charged representing
a discount rate of RMB0.009/kwh offered by China Resources
Power (Haifeng) Company Limited was in line with that offered by
other independent third-party power suppliers.

Purchase of electricity from Yunnan China Resources Power
(Honghe) Co. Ltd.

On 15 July 2016, China Resources Cement (Heging) Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with
Yunnan China Resources Power (Honghe) Co. Ltd., a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, for the purchase of 54,500,000 kwh
of electricity through Yunnan Electric Power Company during
the period from 1 August 2016 to 31 December 2016. China
Resources Cement (Heqing) Limited had procured the lowest
unit price of electricity from Yunnan China Resources Power
(Honghe) Co. Lid. through tender and comparison of fee quotes
from Yunnan China Resources Power (Honghe) Co. Ltd. and
other independent third-party power suppliers. The agreement
will enable China Resources Cement (Heging) Limited to secure
electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and competitive price which
in turn reduces its operating costs.

B NEER
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Purchase of electricity from Yunnan China Resources Power
(Honghe) Co. Ltd.

On 15 July 2016, China Resources Cement (Midu) Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with
Yunnan China Resources Power (Honghe) Co. Ltd. for the
purchase of 75,000,000 kwh of electricity through Yunnan
Electric Power Company during the period from 1 August 2016
to 31 December 2016. China Resources Cement (Midu) Limited
had procured the lowest unit price of electricity from Yunnan
China Resources Power (Honghe) Co. Ltd. through tender and
comparison of fee quotes from Yunnan China Resources Power
(Honghe) Co. Ltd. and other independent third-party power
suppliers. The agreement will enable China Resources Cement
(Midu) Limited to secure electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and
competitive price which in turn reduces its operating costs.

Purchase of garments and shoes from China Resources Fashion
(Holdings) Company Limited and its subsidiaries

On 30 December 2015, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited, a
fellow subsidiary of the Group, for the supply of garments and
shoes by China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited
and its subsidiaries to the Group for a term of three years from 1
January 2016 to 31 December 2018 in order to enable the Group
to have a greater flexibility in the choice of garments and shoes,
and to support the development within the China Resources
Group on normal commercial terms and on a scale which will not
place the Group'’s resources at risk or affect its relationship with
other independent third-party suppliers. Under the agreement,
the prices of garment and shoe products will be determined after
arm’s length negotiation with reference to the prevailing market
prices of similar garments and shoes. Such prices and terms shall
be no less favourable than those available from other independent
third-party suppliers.
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Deposit services and financial products of China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 30 December 2015, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
shall provide deposit services and financial products such as letter
of credit, bill of exchange and assignment of receivables to the
Group. The term of the strategic cooperation agreement was two
years from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017. The strategic
cooperation agreement would enable the Group to use the deposit
and other financial products of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd., to provide greater flexibility in cash management for
generation of better return, and to support their development
within the China Resources Group on normal commercial terms
and on a scale which will not place the Group’s resources at risk
or affect its relationship with other financial institutions. As CRC
holds more than 50% of the registered capital of China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 December 2015. As at 31
December 2016, the Group had aggregate balance of deposits of
RMB473,036,000 (equivalent to HK$528,821,000) with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. During the year ended 31
December 2016, the Group did not use any financial product
provided by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Financial products provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd.

On 30 December 2015, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
shall provide financial products to the Group. The term of the
strategic cooperation agreement was two years from 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2017. The strategic cooperation agreement
would enable the Group to use the financial services and products
of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. and to provide greater
flexibility in cash management for generation of better return,
and to support their development within the China Resources
Group on normal commercial terms and on a scale which will
not place the Group's resources at risk or affect its relationship
with other financial institutions. As CRC holds more than 50% of
the registered capital of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.,
China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. During the year ended
31 December 2016, the Group did not use any financial product
provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.

Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRC

On 25 November 2013, the Company entered into an agreement
with CR Holdings for loan facilities denominated in HK$, RMB and
US$. On the same day, the Company entered into an agreement
with CRC for loan facilities denominated in RMB. The above
agreements will provide the Company with greater flexibility in the
management of its surplus cash resources by enabling it to lend a
portion of its surplus cash resources and those of its subsidiaries
to other subsidiary companies in the groups of CR Holdings and
CRC, to generate a return better than the bank deposit rates on its
temporary surplus cash. The terms of the above two agreements
are three years ended 31 December 2016. Details of the above
transactions are as disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 25 November 2013. During the year ended 31 December
2016, no lending was made and as at 31 December 2016, there
was no outstanding loan or any interest due to the Company under
these two Master Lending Agreements.



ES[/WE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

B ETESE BN DR ARER S R

HERHTY:

@ BRAEENAEESE:

() IR R T § R

©  RESEXSOGRIGET TR
RATAR WHARDFRRHLER

RIREBEN T BU KRBT ED « HERS

BEHIHTE R U E B R R R

FAFESRAER RS

@  REEEBIE:

b  EREATEEARBAEENEBRE
#ET:

© EREANEIEREEHZSOHE
TR

d) EBEEAAEKENLR-

AREERECDRIE LHRABAR B TRE
FRTE °

TEEFRHER

RAEE  AEEHNAREFHHEEREGARE
B $HE A D TR30%

RAFE  AEENRIAHEERBAREGAR
SERERELDIR30% °

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above

continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions

have been entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, Deloitte Touche Tohmastu, our independent

auditor, has confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that nothing has

come to its attention that causes it to believe that the above transactions:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the caps disclosed in previous announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group'’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September 2009.
The share award scheme does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company. The purpose of the share award scheme is to recognize
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding any
Director, towards the development of our Group in the past or as incentives
to selected grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our Group and
to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable growth and
development of our Group. The share award scheme is effective for a term
of 10 years until 2 September 2019 unless terminated at the discretion of
the Board at an earlier date.

Pursuant to the share award scheme, a trust has been set up and BOCI-
Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. The trustee
may purchase Shares from the public market out of cash contributed
by the Company from time to time. The aggregate number of Shares
purchased under the share award scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all
issued shares of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares which
may be awarded to a selected grantee under the share award scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Shares
purchased under the share award scheme will be held in trust for the
eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance with the
provisions of the rules relating to the share award scheme. There were
160,000,000 Shares acquired under the share award scheme at the cost
of HK$3.9 per share, which was funded by the Company, in October
2009.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the share
award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and such that
payments under the Scheme will be made in form of cash rather than
Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company can utilize the proceeds
generated from the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the
trustee for awards to be made under the Scheme. Grantees do not have
any right to the Shares.
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In 2016, 55,316,000 Shares were disposed of (2015: nil) realizing net
proceeds of approximately HK$166,756,000 (2015: nil) and total cash
payments of approximately HK$166,199,000 (2015: nil) were vested
upon 288 eligible employees (2015: nil). As at 31 December 2016,
the trustee held 35,176,000 (2015: 90,492,000) Shares, representing
approximately 0.538% (2015: 1.385%) of the issued Shares, and cash of
HK$65,920,000 (2015: HK$63,294,000) on trust under the Scheme.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 81 to 107 of
this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company'’s issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 220.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent

auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and maintaining
the highest standards of corporate governance and have adopted the
principles of the CG Code in the construction of our corporate governance
code. The Board believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding interests
of our shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasize on
the quality of the Board, effective risk management and internal control,
stringent disclosure practices, and transparency and accountability to all
stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the
deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

In respect of code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-executive
Directors were not appointed for a specific term. Since all Directors are
subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company at annual general
meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation basis
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, there are
sufficient measures to ensure the corporate governance of the Company
complies with the same level to that required under the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions during 2016.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

THE BOARD

Composition

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives and
overseeing the management of the business of the Company. The
Directors are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and
making decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provide clear directions regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sections below. Resolutions
passed by the respective board committees will be subsequently reviewed
and ratified by the Board.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to ensure the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make independent
judgments effectively. The operation and management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Company’s business should be clearly
divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated on any one individual.
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In 2016, the following changes to the Board and committees of the
Company took place. With effect from 11 March 2016, (1) Mr. DU
Wenmin has been appointed a member of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company; (2) Mr.
WEI Bin and Mr. WANG Yan have been appointed members of the Audit
Committee of the Company; and (3) Mr. XU Yongmo was appointed a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. With effect
from 22 September 2016, (1) Mr. PAN Yonghong resigned from the
positions of an executive Director, a member of the Executive Committee
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; and (2) Mr. JI Youhong
has been appointed an executive Director, a member of the Executive
Committee and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in place of Mr.
PAN Yonghong. With effect from 31 December 2016, (1) Mr. XU Yongmo
resigned from the positions of an independent non-executive Director,
a member of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company; and (2) Madam ZENG Xuemin has been
appointed a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
in place of Mr. XU Yongmo. The Nomination Committee considered
that Mr. XU Yongmo's resignation would not cause material obstruction
to the Company’s businesses and the Company would remain to be in
proper compliance with the CG Code in respect of the structure, size
and composition of the Board. In light of these, the Board decides that
there is no urgent need to fill the vacancy and it shall appoint appropriate
person(s) to the Board and relevant committees if it considers necessary
and beneficial to the Company. As at 31 December 2016, the Board
comprised eleven Directors, including three executive Directors, namely,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan (Chairman), Mr. JI Youhong (Chief Executive Officer)
and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert (Chief Financial Officer); four non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. DU Wenmin, Mr. WEI Bin, Mr. CHEN
Ying and Mr. WANG Yan; and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham,
Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson. The number of
independent non-executive Directors represents more than one third of
the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout
the year ended 31 December 2016. A description of the Directors is
set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Section on pages 46 to 53 and on the Company’s website.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors have entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company and they are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election
of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are
proposed and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee as
more fully explained below under the section on Nomination Committee.
Any Director(s) so appointed shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting in accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with
a comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior
management. The package includes a copy of “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Continuing
education and information are provided to the Directors regularly to ensure
that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
businesses.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminar and reading materials.

From time to time, the Board will arrange visits for a deeper understanding
of the Group’s business operations and matters which could have
significant effect or impact on the Group’s business. In October 2016,
two independent non-executive Directors, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, accompanied by three executive Directors, Mr.
ZHOU Longshan, Mr. JI Youhong and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, had
a four-day site visit in Guangxi. During the visit, the Directors obtained an
understanding of the Group’s co-processing projects and future strategies
of green development.
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the year are as follows:

BESERRER
Types of continuous professional development

FIEAEERELU

B E B THRASEH

EEEMAS wEEEEE

BEAXRARR RARZE

HEBHWES BRERM

Visit to Guangxi

to obtain an

Reading understanding

regulatory of the Group’s

updates or co-processing

information projects and

relevant future strategies

to the Company of green

or its business development

S ZHOU Longshan v v/

EXKEL (RZE—RF PAN Yonghong (resigned with effect from 22 v/ =
NAZ+ZHEHE) September 2016)

LR (RZZ—RF JI Youhong (appointed with effect from 22 v v/
HNWAZ+-—BEZE) September 2016)

2| 2B LAU Chung Kwok Robert v v/

HXR DU Wenmin v -

B WEI Bin v =

PRE CHEN Ying v -

TE WANG Yan v/ -

E IP Shu Kwan Stephen v -

At GH SHEK Lai Him Abraham v =

fRoKiE (RZE—RF XU Yongmo (resigned with effect from 31 v =
+ZA=t+—B#&%) December 2016)

TEH ZENG Xuemin v v

MER LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v v/
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Independence

For a Director to be considered independent, the Nomination Committee
and the Board must be satisfied that the Director does not and will
not have any direct or indirect material relationship with the Group. In
determining the independence of Directors, the Nomination Committee
and the Board follow the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and
consider all of the independent non-executive Directors as independent.
In addition, the Company has received annual written confirmation
of independence from all the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. None of the Directors has
or maintained any financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with any of the other Directors.

Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a year.
Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the Group
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities
and development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors shall have
full access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice at all times whenever considered necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least fourteen days in advance
and an agenda together with supporting papers no less than three days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much
advance notice as reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association
of the Company, a Director who has a material interest in any contract,
transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolution
and such Director shall not be counted for quorum determination
purposes.
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During 2016, eleven meetings (including five meetings by way of
circulation of written resolutions) were held by the Board. The attendances
at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT EERER
BERE RE &5t
Meetings Written
Attended/Held Resolutions Total
BITES Executive Directors
JEEELL /HOU Longshan 6/6 5/5 11/11
KA (RZE—RF PAN Yonghong (resigned with effect 4/5 2/2 6/7
NAZ+=HET) from 22 September 2016)
WRA (MZZ—7"%F  JI Youhong (appointed with effect from 11 3/3 4/4
NEZ+—RRZEE) 22 September 2016)
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 6/6 5/5 11/11
FHITES Non-executive Directors
HXR DU Wenmin 0/6 5/5 5/11
B WEI Bin 0/6 5/5 5/11
PR & CHEN Ying 0/6 5/5 5/11
TE WANG Yan 2/6 5/5 7/11
BIFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 6/6 5/5 11/11
At H SHEK Lai Him Abraham 6/6 5/5 11/11
Bk (RZZ—7"E XU Yongmo (resigned with effect from 6/6 5/5 11/11
+-—A=+—8B#&MT) 31 December 2016)

B2 ZENG Xuemin 6/6 5/5 11/11
ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 6/6 5/5 11/11
RIZE—RFRITNESRLBAMFRMWEEE  The matters covered in the meetings of the Board held during 2016
F_Z-hFERBREERANIEHEZRE . include the adoption of the 2015 risk management and internal control
PEEATASRTERE BREENDEE  report, the CG Code compliance assessment report, the whistle-blowing

a2 aTEI’]%?W : _f—£¢¢$|§ ZEN
EEPHHat&i TR REE-RE=FEHBR
R F‘Eﬂ#ﬂﬁﬁ?&%%&EEE/\E\SEHE’\J'I%ZE%IM
Kzt BIE THENRR N - R B TR R
BEXNPHRE BERRARAETZEEW
5 AEENATRERZX S RSERER SN
=t

policy as well as the amendments to the corporate governance manual,
the approvals of the 2015 annual report, the 2016 interim report,
the 2016 first and third quarterly financial reports, the payment of
discretionary bonus to executive Directors and senior management as well
as the sixth grant under the Scheme, the issue of commercial paper and
medium-term notes in PRC, changes to the Board and committees of the
Company, discloseable transaction and continuing connected transactions
of the Group.

B NEER
Annual Report 2016

87



83

EREIGHRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERBEBNAC KB

E3:

TEEBEHNBAET D  EEAEMEEAN
NRERREE MR FRAEREBRE 7
ARAMKREREBARRNER -

ZEREE D TNA B IR L M M A -
TRABREREREFTRNBE  URERER
AarEENRENGNEERERFENR
BRI - TETBERBREERERARE
#2 ETEERBEFRARWEMERENE
H(IER) - ERTEFRARMENIF T
ITENFERERESERETNEEREA L
SR e R R AN K By s 1S FE 00 1 2E R BT 2
BRAISEHERM - TETEGRSBESEE T RIE
EFERNEBREEETRABEE - EXRNA
BT EXRTETHO N CEBROBER A
B EERERLER XY ERIVEE G
R AR B BCR S HA D B B RUBE

BE

RYATEEANRENRS AR RIEFR-

SHHE KRN ERES BN NSRBI

KRS ARBAKENAE BSEFRRESR
i

EEREE T

ERRERBR AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman approves and monitors the Company’s strategies and
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance
of the Company, and supervises the management of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to, and overseeing the functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts
in the best interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned
and conducted in an effective manner. The Chairman is also responsible
for setting the agenda for each Board meeting upon considering, where
appropriate, matters proposed by the Directors and the Company
Secretary. With the support of executive Directors and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
informed of issues arising at Board meetings and provided in a timely
manner with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete
and reliable. The Chairman also actively encourages the Directors
to be engaged in the Board’s affairs and contribute to the Board’s
functions. The Board, under the leadership of the Chairman, has
complied with the corporate governance practices and procedures and
has taken appropriate steps to ensure effective communication with
our shareholders and other stakeholders, as outlined in the section on
Relationship with Shareholders below.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses
of the Group, coordinating overall business operations, attending to the
formulation and successful implementation of the Group’s policies and
strategies approved by the Board, and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all the day-to-day operations of the Group.
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The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining the
operational performance of the Group. He also works with the Chief
Financial Officer and the senior management team to present the annual
budgets for the Board’s consideration and approval, and ensures that
the Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to the
funding requirements of the businesses of the Group and that the funding
requirements are met. He closely monitors the operating and financial
results of the businesses against the relevant plans and budgets, and
takes remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly with
the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major
business development and issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009, the
Executive Committee on 13 January 2010, and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 29 February 2012.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee comprises all the executive Directors, namely,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. PAN Yonghong (resigned with effect from
22 September 2016), Mr. JI Youhong (appointed with effect from 22
September 2016) and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Mr.
ZHOU Longshan. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee have
been uploaded to the Company’s website.

The Executive Committee shall monitor the execution of the Company's
strategic plans and the operations of all business units, exercise the
functions and responsibilities of the Board between regular Board
meetings, establish and authorize its committees to deal with daily
business operations or ad-hoc projects, and deal with any other specific
business authorized by the Board.
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During 2016, seventeen meetings were held by the Executive Committee
which covered mostly banking matters including the obtaining of banking
facilities. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

BERE

Meetings

Attended/Held

JERELL ZHOU Longshan 17/17

EAKAL (RZF—RF PAN Yonghong (resigned with effect from 22 September 2016) 15/15

NAZ+ZH&T)

LR (RZT—RE JI Youhong (appointed with effect from 22 September 2016) 2/2
A=+ -—BHEZT)

e LAU Chung Kwok Robert 1717
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The Audit Committee comprises all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham,
Mr. XU Yongmo (resigned with effect from 31 December 2016), Madam
ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, and two non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. WEI Bin (appointed with effect from 11 March
2016) and Mr. WANG Yan (appointed with effect from 11 March 2016),
and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee have been uploaded to the Stock Exchange's
website, the Company’s website and its official website for corporate
communications.

The duties of the Audit Committee shall include but are not limited
to: reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; discussing issues and qualifications arising from
the interim and final audits, and any matters the external auditor may
wish to discuss; monitoring integrity of the Group’s financial statements,
annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and quarterly reports, and
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;
reviewing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems; and ensuring that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group, and
reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness.
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Four meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year to review
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2015, the three months ended 31 March 2016, the six months ended 30
June 2016 and the nine months ended 30 September 2016, the annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2015, the interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2016 and the 2015 risk management and internal
control report. In these meetings, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
continuing connected transactions of the Group, the risk management and
internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function and the independence of the external auditor. The attendances at
these meetings are as follows:

HE BT
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Meetings

Attended/Held

ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 4/4

=gl IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4

PEELE SHEK Lai Him Abraham 4/4

Bk (RZE—REF XU Yongmo (resigned with effect from 31 December 2016) 4/4
TZA=+—H&E)

28 ZENG Xuemin 4/4

R (R —RF WEI Bin (appointed with effect from 11 March 2016) 0/3

=RA+—BEZM)
FERZZE—RF WANG Yan (appointed with effect from 11 March 2016) 1/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham,
Mr. XU Yongmo (appointed with effect from 11 March 2016 and resigned
with effect from 31 December 2016), Madam ZENG Xuemin (appointed
with effect from 31 December 2016) and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung
Kwok Robert, and one non-executive Director, Mr. DU Wenmin (appointed
with effect from 11 March 2016) and is chaired by Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have
been uploaded to the Stock Exchange’'s website, the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications.
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The Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors” and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. It should
also be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (this should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment), and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

During 2016, two meetings (by way of circulation of written resolution)
of the Remuneration Committee were held to make recommendation to
the Board for the proposed adjustment of remunerations and payment of
discretionary bonus to executive Directors and senior management as well
as the sixth grant under the Scheme. The attendances at these meeting
are as follows:

EHREBER
RE
Written
Resolutions
PEELE SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2/2
g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2
BoxE (RZE—RF XU Yongmo (appointed with effect from 11 March 2016 2/2
—A+—BEZEIR and resigned with effect from 31 December 2016)
AZE—RF+=A
=+—HET)
ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 212
= ZHOU Longshan 2/2
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 2/2
HMXR (RZZE—KREF DU Wenmin (appointed with effect from 11 March 2016) 2/2
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham
and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, one executive Director, Mr. ZHOU
Longshan, and one non-executive Director, Mr. DU Wenmin (appointed
with effect from 11 March 2016), and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its
official website for corporate communications.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, knowledge,
regional and industry experience, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining the
optimal composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider all aspects, including but not
limited to those described above, in order to maintain a truly diverse
Board. In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merits against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition of the
Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors, and also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the
effectiveness of the Board.

Measurable objectives: The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly.
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Monitoring and reporting: The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the corporate governance report of the Company, on the process it
has used in relation to Board appointments. Such report will include a
summary of the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and progress made towards
achieving these measurable objectives.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy: The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy annually, which will include an
assessment of the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

During 2016, two meetings (including one meeting by way of circulation
of written resolution) of the Nomination Committee were held to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and make
recommendation to the Board regarding the changes to the Board and
committees of the Company. With due regard for the benefits of diversity
(including but without limitation, the talents, skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members of
the Board), the Nomination Committee considered that Mr. XU Yongmo's
resignation as mentioned above would not cause material obstruction
to the Company’s businesses and the Company would remain to be in
proper compliance with the CG Code in respect of the structure, size
and composition of the Board. The attendances at these meetings are as

follows:

g BT EEHRER
=N KB A&t

Meetings Written
Attended/Held Resolutions Total
=gl IP Shu Kwan Stephen 11 11 2/2
aiEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 11 11 2/2
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson U1 11 212
AL ZHOU Longshan 11 11 2/2
MR (RZZ2—REF DU Wenmin (appointed with effect 0/0 1/1 11
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, and two executive Directors,
namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and
is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen. The terms of reference of the
Corporate Governance Committee have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

The Company realizes the importance of good corporate governance
practice and is endeavored to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements on corporate governance through the development, review
and monitor of the policies and practices of the Company on corporate
governance, the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to
Directors and employees of the Company. The Corporate Governance
Committee shall make recommendations to the Board with regard to any
necessary changes.

During 2016, two meetings of the Corporate Governance Committee were
held to review the training and continuous professional development
records of Directors and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
and to make recommendation to the Board for adoption of the CG Code
compliance assessment report, the whistle-blowing policy as well as the
amendments to the corporate governance manual. The attendances at
these meetings are as follows:

HE S ET

SRR™

Meetings

Attended/Held

B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2

Q18R SHEK Lai Him Abraham 212

ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 212

JERELL ZHOU Longshan 2/2

2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 2/2
—E-NEFR
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ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING

During the year, the Company held one general meeting, namely, the
annual general meeting, at 50th Floor, China Resources Building, 26
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Friday, 13 May 2016. Details
of the matters resolved and the poll results were published on the Stock
Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its official website for
corporate communications after the general meeting on that day.

The attendance of the Directors at this meeting is as follows:

R=ZB—REF
HA+=H
BOINER

Meeting
held on
13 May 2016

BITES

Executive Directors

[Egel ZHOU Longshan v

EKA (RZB—REF
NAZ+ZB&HE)

PAN Yonghong (resigned with effect from 22 September 2016) v

2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert

FHITES Non-executive Directors

MR DU Wenmin

£ py WEI Bin

PR & CHEN Ying

TE WANG Yan

BYFEHTES Independent non-executive Directors

1 b IP Shu Kwan Stephen

A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham

HKE (RZE—REF XU Yongmo (resigned with effect from 31 December 2016)
+ZA=+—H#&T)

28 ZENG Xuemin

ME &R LAM Chi Yuen Nelson
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The important dates for shareholders in 2017 are as follows:

AMEBE_T—+F=RA=+—HIL=@AZ
NEERFTEVHEER

Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information
for the three months ending 31 March 2017

ERXABHERRBEFRGUNG TREZBPXMHZ
& HR

Deadline for lodging transfer documents for attendance and voting
at the annual general meeting

BITRRBFASHZEEMEBFPFEAY

Book closure dates prior to annual general meeting

BRBFEAE

Annual general meeting

EREDR-_Z-REREARE RN 2 HEIZHHE
Last day of dealings in Shares with entitlement to final dividend 2016

REHR
Ex-dividend date

BERXEREDM T -R"FRARBZBF XM 2 & HR
Deadline for lodging transfer documents for entitlement
to final dividend 2016

ZE-RERARECEEEBPFEAH
Book closure date for final dividend 2016

—FtFEA=+—H

21 April 2017

—T+EREARA TAOB=15

5 May 2017, 4:30 PM

—2—+FRAANHE+Z=AH

8-12 May 2017

—T—t5RA+=A TFZB=+H
12 May 2017, 3:30 PM

—T—+FHA+AHA

15 May 2017

—T—tFHA+RHE

16 May 2017

“E—tFRAtTER TFHEE=1%
17 May 2017, 4:30 PM

—E—+FRA+NHB

18 May 2017
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N ZE—RFERARE
Payment of final dividend 2016

—E—tFRAZ+—A"
31 May 2017~

AMEBE-_ZE—tFRNA=THIENEAAZ KRG ERIBEEE —E—tFNAmB*

Announcement of the unaudited financial results
for the six months ending 30 June 2017

ABE-_E—+FNA=+ALNERZ
RCEGEENTEER

4 August 2017+

—E—+tF+A=+A8"

Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information 20 October 2017*

for the nine months ending 30 September 2017

* ¥ 7F HH Tentative date
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and the consolidated
financial statements of the Company that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
statement by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 108 to 115. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming their
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives
of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, and the
scope and appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided
by it. The Audit Committee then makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment, removal, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the independent auditor. The Group'’s policy regarding the
engagement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the various services listed
below is as follows:

° Audit services — include audit services provided in connection with
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the financial statements of the individual subsidiaries.

° Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, review of financial statements for the
purpose of interim report, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.

° Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services of the
independent auditor where it is best suited. All other significant
taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as appropriate.

° Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, non-financial systems consultations
and corporate governance compliance assessment. The
independent auditor is also permitted to assist management and
the Group’s internal auditor with internal investigations and fact-
finding into alleged improprieties. These services are subject to
specific approval by the Audit Committee.

° General consulting services — the independent auditor is not
eligible to provide services involving general consulting work.
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An analysis of the fees of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and other
independent auditors relating to the audit of the financial statements of
the Company and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2016
is shown in Note 8 to the financial statements. For the year ended 31
December 2016, a provision of HK$4,535,000 was made in the financial
statements for service fee payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for
the annual audit and the Group paid HK$11,044,000, HK$559,000,
HK$525,000, HK$220,000, HK$191,000, HK$100,000 and HK$38,000
to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as service fees for system implementation,
financial due diligence review, review of interim financial statements,
preparation of tax returns, corporate governance compliance assessment,
advisory on accounting standards and issuance of consent letter regarding
the Company’s issue of commercial paper and medium term notes in PRC
respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and assessment
and management of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks
to increase risk awareness across the Group’s business operations
and has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters of
authority delegation, which provide a framework for the identification and
management of risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to ensure that the policies
and procedures in place are adequate and appropriate.

Reporting and review activities include review and approval by the
executive Directors and the Board of detailed operational and financial
reports, budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review
by the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group'’s internal audit function and
risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, omissions or fraud.



EXREBWRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REP BRI

EERAEERAKEE T EBHBBEE X
SEMAREITEF R — AR EARE R4

ARMITERERER - Xt S RAERAE
HEREBRFRE WARHITESEL (FAX
SERFEETEBERN B0 - AKREESA
Be iR bR SFERRGTRA - I R TFAE S
tEHLE B R BT - ERRBEREELTER
5 EEEREG  SHMARERFESERIEARR
MR e A B MR E - ITESEME
EBERGEUNYHEEERTIBRLERRT
MAEERRE YAFARSAEEERET
S UBHHEFRE XHRREBEROL
B RBTER AR A SR A = BEATR o

AEESEMNBARMNERRISTRASERR
o AKEE R B EIEFIFI 155 612
Fro@@XHHARBERBEERELEER I
BB EXFEMIRE T EABNBEMYENE
ROKFETTRRRE R - B A HAIRIRD A
FREERMELEFETREER  MATIA
BERNMAX AN AR Z ATHTEEE
e AR EE S -

Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group’s five-year corporate planning
cycle. Forecasts for the current year are prepared on a monthly basis,
reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, the management identifies, evaluates and reports
on the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business
risks. The executive Directors review the monthly management reports
on the financial results and key operating statistics of each business unit
and hold monthly meetings with the senior management team to review
these reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled within
each business unit with approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital expenditures are
subject to overall control within the annual budget review and approval
process, and more specific control and approval by the executive Directors
are required for unbudgeted expenditures prior to commitment.
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Internal Audit

The Company’s Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, formulating
an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the
Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior management concerned
as well as following up on all reports to ensure that all issues have been
satisfactorily resolved. Depending on the nature of business and risk
exposure of individual business units, the scope of work performed by
the internal audit department includes reviews of all important aspects of
internal controls (including financial, operational, information technology,
risk management, legal and compliance controls, etc.), recurring and
surprise audits, fraud investigations and productivity efficiency reviews.
The internal auditor will meet with the Audit Committee and the
independent auditor at least once a year to discuss on the findings by
the independent auditor and any potential risks that may exist. A report
on the review of risk management and internal control of the Group in
accordance with the annual internal audit plan will be submitted by the
Internal Audit Department to the Audit Committee and the Board for
approval after the end of the relevant year.

Continuing Connected Transactions

In order to ensure that all continuing connected transactions of the Group
comply with the Listing Rules, the Company has in place an internal
control policy which sets forth the procedures for entering into agreements
and managing the conduct of continuing connected transactions. The
framework agreements approved by the Board set out the major terms
and conditions of the continuing connected transactions which could
be entered into by the individual business units of the Company. Prior
approval by the Company’s senior management, Finance Department and
Legal Department is required before each individual continuing connected
transaction may be entered into. Individual business units are required to
obtain and compare the quotations and pricing terms from a connected
person and at least two independent third parties which are market
competitors of the connected person. The Finance Department and the
Legal Department shall check, among other things, the compliance of
such pricing terms with the pricing policies or mechanisms under the
framework agreements. The Finance Department shall also monitor the
aggregate transaction amounts on an ongoing basis to ensure the annual
caps not to be exceeded. The Internal Audit Department shall periodically
review the effectiveness and adequacy of the abovementioned internal
control policy and procedures.
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Inside information

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure that the market and shareholders are fully
and promptly informed about the material developments in the Company’s
business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information Disclosure Policy
regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. Release of
inside information is subject to the approval of the Board. Unless duly
authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not communicate
inside information to any external parties and shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.

Review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

On the Audit Committee’s recommendation, the Board approved the
report on the review of the risk management and internal control of
the Group for 2016 submitted by the Internal Audit Department and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group have been effective, adequate and appropriate.

Group Risk Management

Directors and officers liability insurance is in place to protect directors and
officers of the Group against their potential legal liabilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. LO, aged 67, was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 29 May 2009. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and
has been in continuous practice since qualification. He is currently
a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although Mr. LO is not a
full time employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his
capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters.
The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. LO is Mr. LAU
Chung Kwok Robert, the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company. Mr. LO confirmed that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of
Continuing Professional Development training required of a solicitor in
respect of 2016.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2016, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals (other than proposing a person for election as a Director) at
General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the written
requisition of (1) any two or more members of the Company; or (2) a
recognized clearing house (or its nominees(s)) deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (Room 4606-08, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the
attention of the Board or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal place of business in Hong Kong, the registered office of the
Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands) for the attention of the Board.

The written requisition shall specify the objects of the extraordinary
general meeting and be signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such
requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the written requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the voting right at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
written requisition, proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meeting may be convened by the Board, provided that any extraordinary
general meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
3 months from the date of deposit of the written requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless during the period,
which shall be at least 7 days, commencing no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting, there has
been given to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of
the Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his intention to
propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand
for election as a Director at the annual general meeting, the following
documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the period
specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
namely, (1) the shareholder’s notice of intention to propose a resolution to
elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting;
(2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information as
required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4)
the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board (i) in writing to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong (Room 4606-
08, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong) for attention to the Board; (i) by attending the Company’s annual
general meeting or extraordinary general meeting; or (iii) by email at
crcement@crc.com.hk.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s official
website for corporate communications and the Company’s website.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had 1,695 registered
shareholders and total public float capitalization amounted to
HK$5,239,591,000. In addition to individual shareholders, some Shares
are held by institutional investors, or by individuals and organizations
through financial intermediaries such as nominees, investment funds and
the Central Clearing and Settlement System of Hong Kong. The names
of the shareholders, other than the Directors, holding 5% or more of
the Shares as at 31 December 2016 are disclosed in the Report of the
Directors on page 71 of the annual report.

As the core principles of corporate governance, the Board gives
high priority to maintaining effective, transparent and constructive
communications with shareholders and other investors, and believes
that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is critical to its future
success. The Board is accountable to shareholders for creating and
delivering value through effective governance of business. The Company
keeps in touch with its shareholders and other investors through different
channels to facilitate their understanding on the Company’s performance,
strategies, prospects and the market environment in which the Company
operates. We believe shareholders’ value can be enhanced through clear
communication of the above information.

In order to ensure shareholders’ exercise of their rights in an informed
manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has been
established. A dedicated investor relations team has been established
as the primary contact of the Company with shareholders, investors
and analysts. The Company actively responds to daily inquiries from
shareholders and investors, and publishes important information of the
Company on the official website for corporate communications and the
website of the Company for equal and timely access by all stakeholders.
The Company also holds results presentation meetings for investors after
the release of annual results and interim results. The presentations are
broadcasted on the internet to ensure that overseas shareholders and
investors understand the Company’s business operations and future
development strategies from the online videos.
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The Company keeps close contact with the investment community and
makes every effort to maintain stable and effective communications
with shareholders and investors. To this end, the Company regularly
participates in different activities including investor conferences and
roadshows in order to increase interactions with shareholders and
In 2016, the Company held a total of approximately 190
investor meetings, enquiries and conference calls which enabled direct
communication with fund managers and analysts worldwide. Apart from
non-deal roadshows, we participated in 8 investor conferences organized
by various investment banks in Hong Kong, the Chinese Mainland and
overseas and had in-depth discussions with global institutional investors
about the business environment and the trend of future development of
the cement industry in China. In November 2016, the Company organized
a two-day reverse roadshow. A total of 19 analysts and representatives
from banks visited the urban waste and sludge co-processing projects
by use of cement kilns in Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe Cement
Co., Ltd. and China Resources Cement (Nanning) Limited for a better
understanding of the Company’'s competitive advantages and future
strategies on co-processing and green development.

investors.

The Board always welcomes views and inputs from shareholders and
investors, who can send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company’s Investor Relations Department by
letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information can be
found on page 5 of this annual report.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
35/F One Pacific Place
88 Queensway

Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 116 to 219,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit matter
due to the involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in the
performance of this assessment.

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, determining
whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. The estimation uncertainty mainly
included gross profit margin, discount rate and growth rate.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2016 is
HK$1,260,688,000 and for the purpose of impairment testing, as
disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill has
been allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement operating
segment and concrete operating segment and the carrying amounts of
goodwill allocated them are HK$1,214,604,000 and HK$46,084,000,
respectively, at 31 December 2016. The management of the Group
assessed that there is no significant impairment of goodwill.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

Obtaining an understanding of the basis adopted in the value in use
calculations prepared by the management.

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by the
management, including growth rates, gross profit margin and expected
changes in capital expenditure with reference to current market
circumstances.

Testing the appropriateness of key inputs applied by the management in
preparing the cash flow forecasts against historical performance, including
revenues, cost of sales and operating expenses, with reference to the
future strategic plans of the Group in respect of each CGU.

Assessing the key factors in determining the discount rate, including the
Group’s debt and equity ratio, return on investments and other risk factors,
and comparing to discount rates adopted in the cement industry for
reasonableness.

Checking the sensitivity analysis performed by management in respect of
the growth rates and discount rates to evaluate the extent of impact on the
calculations of the value in use.

Valuation of trade receivables

We identified the valuation of trade receivables as a key audit matter due
to the use of judgement and estimates in assessing the allowance for
doubtful debts.

At 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is HK$2,434,190,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$221,655,000) as disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements. In assessing the allowance for doubtful debts, the
management considers the credit quality of individual trade receivables,
including default or delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent
settlements and ageing analysis of the trade receivables.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade receivables included:

Obtaining an understanding of how the allowance for doubtful debts is
estimated by the management and testing the key controls of the Group
relating to the impairment assessment of trade receivables.

Checking the ageing analysis of the trade receivables throughout the year
to understand movements in the ageing and the settlement pattern of the
customers.

Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to
the source documents, including sales invoices and good delivery notes.

Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for doubtful debts with
reference to the credit profile including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of
individual customers.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

. HEERANELE ST ERMIREIEE
AR o IRIBPTEER M BRTERE - HEE 2
B EESHENKBEREANEANTHEE
M MR ERY BREMRELE
BENELBARE - MRBMIRBRFEE
ANEE M - RIB M2 ERBEN RS T2
AEAETIELREVHRERP AR
B-BREARANIESR BEFTHRMR
BR RIS REENZEEHRE B 1
PREIS BRI « AT RIRFIEHIF
MAREEE BERETRFELE-

. FHEFAMBRRNBERIIHRA N BB
MAR BREKRE URGEEMBRERE
BRERBRRZMEIER-

. 5 EREANERREH AT HEN
EEGE R EENELNRE UERaY
BHRRERBA -BMEE BEREET
B3 EREMETT - RIPIAE B R
ERHAE

BPEDRIRE AR T R EINEE - KRR
EAFERRE SRR FIESR P HE5 RS
22 b ) (A B R ERPA

BPRAVEIREREHA  FRRME e E M
BB ERBERENR WM PERE R
BEA IR ARG ERFIE A PTE RN
Hitn=18 AREEAIERT B EE
iiidky

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lau King Pak.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

10 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE—_Z—RF+= F—HIESFE  For the year ended 31 December 2016
—REE —T—RF
k=2 FE&xT T
2016 2015
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
3 Turnover 5 25,647,464 26,778,671
SHERKAN Cost of sales (18,622,005) (20,361,404)
EF Gross profit 7,025,459 6,417,267
HAb U A Other income 6 265,916 471,941
BEWENFEERS  Change in fair value of investment
properties 17 5,000 4,000
SHEMDHE A Selling and distribution expenses (1,675,852) (1,756,616)
—mRRITHRER General and administrative expenses (2,301,638) (2,439,623)
IE & Eta Exchange loss (418,597) (902,869)
5 E R Finance costs 7 (692,323) (565,500)
e N Share of results of associates (58,054) (234,955)
A= UNCTE Share of results of joint ventures 8,503 (9,246)
FRE BT AT Profit before taxation 8 2,158,414 984,399
1A Taxation 11 (896,844) (47,510)
FEAT Profit for the year 1,261,570 936,839
HivzmE (BH) KA Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
HEETCEHHHEE ltem that will not be subsequently
1Aa 1 E A reclassified to profit or loss:
HHEABZHREEH Exchange differences arising
EERERZ5 on translation to presentation
currency (1,772,756) (1,610,073)
HESIEYERREM  Revaluation of prepaid lease
FEHEERE payments upon transfer to
investment properties - 3,507
A es 7 2 lterns that will be subsequently
B H reclassified to profit or loss:
B —REE N a)E4qn  Share of other comprehensive
A2EEH expense of an associate (45.743) (14.524)
FEHMEEER Other comprehensive expense
for the year (1,818,499) (1,621,090)
FEXMERRSE Total comprehensive expense
for the year (556,929) (684,201)
ATALTRGFEE Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
AT (E8)
RABER A Owners of the Company 1,325,855 1,014,969
FEIE AR = Non-controlling interests (64,285) (78,080)
1,261,570 936,889
ATALTEGFEEE  Total comprehensive expense
EHRE: for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NEIEF =N Owners of the Company (473,175) (577,712)
FEERR Non-controlling interests (83,754) (106,489)
(556,929) (684,201)
SREXRAEF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 14 0.203 0.155

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—EB-KF —T—hEF
Kz F#&xT T
2016 2015
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
EMBNEE Non-current assets
EEEE Fixed assets 15 29,783,669 31,596,192
B ERIE Prepaid lease payments 16 2,674,723 2,905,451
"EYE Investment properties 17 112,499 108,346
| EE Intangible assets 18 2,263,684 2,394,503
NNz Interests in associates 20 5,212,992 5,620,142
REERR R Interests in joint ventures 21 1,484,271 1,542,889
BERETEER® Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 752,008 1,625,731
EEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 22 325,525 365,030
= HA e sk IR Long term receivables 23 440,901 662,115
EERRITER Pledged bank deposits 28 32,368 24,729
43,082,640 46,845,128
MENVEE Current assets
rE Inventories 24 1,943,482 1,564,912
BULE S BR K Trade receivables 25 2,434,190 2,194,070
A & W kI8 Other receivables 25 967,299 1,203,441
JrE U Bg 2 2 B FROR Amounts due from associates 26 486,761 273,122
R A & R B FHIR Amounts due from joint ventures 27 10,929 116,148
AR BIA Taxation recoverable 71,065 65,130
BEHIRITER Pledged bank deposits 28 1,461 17,091
e MIRTTA R Cash and bank balances 29 3,158,684 1,937,708
9,073,871 7,371,622
mEaE Current liabilities
BT E SRR Trade payables 30 3,145,780 3,089,768
H A 5K Other payables 30 4,446,121 4,855,226
FEA A Taxation payable 334,213 175,512
JEEEIERAFZIE  Amount due to immediate
holding company 31 - 54,956
H I TS Other unsecured short term
—RHRE S debt — commercial paper 32 558,965 =
R ES Unsecured bonds 33 3,102,032 =
RITER—N—FARE|H  Bank loans — amount due
within one year 34 3,229,723 5,226,642
14,816,834 13,402,104
mEBEFE Net current liabilities (5,742,963) (6,030,482)
BEBAERRSEE Total assets less current liabilities 37,339,677 40,814,646
S e 117
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZE—XRE+=-A=+—H At31 December 2016

—E-RE —ZT—FF
it FET FE&T
2016 2015
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER—R Bank loans — amount due
— iz H after one year 34 7,615,712 10,597,782
I ES Unsecured bonds 33 - 3,100,384
il s Unsecured medium term notes 35 3,353,790 =
H R AR IR Other long term payables 20,086 26,650
BLEHIBA R Deferred tax liabilities 22 98,220 104,153
11,087,808 13,828,969
26,251,869 26,985,677
A& AN I (s Capital and reserves
N Share capital 36 653,294 653,294
(e Reserves 25,353,474 25,903,597
VIN/NEIEZZEWN Equity attributable to owners
b of the Company 26,006,768 26,556,891
FEPE RS R = Non-controlling interests 245,101 428,786
R Total equity 26,251,869 26,985,677

F116E EF219B A HERCN - —+  The consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 219 were
FZRt+HEEERIERBZRETIEE WA TY  approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 10 March

ATREEE: 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:
&L ZHOU LONGSHAN 2| 2B LAU CHUNG KWOK ROBERT
E%E DIRECTOR #E % DIRECTOR

‘I ‘I 8 EHKRIERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE_ZT—A"F+-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016
RRAREAEEER
3
#E:E NEER

Ex  Ripaf i AHER BE RERRE ABRR  REEA B FRREE  REST
T T FhL FhL FEL TR TR TFhL L L L

(Wistas)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Long term
award Property Non-
Share Share scheme Merger  revaluation  Translation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§000 HK§000 HK$'000
(Note 45)
RZZ-RF—A-HB  AtLJanuay 2015 653294 6936754 (356,301) (35,193) 17810 2315530 43400 18604579 28179873 535275 28715148
£t 2@ (BF)MA  Other comprehensive (expense)
income
-EREE - exchange differences - - - - (1581,664) - - (1581,664) (28409)  (1,610073)
~EE-FHERT — share of other comprehensive
Eth2AER expense of an associate = = = = = = (14524) = (14,524) = (14,524)

-BEERANEE - revaluation of prepaid lease
EfMEARETE payments upon transfer to
investment properties - - - - 3507 - - - 3507 - 3507

FRAF Profit for the year - - - - - - 1014969 1,014969 (78,080) 936,889
EE2HE(BF)WALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - 3507 (1,581,604) (14524) 1,014,969 (577712)  (106489)  (684,201)
“E-PMERERE 2014 final dividend - (653,294) - - - - - - (653,294) = (653,294)
ZT-RERERE 2015 interim dividend = (391,976) - = = = = - (391,976) = (391,976)
RZZ-1% At 31 December 2015
+-ZRA=1+-A 653294 591484 (356,301) (35,193) 21317 733,866 28876 19619548 26,556,891 12878 26985677

£t 2@ (BF)MA  Other comprehensive (expense)

income
-EAES ~ exchange differences - = - - (1,753287) - - (1,753287) (19469 (1,772,7%6)
~EE-FHERT — share of other comprehensive
H2EER expense of an associate = = = = = = (45,743) = (45,743) = (45,743)
ERRF Proft forthe year § , , . , o 13585 13585 B42%) 1261570
EE2HE(BE)WALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - - (1,753,287) (45,743) 1325855 (473,175) (83,754) (556,929)
- *iﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ 8 2015finel diidend E ) - - . . - S 1369) - 13069)
B FRERE 2016 interim dividend - (97.994) - - - - - - (97.994) - (97.994)
BERSZHIEN  Recogniton under long term
R award scheme - 217,0% - - - - (50,8%) 166,19 - 166,19
WEREHEARN Acquisiton of additional interest
FoMER of existing subsidiaries - - - - - - (14 494) - (14494) (9931 (114429)
RZZ-1F At 31 December 2016
+-A=1+-A 653294 5662831 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 (1,019421) (31361) 20894507 26,006,768 245101 26,251,869

—E—K
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ZB-ARF —ZT-AF
FExT FABT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
REKLLEERIRERE  Cash flows from operating activities
FR AT & A Profit before taxation 2,158,414 984,399
PTANZBIEL A% : Adjustments for:
TEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,822,875 1,885,689
AR EERIEEEE Release of prepaid lease payments 79,049 77,006
PR 8 Amortisation of mining rights 79,503 80,846
WEYENTBEEED Gain on change in fair value of
EErlaE investment properties (5,000) (4,000)
FEUA Interest income (42,202) (61,580)
MERAX Interest expenses 692,323 565,500
il N e Share of results of associates 58,054 234,955
NI Share of results of joint ventures (8,503) 9,246
RER (HIEEL) #HIiK (Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts (21,964) 124,502
HEREEEERE Loss on disposal of fixed assets 16,091 97,320
BB ERE Impairment of fixed assets 138,362 141,654
FENHEERERE Impairment of prepaid lease payments 4,864 =
Hofh e Y SR IE R IR AR Allowance for doubtful debts of
{=EiiS other receivables 26,236 14,835
FERE Impairment of inventories 12,365 11,868
RIE R R T 8 R Recognition of payment under long term
EOENEEN award scheme 166,199 =
ME W 18 Exchange loss 518,681 713,902
EEECEEATH Operating cash inflow before
LEIRESMA movement in working capital 5,695,347 4,876,142
T8 ()R (Increase) decrease in inventories (512,202) 479,785
JEUE SEBRF (12 0) 4> (Increase) decrease in trade receivables (374,782) 374,118
A e W R IE R > Decrease in other receivables 84,246 62,301
JE{S & 5 BRFAE N Increase in trade payables 263,577 472,800
o FE A SRIELE AN Increase in other payables 369,203 183,770
KEEBELENE S Cash generated from operations 5,525,389 6,449 416
ERBEBFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (33,559) (17,354)
EfARBEAMEASH  Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax paid (688,332) (1,033,338)
EfTHE Interest paid (691,754) (565,085)
KETEBELERMIRESFE  Net cash generated from operating activities 4,111,744 4,833,639

‘I 20 EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A

—ANE+_A=+—BLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2016

—E-R¥ —ZE—hF
FET T
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
REREEESHWIEESME  Cash flows from investing activities
P EEE E & Em ST Purchase and deposit paid for
FEENEN® acquisition of fixed assets (1,784,353) (2,305,939)
AN N EE ) (Advances to) repayment from
B associates (213,639) 48781
¥ & H B AT R AR Advances to local governments (136,871) (54,493)
Ukt B R A Acquisition of mining rights (45,511) (280,555)
AT E SR IEE N Additions to prepaid lease payments (35,466) (372,705)
RBEFEEWRBHE R Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries in
GIESADE:N prior years (13,965) (23,500)
UG B B o R ) Acquisition of associates - (2,592,731)
2R B Hb 7 B R 28 R Repayments from local governments 364,150 10,689
REAERRINER Repayment from joint ventures 105,282 282,657
2 RAE Interest received 42,202 53,527
HERETEEEMSHIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 41,243 38,767
25 RIRITIFE R Decrease (increase) in pledged bank
(3&h0) deposits 5,585 (20,705)
RBEFEWRHE—= Payment for acquisition of a joint venture
SR W/NCILE LN E in prior years - (51,946)
g — KB A A Acquisition of a subsidiary (net of cash
(MEREKERE R and cash equivalents acquired)
ReEEY) - (12,183)
RE—KBERHBAF] Repayment from a fellow subsidiary
B IR K - 634,905
BH—R&Z2QFUE Dividend received from a joint venture
FI% 2 - 3,550
RIGEEBFTRAAIER /558 Net cash used in investing activities (1,671,343) (4,641,881)
ST ANEER
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REMEREXR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHE_Z—RF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

122

—E-AF —ZE—hEF
FET FAT
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
RERMEEENIEELME  Cash flows from financing activities
BERIRITER Repayments of long term bank loans (8,245,347) (6,306,498)
B E Dividends paid (228,653) (1,045,270)
W EEIR B M B A Rl Acquisition of additional interest of
BEIME R existing subsidiaries (110,568) =
EEEBEER AR FIE Repayment to immediate holding
company (54,956)
S EM R AR IR Settlement of other long term payables (1,461) (7,086)
g RAFIRITE K Long term bank loans raised 3,470,040 5,819,616
TR HAEE Issue of medium term notes 3,353,790 =
BTRHERES Issue of commercial paper 558,965 =
RHEIRITER Increase (decrease) in short term bank
a0 CRi) loans 223,586 (705,872)
RMEEEATARIESFEE  Net cash used in financing activities (1,034,604) (2,245,110)
FEREMRGE Net increase (decrease) in cash and
BYEEE M CR) cash equivalents for the year 1,405,797 (2,053,352)
FHRSNREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 1,937,708 4,147,804
EREHERS K Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
ﬁETT ERRR on cash and bank balances (184,821) (156,744)
FRESNREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of
§R & MIRTT4E 84 the year, representing cash and bank
balances 3,158,684 1,937,708

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BERRE(ZET-_FEFRERS
BEEMKRLA—FZERRERAR H
BN —ZEZNF+TARNBETEHER
SIERAT LW - ARRMEEZERL
AIRERBRE LA ST EREE
(KR) BRAR] » AR B ERALIER AR
FER R B AAK S RO B ZE AR A R (T
REEEAT]) -

RRBRB—EREZERATF] - KB
NAE] (RATRERERNR A GRS [R5
) TEREAEREENE RN
H At HRRAE an M AR

rREIRRIAETT ([BIT]) 27 A
NAEINEEEE BARE - ARARIEEE
TREZIEYR RASEEERREE
BAREEMERERNERE -

HIEFJ/E Forthe year ended 31 December 2016
GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company Law
(2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003 and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is CRH
(Cement) Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources National
Corporation (“CRNC”), a company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi. The Company has adopted HK$ as its presentation
currency because the management considered it is more
beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

2.

EE—RE+-_A=+—HIEEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the

following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”):

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 38

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer plants

and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exception

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 cycle

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has no material impact on the Group'’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/or
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 7

Amendments to HKAS 12

Financial instruments?

Revenue from contracts with
customers and the related
amendments’

Leases’

Classification and measurement
of share-based payment
transactions?

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts™

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture?

Disclosure Initiative?

Recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealised losses?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
SE-XEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE_ZT—F+_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

2. ERHITIEEMBIRE®RE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 9 may have impact on the consolidated financial
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures,
however, the directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the timing
and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective reporting
periods.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for
all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.
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2.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as
investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use
and those classified as investment properties while other operating
lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Under
the HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will
be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and
a related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is
a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether the
Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same
line item at which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group as lessee has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$193,205,000
as disclosed in Note 39. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under
HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the
application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new
requirements may result changes in measurement, presentation
and disclosure as indicated above. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the
directors complete a detailed review.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application
of the other amendments to HKFRSs will have material impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties, which are
measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
or value in use in HKAS 36.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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3.

NE+ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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3.

(ZE_F—AEF+_A=1+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period, and additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate categories of fixed asset
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets other
than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease terms

Plant and machinery 310 40 years
Logistic equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3 to 35 years

An item of fixed assets is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

NE+ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date, respectively, less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for mining rights, which have finite useful
lives, is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gain or
loss arising from derecognition of mining right is measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate or joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

—NF+_A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceased to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon
such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Prepaid lease payments

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as fixed
assets.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business
and net of discounts and sales related taxes.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group'’s current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

Z—XNF+-_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment properties
are measured in accordance with the above general principles set
out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the
properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Z—XNF+-_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying
amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NE+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of
an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
foreign operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on acquisitions of foreign operations are treated
as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and interests paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, long term receivables, amounts due
from associates/joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and cash
and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).
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3. EXgFBEm® SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
SRMIA (&) Financial instruments (Continued)
PHEE (F) Financial assets (Continued)
EREERE Impairment of financial assets
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Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

J BITASEFHBIEET R . significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
4 or

J REH#) - g AR e R A B sk AR . breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
%iﬁ( % interest or principal payments; or

. ERAE A e ESETTI S E . it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
#H- bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

o B THEEREEM S @ Hla0EU For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade

BHRKREHE RIFERIRENEE -
REBEEETRENE - BUERAS
R EURERIER A B A KB EE KK
e A NBA T EE TR ER
IRERIE DN LA B B U Iﬁﬁﬁsﬁﬁfﬂ'ﬁﬁ'ha
B St 77 AR AR AR R B
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables,
amount due to immediate holding company, bank loans,
unsecured bonds, commercial paper, medium term notes
and other long term payables) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and interests paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments - continued
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Provision for other employee benefits are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employee and is measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the
future obligations discounted to its present value where the effect
is material.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

3.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for long term
award scheme. The shares held for the long term award scheme
will be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed to the
employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are recognised
as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between the
consideration received and the cost of the shares will be credited
to retained profits.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
The estimation uncertainty mainly included gross profit margin,
discount rates and growth rates.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the carrying amount
of goodwill are HK$1,260,688,000 and HK$1,291,036,000
respectively. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in Note 19.
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4.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than or more than expected, a reversal
or a recognition of deferred tax assets would be recognised in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year in which such a reversal or recognition takes
place. As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the carrying amount
of deferred tax assets are HK$325,525,000 and HK$365,030,000
respectively.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

Where there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows.
The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the
carrying amount of trade receivables are HK$2,434,190,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$221,655,000) and
HK$2,194,070,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$259,325,000) respectively (see Note 25).
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amounts
of the fixed assets may exceed their recoverable amounts.
The Group’s determination as to whether the fixed assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
the assets. The Directors exercise their judgement in estimating
the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The
Directors conducted a review of the Group’s production assets
and determined that the assets of certain subsidiaries were
fully impaired because it is expected that these assets will not
generate future benefit to the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2016, impairment loss of HK$138,362,000 (2015:
HK$141,654,000) has been recognised in respect of those fixed
assets (see Note 15).

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRS, that
are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the operating segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:
Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products
Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
salaries, share of results of associates and joint ventures, interest
income, finance costs and exchange loss.
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EEBNTBER (@) 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

DEPREEREIIGOT -

BE-Z—RE+-A=+—HLEE

The information of segment results are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016

For the year ended 31 December 2016

XK EE L ¥4 Fob ]
TER TET TET TET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
- HIUE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMHEE External sales 21,112,585 4,534,879 - 25,647,464
DE 2 I E Inter-segment sales 628,050 3,302 (631,352) -
21,740,635 4,538,181 (631,352) 25,647,464

DB EHE HIRBRITHIHERE
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RESULTS
Segment results 3,322,666

401,438

Interest income

Exchange loss

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate
expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

—E—REER
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Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

3,724,104

42,202
(418,597)
(692,323)

(447,421)
(58,054)
8,503

2,158,414
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

KT NNt $4H HBE
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- 2UE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMHEE External sales 21,647,872 5,130,799 = 26,778,671
DE A E Inter-segment sales 732,043 3,764 (735,807) -
22,379,915 5,134,563 (735,807) 26,778,671

D ERZ IS E TR TS ER E -

£

FEWA
EH R
BEEM

AP BEFERX

EhBER
FBHEER

BRELAI & F

IES
EES

RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income

Exchange loss

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate
eXpenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

ERRERBRAE
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

2,494,911

516,980 = 3,011,891

61,580
(902,869)
(565,500)

(376,502)
(234,955)
(9,246)

984,399
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities are as
follows:

R+=A=+—H
—E—REF —T—hF
FET FAET
As at 31 December
2016 2015
HK$’'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
DEEE Segment assets
—IKE — Cement 36,898,082 38,857,492
JRRE T — Concrete 2,577,369 2,851,014
39,475,451 41,708,506
REEE R RIER Interests in associates 5,212,992 5,620,142
RE & AR R Interests in joint ventures 1,484,271 1,542,889
RIETRIHE E Deferred tax assets 325,525 365,030
AR TR IR Taxation recoverable 71,065 65,130
KB RAREE (ita) Unallocated corporate
assets (note a) 5,587,207 4.915,053
IREEERSE Consolidated total assets 52,156,511 54,216,750
afE Liabilities
HEPBE Segment liabilities
—IKR — Cement 5,712,807 5,908,380
— R — Concrete 1,014,079 966,037
6,726,886 6,874,417
HIEAE Tax liabilities 432,433 279,665
RAOWAREE (iFb) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (note b) 18,745,323 20,076,991
meRaERE Consolidated total liabilities 25,904,642 27,231,073
it notes:
a. ROBEARIEERRe KIRTTHER BER a. Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
BT RADEE- bank deposits and assets of the headquarters.
b. ROBARRERRITER  BERES b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, unsecured bonds,

FEHIRNE 5 - TP IR R AP A R K
He MPNRTTER  BEMES SPmE
7 PHIRB M A S EETSEII R ERE
B ZETIRE D ARDBE AR EE- .

commercial paper, medium term notes and other payables of the
headquarters. The bank loans, unsecured bonds, commercial paper
and medium term notes are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities
because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.

—B-REER
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5.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

EEHERDIBEE 2 5.
HihpBmER

BE-Z—RE+-A=+—HLEE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2016

e BEL ARIEE REHE
FERT FER BT BT
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEETEEE Additions to fixed assets 2,054,846 64,949 677 2,120,472
ERTEHESE hN Additions to mining rights 45,511 - - 45,511
FEFAEFRTEIE AN Additions to prepaid lease
payments 20,240 15,226 - 35,466
BEETEER® Decrease in deposits for
DR acquisition of fixed assets (863,216) (10,507) - (873,723)
RIZEAR (B EE)  (Reversal of) allowance for
i doubtful debts (50,044) 28,080 - (21,964)
H At R U RIE Allowance for doubtful debts of
RIZREE other receivables 22,968 3,268 - 26,236
PRI FE 42 5 Amortisation of mining rights 76,182 3,321 - 79,503
BEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,688,985 132,770 1,120 1,822,875
EEERE Impairment of fixed assets 127,027 11,335 - 138,362
FERE Impairment of inventories 10,628 1,737 - 12,365
HEBFEERBE  Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed
(Yazs) assets 13,284 2,849 (42) 16,091
JERFHEFRIEEE S  Release of prepaid lease
payments 73,568 5,481 - 79,049
KEYZENFE[E  Gainon change in fair value of
FE)EARUE  aninvestment property - (5,000) - (5,000)

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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EEHERDIBER 2 5.
Ht 5 HER (&)

HE_T-AF+-_A=1+—HALEE

=z =
BE_=

NE+ZA=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

K BT REEE IRE 1A%
THT THT THT THT
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEETEEE Additions to fixed assets 2,226,013 125,285 732 2,352,030
PRUEHREIE N Additions to mining rights 280,555 = = 280,555
FENAEZREL I Additions to prepaid lease
payments 363,887 8,818 - 372,705
Bl Additions to goodwil - 3,686 - 3,686
BEETEES  Increase in deposits for
0 acquisition of fixed assets 50,708 5,519 = 56,227
REREE Allowance for doubtful debts 77,547 46,955 - 124,502
HAh U ZIERZER  Allowance for (reversal of)
B (EHEED) doubtful debts of other
receivables 15,091 (256) - 14,835
RIS Amortisation of mining rights 77,309 3,537 = 80,846
TEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,734,821 149,053 1,815 1,885,689
EEERE Impairment of fixed assets 130,252 11,402 - 141,654
FERE Impairment of inventories 11,868 = = 11,868
HEBTEEEE  Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed
(feas) assets 88,792 8,531 3) 97,320
FBRAMEERESE  Release of prepaid lease
payments 71,677 5,329 - 77,006
BEWENTEEE  Gain on change in fair value of
B E R e an investment property = (4,000) = (4,000)
ERFTEEFHNER Information about major customers

RZMEFEEA - AR EHERIF PR HE
EEMERBANEEIHEREENI0% -

AEEHRABRANIERBEE (TB1E
BIETRIAERE ) BN RN B A M

e

No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of the

total sales of the Group for both

Geographical information

years.

All revenue and non-current assets of the Group excluding
deferred tax assets are arisen in and located in the Chinese

Mainland and Hong Kong.

—E—REER
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BHE_ZT—NF+_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

6. HWA 6. OTHER INCOME
AL —T—hF
FET FHET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
T 5ER (27) Government incentives
(note) 70,306 240,795
B WA Interest income 42,202 61,580
S BEE R R R Sales of scrap and raw
materials 55,152 75,776
ARIGUA Service income 5,408 15,634
e A Rental income 37,577 33,801
KB IR A BB Compensation received
from insurance 11,480 3,323
REHERREPHEE Compensation received
from suppliers and
customers 10,266 5,362
HAm Others 33,525 35,670
265,916 471,941
B BT 52 = Eieh H TR - LB note: Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating subsidies
RREFER D K 2R - and energy reduction incentives from local governments.
7. BBEH 7. FINANCE COSTS
—E—RF —ET—hF
FHET FHEIT
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
LA BIER A S : Interests on:
RITER BEMES CHRESFK Bank loans, unsecured
R R bonds, commercial
paper and medium
term notes 686,633 548,315
RE—KEEZRARER Loan from an
intermediate holding
company 5,121 16,770
H REAE OB Other long term payables 569 415
692,323 565,500
164 ERKRZERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BE_ZT—RNFE+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

8. BRHBEAMEF 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—B-X"E —T—AF
FET FAT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRAEAT R A B (FEA) AT BIE Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
E=W< (#1:29) Directors’ emoluments
(Note 9) 24,047 8,281
BT (TEREESE)BERSKAR KRG T Pension costs and
NIEDHK mandatory provident
fund contributions for
staff, excluding Directors 181,044 183,710
Hh 8 TR AR Other staff costs 2,563,185 2,633,655
B T4 Total staff costs 2,768,276 2,825,646
RERR (BHEEE) #HK (Reversal of) allowance for
doubtful debts (21,964) 124,502
HAth fE R IE RIB IR 1R Allowance for doubtful
debts of other
receivables 26,236 14,835
gy (Bt A— R RITHER) Amortisation of mining
rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses) 79,503 80,846
% &R = B Auditor’'s remuneration 5,812 5,210
BEEEETE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,822,875 1,885,689
EE & ERE Impairment of fixed assets 138,362 141,654
FERE Impairment of inventories 12,365 11,868
PERTEEERSE Loss on disposal of fixed
assets 16,091 97,320
BT B IERLE ALK Operating lease payments
in respect of
—HEWYHE — rented premises 145,554 65,262
—RE — motor vehicles 316,302 288,154
T8 {710 & 5K I 5 Release of prepaid lease
payments 79,049 77,006
—E-AEEH

Annual Report 2016
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HE-_Z—NF+_A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

9. EEMS 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EEME Directors’ emoluments
BE—Z—RE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016
RIKERA
R % RS
EZHe HeREE  ABREHR HiERa 4 HE] @it
TET TET TEL TEL TEL TEL
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors' and fund  Discretionary award
E=pg Name of Director fees allowance  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HTEE Executive Directors
LWL ZHOU Longshan 80 2,167 210 2,238 4,460 9,155
ioRaL JI' Youhong* 22 409 25 - - 456
28 LAU Chung Kwok Robert 80 1,439 144 1,728 3,117 6,508
EKA PAN Yonghong 58 1,062 100 1,876 3,682 6,778
5 Sub-fotal 240 5,077 479 5,842 11,259 22,897
FHRTEE Non-executive Directors
HXR DU Wenmin - - - - - -
i WEI Bin - - - - - -
RE CHEN Ying - - - - - -
I WANG Yan - - - - - -
Nt Sub-total - - - - - -
BUFHTEE  Independent non-executive Directors
=30 P Shu Kwan Stephen 230 - - - - 230
RE# SHEK Lai Him Abraham 230 - - - - 230
B2y ZENG Xuemin 230 - - - - 230
WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 230 - - - - 230
fRoKig# XU Yongmo™ 230 - - - - 230
1N Sub-total 1,150 - - - - 1,150
1,390 5,077 479 5,842 11,259 24,047

% REF—NENA=+ —HEZF * Appointed with effect from 22 September 2016

& R-F—NFAH =T =HFIE # Resigned with effect from 22 September 2016

i REZFE—NFFZHA=—+—HEHT # Resigned with effect from 31 December 2016

‘I 66 ZERKRIER AR A A

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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HE-_FT—XRXF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

9. EEME &) 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BEEME (8) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
BE_Z—RFE+-_A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

R K
ESHE  HalEs  DEREX Higea e HE] e
TEL TEL T T T THL
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary award
EEfS Name of Director fees  allowances  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

HITEZE Executive Directors
[EREL ZHOU Longshan - 2,1% 210 H34 - 2,939
KA PAN Yonghong - 1,408 133 418 - 1959
2|2 E LAU Chung Kwok Robert - 1436 143 654 = 2233
NGt Sub-total = 5039 486 1606 = 7131
FHTEE Non-executive Directors
RXR DU Wenmin - - - - - -
i WEI Bin - - - - _ _
RE CHEN Ying - - - _ _ _
I WANG Yan - - - _ _ _
Nt Sub-total - - - - - -
BUHHTEZ  Independent non-executive Directors
=310 P Shu Kwan Stephen 230 - - - - 230
PaYir SHEK Lai Him Abraham 230 - - - - 230
oK XU Yongmo 230 = = = = 230
B2y ZENG Xuemin 230 - - - - 230
WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 230 - - - - 230
gt Sub-fotal 1,150 = = = = 1,150
1,150 5039 486 1,606 - 8281

—E—x
Annual Rep/o\rti%liz 1 67
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BE_ZT—RE+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

9.

10.

EEMNE (5 9.
EEMS (F)

EXFRBITESNME TR ESER
EEAR B RAEEEFHIRIE M AT

EXFRIEITE R MIB SFITE SRR
e X 2R EFRERNRRNEFHNRY
M e

R-ZT—RF AEEmHMNEARRE=
Z(ZE—hF: ZR)EF KENM
BN LXK R BEERN - Th%
i Fr B B AR 5 -

& & % 10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors shown above were paid for their services
as directors of the Company.

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2016 included three Directors
(2015: three) whose emoluments are included in the disclosures
in Note 9 above. Total remunerations paid to the five highest paid
individuals are:

—E—RE —ET-RF

FET FAT

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

o=tk Directors’ fees 160 =

Frd MoEBh Salaries and allowances 19,126 10,611

RIRSEA R og 6l ATER K Pension costs and

mandatory provident

fund contributions 511 709

RHEHEEDET & Long term award scheme 17,536 =

37,333 11,320

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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10. EEHM =)

BENHMN FLATHE:

NE+ZA=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

10. EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS (continued)

Their remunerations were within the following bands:

—E—RE —E—AF
2016 2015
1,500,0017% Jt 2£2,000,000/7% 7T HK$1,500,001 to
HK$2,000,000 - 2
2,000,001/ 7t & 2,500,000/ 7T HK$2,000,001 to
HK$2,500,000 - 2
2,500,001/% 7t 23,000,000/ 7T HK$2,500,001 to
HK$3,000,000 - 1
6,500,001 7T 27,000,000/ 7T HK$6,500,001 to
HK$7,000,000 3 -
7,500,0017% 7T 28,000,000/ 7T HK$7,500,001 to
HK$8,000,000 1 -
9,000,001 7t 29,500,000/ T HK$9,000,001 to
HK$9,500,000 1 -
5 5
11. Bi1E 11. TAXATION
—E-RE —Z—hF
FET FHET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
BVEAR I8 Current taxation
BB Hong Kong Profits Tax 30,969 22,671
B R (S AT Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 819,624 839,896
850,593 862,567
RBEFERET R (BERE) Under (over) provision in
prior years
AR B A 1 FE T IS B Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 33,593 (533,909)
EIEFEIE (B 7222) Deferred taxation (Note 22)
a5 Hong Kong (1,672) 2,215
R B A Chinese Mainland 14,330 (283,363)
12,658 (281,148)
896,844 47,510
—E-RFEFER
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E RSB TR P SRR B
BA16.5%H B EHH -

BRI EIRIER B E
BB RN HZ25% T E AV P B i
PSR -

BEBRRBEEREN-_ZE—AF=A+
H MR A 520165 145 - TEBRA
i EEEXE SRR BT
—ME+A—BAETBERS%Z et
EERBER At T —=F—H—
ARRE—F—NFNLA=1+HILHRE
AR5 % AR ST R R SR
499,421 0008 TN —E— A E BT
TE A i o

FR A 7N 52 (B 3R B 17 s P 2= BE ) J3 [l B
Ml ARG Z=RAR fe N2 A A 78 R Ay AR 2K
B P EAK OB AR RE
ERAEINRRZE—RF+A=+—
H ETERER A R 2 KR B8 28 FI FE 1 A R
# FA22,140,908,00078 7T 432,952,000/
7T (ZZ—F £ : 21,064,979,0007% 7T &
42444900078 7T ) - W AR N ER A B IS TR 3R
FRLARIERTE B B L o

FERRRERER A

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

11.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

TAXATION (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax represents the income
tax in the Chinese Mainland which is calculated at 25% on the
taxable income of the group entities in the Chinese Mainland.

According to Document No. 14 of 2015 issued by the State
Administration of Taxation dated 10 March 2015, enterprises
which no longer belong to the category of encouraged industries in
the western territories shall cease to enjoy the reduced enterprise
income tax rate of 15% with effect from 1 October 2014. An
amount of HK$499,421,000 representing the over-provision of
enterprise income tax that was previously provided at 25% for the
period from 1 January 2013 to 30 September 2014 was therefore
reversed and included in taxation for 2015.

No deferred tax liabilities has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits of
HK$22,140,908,000 and HK$432,952,000 as at 31 December
2016 (2015: HK$21,064,979,000 and HK$424,449,000) earned
by the subsidiaries and joint ventures established in the Chinese
Mainland respectively as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BE_=

11. BIE (&) 11.

AR E R S AT BB TR AT AR & B AR N

—NF+ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

TAXATION (Continued)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated

T profit before taxation as follows:
—E-XRE —E—RF
FET FAT
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FR 5 A & Profit before taxation 2,158,414 984,399

BB A R TS R25%#

EERRBANRRMENERNREZE

BEERERRBNE T TRENRANR G E

AT EAHE QR ERRER ORISR

g

RERHEBROREEE

PRBERERNRGERNRGEZE

DIEBERRFRENRBEE

DIERERBRENRBTE

HEMAZEREENIMNE QRN TR

B/ 488
T

DIk—HKP BN E AR BNORETZE

RBEFERETE GBREERE)

RERHRIHX

Tax at the Chinese

Mainland Enterprise

Income Tax rate of 25% 539,604 246,100
Tax effect of expenses

that are not deductible

in determining taxable

profit 175,866 341,791
Tax effect of income

that are not taxable in

determining taxable

profit (23,578) (26,609)
Tax effect of tax exemptions

granted to certain

Chinese Mainland

subsidiaries (11,067) (13,641)
Tax effect of tax losses not
recognised 202,034 14,753

Tax effect of utilisation of
tax losses not previously

recognised (27,052) (43,919)
Tax effect of share of results

of associates 14,514 58,739
Tax effect of share of results

of joint ventures (2,126) 2,311

Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions (3,054) 8,782
Tax effect of distributable

profits of a Chinese

Mainland associate (1,890) (6,388)
Under (over) provision

in prior years 33,593 (533,909)
Taxation expense

for the year 896,844 47,510

—E-RXFEFER
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bz

3=
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2.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

iRk 4E A5 &

BBEE R 2 AR B EHFORINGT
2R BB & ([RH1ER
BEEtal]) - REHRFENRFTENEER
B ERESEBRE - MBI
BEEAFHEWHEADLRESRE TR
rEEEBERABET IR - BERES
EAEZ BRI R AR LOBE AN S
BAHR-NEBERR UEEASHE
HIREN DRI - SR B RATEERFTEIT
HEERAKBRNEEESFEAREST
BHESDHFE -AKEREEEEAR
N e

AREEERE A E S BN B R
& BT BT AR BT B IR R AR RET
EIHRK B - AEE A RERRBHMET BT
TEREADHNERERBHES - A
SERZEAEPOE—EEANEE

3R

FERRRERER A

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

12.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group’s defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement schemes are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions
is based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of
employees and is charged to profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Any forfeited contributions
in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers will be used to
reduce the Group's contributions. There was no significant amount
of unutilised forfeited contributions at the end of each reporting
period. The assets under the MPF are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of the trustee. The Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to the
MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
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BE_ZT—RNFE+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

13. RE 13. DIVIDENDS
ZE-RF —ZT—hfF
FEx FHEIT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEERIED RARE. Dividends recognised as
distribution during the
year:
—E-RFRHRE-FKR0.0158 T 2016 Interim —
0% ZR0.06ET) HK$0.015 per share
(2015: HK$0.06 per
share) 97,994 391,976
—E—RF R E —FR0.02E T 2015 Final — HK$0.02
—F—&F : ZR0.10%7T) per share (2014:
HK$0.10 per share) 130,659 653,294
228,653 1,045,270
RWEPHRE BE=ZT—"F+=H Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in
= +—HIEFER KRR EFR0075%8 respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of HK$0.075 per
T(ZE—hF HE_ZT—AF+-A share (2015: HK$0.02 per share in respect of the year ended
—t+t—HIEFESROET)ERES 31 December 2015) has been proposed by the Directors and
BRI AR EERRAE X is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
g EIER  FAMEE BB A FNA annual general meeting. The total amount of HK$489,970,000
FIRAHAE B TRMOEE ST E R EE R (2015: HK$130,659,000) of the proposed final dividend,
[i% B 4258489 .970000/8 L (—F—HF calculated based on the Company’s number of shares issued at
130,659,000/ 7t ) W SN AR & B IR 2= the date of this annual report, is not recognised as a liability in the
NiER B —IRAGE consolidated statement of financial position.
O 173
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BE_ZT—RE+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

14. BRER 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
NAEHER NEIREAREAZEF THEFA The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
TEEFTE M : owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—B-XE —T-E4F

FET T
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
2% Earnings
MERERZF M E M Earnings attributable to
RATEER AEGRT owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 1,325,855 1,014,969
ZB-R"F —T—hF
2016 2015
BB Number of shares
TERERZF M S HRKMD 1k Weighted average number
S 2E 4= of shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per
share 6,532,937,817 6,532,937,817
AR A RN EEE TR TBEL B No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
f&fn - L 25| G EEE AR o not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.
‘I 74 EHKRIERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BE_ZT—RNFE+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

15. BEICEEE

15. FIXED ASSETS

TRk
BEY BERRE URRE Hin EBIR ot
T#x Tz Tz TET TET TET
Land and Plant and Logistic Construction
buildings machinery  equipment Others in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KA COST
R-E-A%—F—H At 1 January 2015 11,114,717 25,013,145 2487533 1,601,399 2461,862 42,678,656
B Additions 31,875 259,861 111,654 70,357 1,878,283 2,352,030
HRIRRTRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 629,489 674,481 158,231 7,022 (1,469,223) -
HE Disposals - (226,483) (163,607) (6,958) (2,059) (399,112)
fE AR Exchange adjustments (633,143)  (1,453,719) (141,153) (91,456) (143448)  (2,462,919)
RZZ—h%E At 31 December 2015
+-A=+—H 11,142938 24,267,280 2,452,658 1,580,364 2725415 42,168,655
NE Additions 393,743 839,772 113,025 511 773,421 2,120,472
ERTRBTRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 675,058 635,709 18 5855  (1,316,640) -
HE Disposals (3,095) (189,478) (56,202) (5,703) - (254,478)
EH AR Exchange adjustments (691,751)  (1,529,798) (151,358) (97,954) (174,204)  (2,645,065)
R=ZZE-~"%E+=HA At 31 December 2016
=+—H 11516893 24,023,485 2,358,141 1,483,073 2007992 41,389,584
ZEtEERE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
R-Z—-H%F—F—H At 1 January 2015 1,407,497 6,500,264 912,707 435,001 151,682 9,407,151
FEBRY Charge for the year 289,470 1,324,976 146,634 124,609 - 1,885,689
REBEAERRBREER  Imparment loss recognised in
z: profit or loss (note) 1477 71,588 14980 2,895 50,714 141,654
HE Disposals - (121,910 (133,830) (5,226) (2,059) (263,025)
EH AR Exchange adjustments (86,364) (421,541) (50,968) (28,667) (10,966) (599,006)
R-—Z-h%+=HA At 31 December 2015
=T—H 1,611,580 7,353,377 889,523 528,612 189,371 10,572,463
FERAX Charge for the year 356,463 1,264,702 144,694 57,016 - 1,822,875
PIBRAERNREER  Imparment loss recognised in
(i) profit or loss (note) 41,759 94,653 1935 15 - 138,362
HE Disposals (2,529) (142,129) (47 488) (4,998) = (197,144)
fE AR Exchange adjustments (116,284) (510,869) (57,212) (33,715) (12,561) (730,641)
RZE—RE At 31 December 2016
+-A=+—H 1,890,989 8,059,734 931,452 546,930 176810 11,605,915
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE—R"%F At 31 December 2016
+-A=+—H 9,625,904 15,963,751 1,426,689 936,143 1,831,182 29,783,669
RZZ—1F At 31 December 2015
+-A=+—~H 9,531,358 16,913,903 1,563,135 1,051,752 2536,044  31,59,192
HEtFr 2B ARAEREREEEE Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and

2

it

R=F

—=

HEZZ—"F+A=+—HItFERN"

BEUAEEMNEETEEETER BE
ETHEARMNEERNERYZEEE
BB RAAREES RS D BBORE

Hit - A S EE B ERHRNREBRR
138,362,000/ 7T (=& — R 4 : 141,654,000
BIL) °

—ANF+ZA=t+—HFAEZ

TRENERNEERR7,301,0008 7T (ZF
— R4 :17,107,00087T) °

leasehold improvements.

note:

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors conducted a
review of the Group’s production assets and determined that the assets
of certain subsidiaries were fully impaired because it is expected that
these assets will not generate future benefit to the Group. Accordingly,
impairment loss of HK$138,362,000 (2015: HK$141,654,000) has been
recognised in respect of those fixed assets.

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2016 is
interest capitalised of HK$7,301,000 (2015: HK$17,107,000).
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BHE_Z—RF+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

16. FEHHERKE 16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
—B-R"§ —T—hF
FET FHET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
T ERIE AR Total prepaid lease payments:
FER AR A E i Medium-term leasehold
land in the Chinese
Mainland 2,742,809 2,976,640
B R —FARBRTNRAKIA Less: Amount which will be
(FFAE A FEUGRTEA) charged to profit or
loss within one year
(included in other
receivables) (68,086) (71,189)
2,674,723 2,905,451
TENHEFIEE ST - Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows:
ZB-R"§ —T—hF
FET T
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
FY Balance at beginning of
the year 2,976,640 2,854,401
= Additions 35,466 372,705
F N Release for the year (79,049) (77,006)
EMBENHEFIBEN &R Surplus on revaluation of
prepaid lease payments - 3,507
S BIEMZE (iE17) Transfer to investment
properties (Note 17) - (13,425)
EERAREEE Impairment loss recognised (4,864) =
VE W% Exchange adjustments (185,384) (163,542)
FRE Balance at end of the year 2,742,809 2,976,640

A EFIAE HNE RN NI5FE0F

T

FRRRERBR AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The lease terms over which the prepaid lease payments are

amortised ranged from 35 to 50 years.
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17. BEWY*

BHE_ZT-RFTA=1T—"HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2016

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ZE-RF —ZE-IF
FET FAT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000

FUER Balance at beginning of

the year 108,346 91,000
ER A BEMNAENE (Htle) Transfer from prepaid lease

payments (Note 16) - 13,425
NEEBEES Change in fair value 5,000 4,000
PE o, 2 Exchange adjustments (847) (79)
FREH Balance at end of the year 112,499 108,346

AR BB ERARA AREE SR
BmiEERERD RO BRIREYE
WAREMEATR

REERBERFPEAAMHEFERED
E-RRBEBZYEMS KT —A
F+A=F+—HEZZE—HF+=H
=+ —HRRFEETIRR R AR EE
MEENE Y & BB GERMEERT
BRARNARH PR HEZESC

RFHEETIRETISHELBOLERE - N
SERNEEFRERAZGBETEHES
o

All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land held under operating
leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The Group held investment properties in both Hong Kong and
Chinese Mainland. For the property located in Hong Kong, the fair
value as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective
dates by DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited (formerly known as
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the market sales
comparable approach. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in the prior year.
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BE_ZT—RE+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

17. REWME »)
WESZE LN AT EES SSRE
EE YL AR B R -

R_ZE—RNFE+-_A=+—HBEK-Z—TF
F+-A=1+—8 AEEREWENT
BREBAFEBESEANEREHIIT

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the property is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015 are as follows:

AFEE

Fair value
—E—RF —E—hF
FET FHEIT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000

DERE_RNIRENE Investment properties

classified as Level 2 112,499 108,346

RER WEBE _RPEAREL -

ERRRERBRAE
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the year.
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BE_—=

NEF+—A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

18. B EE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BmE RUERE Mt
FET FET FET
Goodwill Mining rights Total
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2 COST
RZE—RF At 1 January 2015

—HA—H 1,316,123 1,201,070 2,517,193
NE Additions - 280,555 280,555
U B B BB R ) Acquisition of subsidiaries 3,686 = 3,686
(ER RS Exchange adjustments (28,773) (70,152) (98,925)
R-ZE—RHF At 31 December 2015

+—A=+—H 1,291,036 1,411,473 2,702,509
NE Additions - 45511 45511
(ER RS Exchange adjustments (30,348) (89,547) (119,895)
RZE—RF At 31 December 2016

+—A=+—H 1,260,688 1,367,437 2,628,125
E-Sg: £ ACCUMULATED

AMORTISATION

RZE—RHF At 1 January 2015

—H—H - 244 848 244 848
FERY Charge for the year = 80,846 80,846
ME 5 A Exchange adjustments - (17,688) (17,688)
R-ZE—HF At 31 December 2015

+—A=+—H = 308,006 308,006
FERY Charge for the year = 79,503 79,503
ME 5 A Exchange adjustments - (23,068) (23,068)

ATE—RE At 31 December 2016

+=-—HA=+—H - 364,441 364,441
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZE—RF At 31 December 2016

+—-—HA=+—H 1,260,688 1,002,996 2,263,684
RZE—RF At 31 December 2015

+=—A=+—8H 1,291,036 1,103,467 2,394,503

PR HE 1O A 8 3 4 B 10105 25045 1

o

The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.
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3=y

-y

9.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

723 R (BRI B

EEETHRATEEAEEHENASE
EENREFERE-

BETRENR AEBESREAKE
TSI ROR R & D EPAKRIIR S
EESMHE pEEEREEMNKENE
BRIMBESELEMNANBHEERES
Al A1,214,604,0008 7T (T —HEF:
1,242,942,0007% 7t ) 146,084,000/ 7T (=
T—F4F 1 48 094,000/ 7T ) °

AEERKEN R LIRS EAEBMAR
Ak ESREIREREEREET  WRE
EREAENMEEERIRRSRES
PR REEIRIS% (ZB—R4F 9% ) H)IE
REN8% (ZZT—F 4 :8% ) MR KT
B REDEN TERRBAEE
TEBBRTENTHRPERE - AF
HEMNRESREFATHRRGHE 1E
FREENEERINBEENE ZE
FRIZBUMBTERRREEBYHMISE
EOTESHMEBTE

EEERRE  ZERRMAERAEANR
BERAME B TSR SORRE L 72 7Y
ARE AR EB A E A i 485 -

FRRRERBR AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

19.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

The management regularly determines if there is impairment of
any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement
operating segment and concrete operating segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs
of cement and concrete operations are HK$1,214,604,000
(2015: HK$1,242,942,000) and HK$46,084,000 (2015:
HK$48,094,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement and
concrete operations have been determined based on the value in
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the management covering a
five-year period with growth rate of 5% (2015: 9%), and discount
rate of 8% (2015: 8%). This growth rate is based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows beyond the
five year period are extrapolated using zero growth rate. The key
assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the unit's past performance
and management’s expectations for the market development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of cement and concrete segments to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete segments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

ANAF B AR EERMEERE
RAR ([R#EZERDN=_E—RFNA
T= BB ER RN =TS —AF
TZANBRIIHR R AR ERRE
EACEBEMEEBR AR ([ZERKEE
M1 AR AZEEMOEEVEEERA
A)EE - IRE S AREANRSRE
KRB EE & H ARME2,271,906,400
7T (FE 12,759,374 00087T) X5 E
R-_T—AF+-F+RHAZENK kit
1% ERKRENM A A SEHE A 0% E S
K bR B R AR A B0 % M 2k o

AREE - BRI R EE ErRBEM
KEEER B EEFENRHER"
17 % P B /88 1E A3250,264,000/8 7T °

FEEMIRERA BN IRR S A RIPTELS
HIREB485E1,164,789,0008 T (= E—H
£+ 1,495,269,000/% 7T)

20. RBtERNTINER 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-RE —E-RF
FET TAT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
IE T - FRAKAS Unlisted shares, at cost 5,619,482 5,619,482
P& 5 A Exchange adjustments (423,179) (119,826)
Wi 1e G AR KA M2 E A RS Share of post-acquisition
profits and other
comprehensive income,
net of dividends 16,689 120,486
5,212,992 5,620,142

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a capital increase
and subscription agreement on 13 September 2015 and a
supplemental agreement on 9 December 2015 with Kunming
Iron & Steel Holding Co., Ltd. (“KISC”) in relation to the capital
contribution in Yunnan Cement & Building Materials Group
Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Cement & Building Materials”) and formerly
known as Yunnan Kunming lron & Steel Building Materials
Group Co., Ltd. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group shall
inject in aggregate of RMB2,271,906,400 (equivalent to
HK$2,759,374,000) to Yunnan Cement & Building Materials in
cash. The transaction was completed on 15 December 2015 and
thereafter, Yunnan Cement & Building Materials has been owned
as to 50% by the Group and 50% by KISC.

During the current year, the identification and determination of fair
value of the identifiable net assets of Yunnan Cement & Building
Materials and intangible assets have been completed and goodwill
was determined to be HK$250,264,000.

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill with a total
amount of HK$1,164,789,000 (2015: HK$1,495,269,000) arising
on acquisitions of associates.

—E—REER
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HE_Z—NF+_-_A=1+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016
20. REAE LTI RER (&) 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

AEBETEBENRFELT

Details of the Group’s principal associates are as follows:

rEEER
ERTRAEE
BRTREE EER
BenrrRaRn AR B S i B BA/EREE I EL B TEEK
“B-RE ZE-hf
Proportion of
Issued and nominal value
fully paid of issued share/
Place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of associate incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2016 2015

REEELNH ] R EIA AR #600,000,0007T 40.6% 40.6% KREEEREE

BRAT
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Chinese RMB600,000,000 40.6% 40.6% Manufacture and sale of

Cement Co., Ltd. Mainland cement
BREREM (BR)ER  PEAM AR®329411,7007T 49% 49%  KERERIMEERHEE

YN
Fujian Building Material Chinese RMB329,411,700 49% 49% Manufacture and sale of

(Holdings) Company Mainland cement and concrete

Limited
ZRKRENEERR FEI A AR#1,321,220,0007T 50% 50% KEEEREE

NG
Yunnan Cement & Building ~ Chinese RMB1,321,220,000 50% 50% Manufacture and sale of

Materials Group Co., Ltd. Mainland

EERHLRINBHAREEBE QT

cement

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the

HFEXEBEEX AN ARENE opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year

EFEREEEM - Sy Al QA EH or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

FHEERRITE - details of other associates would result in particulars of excessive
length.

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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21.

REBEQATNER (&

EERA ARERBZE QR 2 A ER
AEEME /S TEXN - BREAKEEGZ
FHEANRNER LM EEB AN S G
MBENERGAEEEKER

HE_Z—R"FT+-A=t—HILFE

20.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group are
all individually not material to the Group. Aggregate financial
information in respect of the Group’s shares of these associates’
results and other comprehensive income are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

REEQXTHNER 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E—RHF —T—AF
FET TAT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
REERRIMIEETREKAR Cost of unlisted investments
in joint ventures 1,149,369 1,150,381
PE 5 Exchange adjustments (67,848) (1,852)
B ER N EFIRRE Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividends 402,750 394,360
1,484,271 1,542,889

R-T—AR"E+_A=+—8 4427
WA AP BIERRES S QR E
A 141,235,000 7T ( —B—h4F:
141,235,000/ 7T) °

As at 31 December 2016, included in the cost of investment
in joint ventures is goodwill of HK$141,235,000 (2015:
HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures.
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HE_Z—NF+_-_A=1+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016
21. REE LTI RES 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

AEEFEESEERRIMFIBLOT: Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures are as follows:

ERTEERAE/ FEEBFCROROEE

RENTER LA B 3L B &R & A Bt TBER
—E-XE —T-RF
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value
of issued of issued share/
Place of ordinary shares/ registered capital
Name of joint venture incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2016 2015
HE AR ER AR BRE 26,290 7T 50% 50% KERERTIEREER
HE
China Century Cement Bermuda US$26,290 50% 50% Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement and concrete
products
AIEKEBRAF B 10,000/ 7T 50% 50% KREEREE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 50% 50% Manufacture and sale of
cement
BEERA LRI AEENEGE QT The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
HFEEEREEXES BN ARENE the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the
EFEREZEE D o #I B S S A TR year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
FiEednItRe To give details of other joint ventures would result in particulars of

excessive length.

EERR ARENABEEE R NERR In the opinion of the Directors, all the joint ventures of the Group
TER BENEEELZEEERFN are individually not material. Aggregate financial information in
¥ENMEMEEBANEHISER SR respect of the Group’s share of these joint ventures’ results and
reEEEREE other comprehensive income are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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(BE) RERAFREANES -

=
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E_T-RETA=THILFE

22. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the year ended 31 December 2016

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the year.

REME —RPERL
MEHE EBEHE ALEE BEFE BHEQAN
wE ATEEHRE 28 REM AREF @t
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Change Distributable
Fair value in fair profits of
Accelerated  adjustments value of Tax a Chinese
tax  on business investment losses Mainland
depreciation  combinations properties and others associate Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ—AF—H—H Atllanuary 2015 (21,666) (63,628) (12,014) 104,252 (19,908) (12,964)
AEE (MK)TA  (Charge) credit for the year
(hiit11) (Note 11) (1,290) 1,789 (660) 274,421 6,883 281,148
fE A% Exchange adjustments = 3967 = (13,643) 2,369 (7,307)
R-ZE—R% At 31 December 2015
+ZA=1+—H (22,956) (57,872) (12,674) 365,030 (10,651) 260,877
AEE (MK)EEA  (Charge) credit for the year
(Hr#t11) (Note 11) (2,602) 2970 (825) (14,001) 1,890 (12,658)
EH AR Exchange adjustments = 3,860 = (25,414) 640 (20,914)
RZZ—R"%F At 31 December 2016
+-A=+—-H (25,558) (51,042) (13,499) 325,525 (8,121) 227,305
ZB-RE —"T-hF
FET FHET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
FIEFIEE E Deferred tax assets 325,525 365,030
EIERIARE Deferred tax liabilities (98,220) (104,153)
227,305 260,877
RZZE—RFF+ZA=+—RH &% As at 31 December 2016, the Group has unused tax losses of

EaHEERRBAO R A IE
&5 18 53,682,858,000& T (—E—H
4 :3,140,949,0008 70) Lz &
#81,302,100,000/ 7L (ZF — A F :
1,460,121,0007% 1) B ERIEEFH B E
EE ° #R T Ay R4 IE E5 182,380, 758,000/% 7T
(== — 74 :1,680,828,000/ 7T ) B 7
R B F R A TR - I 4= TR A A
FEFRIBEE ;T AKRERTEE B
HYE518764,751,0008 7L (— T — A & -
579,483,000/ 7T ) i B EEEFERE A
NIEIE o E At JE5 15 A B PR ER AL

HK$3,682,858,000 (2015: HK$3,140,949,000) available to offset
against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of HK$1,302,100,000 (2015: HK$1,460,121,000)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$2,380,758,000
(2015: HK$1,680,828,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$764,751,000 (2015: HK$579,483,000) which will expire
within 5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may be

carried forward indefinitely.
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BHE_ZT—F+_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

23. RHEEWKFIE 23. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES

AL —T—hF

FET FHETT

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

REH) At the beginning of the year 745,453 745,154

FABK Advances during the year 136,871 54,493

FERER Repayment during the year (364,150) (10,689)

PE WA E Exchange adjustments (47,535) (43,505)

470,639 745,453

J - —FEAE AR FIR Less: Amount due within one
(T AE M EURIR) year (included in

other receivables) (29,738) (83,338)

RER At the end of the year 440,901 662,115
2T T R B IR T LA R AN R ) The advances were made to the local governments in Chinese
ML HhEE R AR E R 2R AE Mainland mainly to facilitate the transfer of land to the Group for
IR BB A RIBITEE IR T SE construction of production lines. The advances were unsecured
BERIEE B . and carried interest at the prevailing market borrowing rates

determined by The People’s Bank of China.

24. & 24. INVENTORIES

—E—RF —E—AF
FET T T
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000

R K SE FE S Raw materials and
consumables 1,210,989 971,156
ERS Work in progress 395,601 305,830
BURY fh Finished goods 336,892 287,926
1,943,482 1,564,912

‘I 86 EHKRIERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BE_ZT—RNFE+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

FEREZSEREFEEMAEW 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

R IE RECEIVABLES
—B-X"E —"T-AF
F#&xT FAET
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE=FHNE SRR Trade receivables from
third parties 2,429,967 2,184,649
MR EA TR E HERK Trade receivables from
related parties 4,223 9,421
2,434,190 2,194,070
AEBBRTERFBETNBEA T The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period of O to
0FE60H M= EHIRBUR - 60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its customers.
AT RRE IS ARRIEREE A YR The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
FEUE SRR (HBR RIZAREIR) AR IR allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice date
e at the end of each reporting period.
—E—RE —ZT—hF
F#&xT T
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
0£90H 0to 90 days 2,210,025 1,898,456
912180H 91 to 180 days 125,778 128,173
181%365H 181 to 365 days 98,387 167,441
2,434,190 2,194,070
BHERBENERE SRRV ERR Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
—F-R"E —F-IF
F#&T T
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
#HI1Z£90H Past due 1 to 90 days 259,194 338,416
#HE91E180H Past due 91 to 180 days 124,666 125,977
#HA181%365H Past due 181 to 365 days 95,900 162,009
479,760 626,402
NE BN E B Z SR SR A (AR The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances which
an are past due.

:g_; &
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—E—RF+_A=+—HILFEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

25. EWE SRR HAMmEI 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
I8 (@) RECEIVABLES (continued)
REREENES Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-RE —HF
FExT FET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
FYEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 259,325 144,228
RIZR (fBEED) HE (Reversal of) allowance
for doubtful debts (21,964) 124,502
FREWFRIE Amounts recovered
during the year - 698
HH 58 1S BT U 21 R IE Amount written off
as uncollectible (132) (497)
TE 8 Exchange adjustments (15,574) (9,606)
FREH Balance at end of the year 221,655 259,325
EETEWE SRR AT UL EI R - R E In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group
EezESrEKESRRNEEEE A considers the credit quality of individual trade receivable. The
REFPEMBEX WEESETRKRNEE concentration risk of credit is limited due to the customer base
BIR o Et - HAELE—PHEEK - being large. Accordingly, no further allowance is required.
AEEBR-_ZTE—AR"F+_A=+— Included in the Group’s other receivables as at 31 December
AMEMmERRBERBREBENRK 2016 are prepayment and deposits of HK$62,501,000 (2015:
5] 462,501,000/ T (=& —ﬁi 3 HK$74,323,000), deposits paid to suppliers of raw materials
74,323,000/8 7T) BN B M ﬂf of HK$300,481,000 (2015: HK$504,009,000), bond issuance
P HY 3] £300,481,0007 7T (= ﬁ expenses of HK$66,420,000 (2015: HK$50,275,000), value-
£ : 504,009,000 7T ) ﬁ%%?é‘ﬁ =y added tax and other tax recoverable of HK$267,260,000 (2015:
66,420,000 L (ZE — A F: HK$268,187,000) and current portion of long term receivables of
50,275,000/ 7T ) ~ 3 E B & H b 7T Uk HK$29,738,000 (2015: HK$83,338,000).
6] # 76267,260,000/8 70 (=T — A F :
268,187,0007% 7T ) I & HA FE W R IE A9 A
i #(1929,738,0008 T (— & — R F:
83,338,000/& 7T ) °
26. FEUNEEE N R RIE 26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES
FE Y B & N Bl IR B IR E R B Included in the amounts due from associates are dividends
23,602,000/ 7t (—Z & — A F : 27,290,000 receivable in the amount of HK$23,602,000 (2015:
BIT)  8REE463,159,0008 T (ZE—F HK$27,290,000). The remaining amount of HK$463,159,000
F 1 245,832 00078 70) T /AR Tt B (2015: HK$245,832,000) is unsecured, non-interest bearing and

EHKRIERER AR
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HE_Z—R"FT+-A=t—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2016

27. BEREE NTEIRE 27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES
—E—RE —E—hF

FBT FHET

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

JEE K On demand 10,929 72,121
RAEARR Within six months - 44,027

10,929 116,148

FEW & &R RIFIAREER  LRITHIS
fEERN RS - E2F10,708000/87T (=
T—RF:27130008 ) N REERE
B B R B FORRRSN

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, bear interest
at prevailing market borrowing rates except for an amount of
HK$10,708,000 (2015: HK$2,713,000) which is repayable on
demand, unsecured and non-interest bearing.

28. EEHIRITER 28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

—B-R"f CZT0F
FET FA&IT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
e ED Non-current 32,368 24,729
mEh Current 1,461 17,091
33,829 41,820

—E-NFEER
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BE_ZT—RE+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

29. e RBITHEER 29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
AR & MERITAERAMIART S R B B8R Included in cash and bank balances are the following amounts
BEEM AN B RS FHER IR T © denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of

the entity to which they are related.

—E—RE —ET—RF

FBT FHET

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 361,708 458,077
ETT Us$ 77,367 993

—E—XRF —T—FHEF

2016 2015
% %
RITHE SR F R R & [E] Range of interest rates of
the bank balances
(per annum) 0.01 -6.70 0.01-5.50

30. EHESERFEEMAE 30. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

MIE
—E—RF —ZT—RHF
F&xT T
2016 2015
HK$’'000 HK$'000
JENE=ZTNEHER Trade payables to third

parties 3,140,406 3,081,323

JERRE:EA THE SR Trade payables to related
parties 5,374 8,445
3,145,780 3,089,768

‘I 90 EHKRIERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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30.

31.

=k Z

BE_T-—R"FET-_A=T—HLLFE

BNEZERAREMEN 30,

o -
FIE (')

AEEBEBREHEARGIOE0REE
He LT RRERERRREBEEZ AT
TREOENT B B RRR AR ER DA

For the year ended 31 December 2016

TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days from
its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting
period.

—E-XRE —E—RF

FET FET

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

0290H 0to 90 days 3,055,602 2,993,037
912180H 91 to 180 days 45,960 40,674
181%&365H 181 to 365 days 27,688 26,765
HB3B365H Over 365 days 16,530 29,292
3,145,780 3,089,768

AREBR-_ZT—XR"Ft+-_A=+—
HREMENRERBERMNESR
PR ARIE RS E E B E R RIE
1,010,001,000 L (=T — A F

1,428 604,000/ 7T) - Y HEHIE A 7] - b
AR RE & A AR FEFT K {B418939,000
BIL(ZZF — A F 447,101,000
JL) R B EF K E]£705,760,000/5
T (=T —R%F:714,716,0008 T) *

JE < & 5t T &495,293,0008 7T ( — &
— F 4 : 698,061,000/ 7T ) - K B 14
JE 7 B9 1R 35 £373,307,00008 T (=&
— T4 : 407,048,000 7T ) - FE AT fE A
B 8 7K IE422 8740008 T (—E—H
£ : 334,954,000 7T ) & H fth & {5 ¢
18456,127,0008 L (Z T — A F:

432,430,000/ 7T )

ENEEZRQARE

S A SEE RN ARERERE -

31.

Included in the Group's other payables as at 31 December
2016 are payables to constructors and for the acquisition of
fixed assets of HK$1,010,001,000 (2015: HK$1,428,604,000),
consideration payables for acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures of HK$418,939,000 (2015:
HK$447,101,000), deposits from customers of HK$705,760,000
(2015: HK$714,716,000), accrued wages payables of
HK$495,293,000 (2015: HK$698,061,000), guarantee deposits
from suppliers of HK$373,307,000 (2015: HK$407,048,000),
accrued transportation payable of HK$422,874,000 (2015:
HK$334,954,000) and other tax payables of HK$456,127,000
(2015: HK$432,430,000).

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amount was unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

—E—REER
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32.

33.

HBEEFERER -E
HIm & %

R-ZZB-RFALARB ARRET
EREHRES A2RBEAARE
500,000,0007T ( 18 % 17 X9558,965,0007%
TT) EHEHIRESAEER REF
2.96%. REME5TB M AR R365H °

EIRAE S

R_ZTE——F+ARB ARERESF
EE9.75%M EEBHITACBER
400,000,000 7T (4855 743,102,032,0007
o) MERSRELES ([EF]) -EF
BREBEBF2125%t 8 BEELH—
R WR—E—tF+ARRARE-BEH
AR

BRESFNAE RN BNRE HERR
TAERRRERDITELN A HHEE
RERERR RIFEMCBEXCER
Kaxih BRAIAEESN _T—tF1+A
HEREASENI0%ELEES - N _F
—tFt AR BRMEARRE &5 H
AEBREBIRE RS FEMI0%ZEH (1
FEED) BEEREEE D B e RS
(FtEE=EE B (ENeHEZB) L)
ek

Son

FERRRERER A

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

32.

33.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

OTHER UNSECURED SHORT TERM DEBT
— COMMERCIAL PAPER

On 5 September 2016, the Company issued commercial paper in
the aggregate principal amount of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$558,965,000). The commercial paper is
unsecured, bears coupon interest rate at 2.96% per annum for a
term of 365 days.

UNSECURED BONDS

On 5 October 2012, the Company issued credit enhanced senior
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of US$400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$3,102,032,000) at an offer price of 99.75%
of the face value of the bonds (the “Bonds”). The Bonds bear
coupon interest at the rate of 2.125% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and are due on 5 October 2017. The Bonds
are unsecured.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds are
covered by an irrevocable standby letter of credit issued by DBS
Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch. Unless previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Group will redeem the Bonds at
100% of its principal amount on 5 October 2017. At any time
prior to 5 October 2017, the Bonds may be redeemed at the
option of the Group in whole, but not in part, at 100% of their
principal amount together with accrued interest (calculated up
to but excluding the date of redemption) on the date fixed for
redemption.
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34. SRITER

E-F-AETZAStALEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016

34. BANK LOANS
—E—RF —E-RF
FET THT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR T BEEENRITER: Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—&FR Within one year 3,229,723 5,226,642
—FREMFR After one year but within
two years 4,197,782 4,158,089
MEZRB=FA After two years but within
three years 3,417,930 6,439,693
10,845,435 15,824,424
JEETAREI B ER —F AR HRFIE Less: Amount due within
one year included in
current liabilities (3,229,723) (5,226,642)
— &I EIRFIE Amount due after one year 7,615,712 10,597,782

BER T

SRBEIRITERAT -

Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as follows:

ZE-RF —T—hEF

FET FET

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

TEBfER Fixed rate borrowings 5,030,685 5,848,787
FRMER Variable rate borrowings 5,814,750 9,975,637
10,845,435 15,824,424

HE—T—Ft+-_A=1+—HItFE-
REBHIRITEZTNERERNRNT1.2%
FA3% (ZB—RF:11%Z45%) °

The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank loans were ranged
from 1.2% to 4.3% per annum for the year ended 31 December

2016 (2015: 1.1% to 4.5%).

—E—REER
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BE_ZT—RE+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2016

34, RITER (&) 34. BANK LOANS (continued)
FIARITERNN S EEE BN E R Included in bank loans are the following amounts denominated
LASNY &M ETHERFIET in currencies other than the functional currency of the respective
group entity:
AL —T—hF
FET FHEIT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 4,300,000 7,500,000
ETT us$ 620,406 1,162,644
4,920,406 8,662,644
REEMARITERE AEER- All of the Group’s bank loans were unsecured.
35. EEAPHRIE 35. UNSECURED MEDIUM TERM NOTES
RZE—RFNALARB KA AETH On 5 September 2016, the Company issued medium term notes
HIZE % - A58 A A R #3,000,000,0007C in the aggregate amount of RMB3,000,000,000 (equivalent to
(HBE 7 #73,353,790,0007 7T ) » R EAZZ I approximately HK$3,353,790,000). The medium term notes are
BEER - IREE35% ZEMmARTER unsecured, bear coupon interest rate at 3.5% per annum for a
HAR AR F - term of five years.
36. A 36. SHARE CAPITAL
%12 2 B k|
T
Number
of shares Amounts
HK$'000
R MEE0.108 LAY & B Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
SETE Authorised:
R-_E—RF—H—H =& At 1 January 2015,
—hFERZZE—R"F+=A 31 December 2015
== and 2016 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETREE: Issued and fully paid:
R—E—RF—HA—HB =& At 1 January 2015,
—hAFERZZE—RF+=A 31 December 2015
=+—H and 2016 6,532,937,817 653,294
‘I 94 EHKRIERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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37.

38.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
for both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes commercial paper disclosed in Note 32, unsecured
bonds in Note 33, the bank loans in Note 34, medium term notes
in Note 35 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Company reviews the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associates with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management,
the Group will balance its overall structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

—B-X"E CTAF

F#&xT FHIT
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
TS N R ERNRITEREE Guarantees given to banks,
i (Al ER1T 4% HH B AR in respect of banking
facilities granted to
associates
—EReR — amount guaranteed 1,916,903 652,367
—EBAEHE — amount utilised 1,850,372 633,229

FERA BIRNEL B0 AT EEY
TEA

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the guarantees at
grant dates were not significant.

—E—REER
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39.

Z—XNF+-_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

REE YR

AEEEREBEA

39.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessor
At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted

for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases:

—E—RE —ET—RF

FE&xT FET

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FE AR Within one year 13,353 17,228
F_FEFAF (BEEERSE) In the second to fifth year

inclusive 1,072 16,779

14,425 34,007

REMFCRETREBEESRLE T

RAL RERERHIR—F-

AEBEEREBA

REREHR  NEBRIBE T ATHEHNL
BB REITAERR THIHIRERH -

The investment properties have been rented to outside parties at
fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy of less than
one year.

The Group as lessee
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding

commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

=B-R"E C—F-IF
THET TFET
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
—F LA Within one year 37,463 72,581
F_FEEERAF (BEEEME) In the second to
fifth year inclusive 54,881 104,764
HBREAF Over five years 100,861 115,443
193,205 292,788
AR 75 A - Represented by:
T R EEY) Land and buildings 181,398 246,107
RE Motor vehicles 11,807 46,681
193,205 292,788

RERHENRFIRER=F-

FRRRERER AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of three years.



O M IR 51
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REE

B E N R EE B EMN SR E IR

BE_Z—RFE+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed assets

RBITHOE AT : outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
ZB-RE —"T-0F
FET FAT
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI KB R EE Contracted but not
provided for 2,369,414 3,452,737

THMTH

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRMIAENER Categories of financial instruments
—E—REF —T—RF
FHET FAET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
ERMERFIE (BIERERRESEEY) Loans and receivables
(including cash and
cash equivalents) 6,595,032 5,308,321

TRAE

CREREENEERBE

AEENIETHEENBEREREE
RN E M RUGRIE - U & A B
B ERAEERRFIER RERESR B
EWRITER Re RRITER BHE
FERNEMENIR  BAERERD
AIFOR - EEES  RHRE S IR
B SRITER M E MR IAEN IR -2 F
SR T AMFIEE AN AR - &
%5 & BT AR R R M AR L
RERHNBEREN T - EREEE R
ZE R - ARECRAE N B U SREUE &
R

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 22,810,263 24,354,302

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from joint ventures, long term receivables, pledged bank deposits,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables, amount due
to immediate holding company, unsecured bonds, commercial
paper, medium term notes, bank loans and other long-term
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies about how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

—E—REER
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REHERERPELNPEARRTE
EN KRS -

BB
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M A= £ F+ /T BEBO{E E 24 i AT A H At
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FRRRERER AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Z—XNF+-_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
commercial paper, unsecured bonds, fixed-rate bank loans and
medium term notes (see Notes 32, 33, 34 and 35 for details).
The Group aims at keeping as much of its borrowings at variable
rates as possible. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate long term receivables, amounts due from joint
ventures and bank loans (see Notes 23, 27 and 34 for details). It
is the Group’s policy to maximise its borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates risk on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the
Group’s Hong Kong dollar and to a much lesser extent, People’s
Bank of China Base Rate arising from Renminbi denominated
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans outstanding
at the end of each of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
ended 31 December 2016 would be decreased/increased by
approximately HK$23,896,000 (2015: HK$41,344,000).
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NE+ZA=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the
bank balances, unsecured bonds, and bank loans which are
denominated in the currencies other than the functional currency
of the entity to which they are related (see Notes 29, 33 and 34
for details). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However,
management monitors the related foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for a
5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the RMB strengthens
5% against HK$ and US$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
HK$ and US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax profit.

—E-REF —ET—RF
F#&xT T
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
W AREHETHE if RMB strengthens
against HK$ 172,355 337,729
AR S ETHE if RMB strengthens
against US$ 174,741 204,406
—E-REFH

Annual Report 2016
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group’'s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position, while the Group'’s
maximum exposure to credit risk due to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
Note 38. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has formulated a defined credit policy and delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable regularly
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
also regularly monitors the operating cash flows of the Group
to meet its liquidity requirements in short and long term. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. As at 31 December
2016, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of
approximately HK$8,606,674,000 (2015: HK$12,244,155,000) to
meet the Group’s future expansion and satisfy its existing liabilities.
The management is also in the process of negotiating with the
banks to refinance its short term banking facilities to long term.
In addition, the Company has an intra-group lending agreement
among companies of the China Resources Group whereby
borrowings may be made which will be guaranteed by its ultimate
holding company.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

—E—REER
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BE_ZT—F+_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

41. @ T R (®) 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
cREARSENEEREE (B) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
HEELERE (F) Liquidity risk (Continued)

B & £ R F 7 2 2 Liquidity and interest risk tables
—FH0E MENLE  GHRRR
TF = —£x EFEBME (ETRERE RERELE REE
% TET TAL FHL FHL THL
More than More than Total
1 year but 2 years but contractual
Average Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ—7"%+=-H Asat31 December 2016
=t-H
B E SRR Trade payables - 3,145,780 - - 3,145,780 3,145,780
Hi MR Other payables - 1,804,261 - - 1,804,261 1,804,261
BITER Bank loans
—ZEH & — Variable rate 2.0 2950811 632,510 2,344,871 5,928,192 5,814,750
—EERH= — Fixed rate 40 348,850 3,721,067 1,162,834 5,232,751 5,030,685
EHWES Unsecured bonds 2.1 3,153,286 = = 3,153,286 3,102,032
RHRES Commercial paper 30 570,207 - - 570,207 558,965
hHIEE Medium term notes Bl 117,383 117,383 3,608,310 3,903,076 3,353,790
12,090,578 4,470,960 7,176,015 23,737,553 22,810,263
RZF—hE As at 31 December 2015
+-A=+—H
EREZER Trade payables = 3,089,768 = = 3,089,768 3,089,768
HibENFR Other payables - 2,284,770 - - 2,284,770 2,284,770
ENEREZKAR  Amount due to immediate
A holding company = 54,956 = = 54,956 54,956
BITER Bank loans
—FEH % — Variable rate 19 3,623,618 3,872,737 2,670,229 10,166,584 9,975,637
—EEH= — Fixed rate 40 1,738,249 372,482 3973,141 6,083,872 5,848,787
EEAES Unsecured bonds 2.1 67,472 3,151,611 - 3,219,083 3,100,384
10,858,833 7,396,830 6,643,370 24,899,033 24,354,302
202 EHKRIERER AR
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42.

43.

44.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2016, an amount of HK$1,010,001,000
(2015: HK$1,428,604,000) for the construction and acquisition of
fixed assets was outstanding and included in other payables.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@ Apart from the transactions and the balances with related
parties disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group also entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year:

—E—REF —E—RF

FET FHET
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
mETHENAHESE R Sale of goods to certain
associates 2,233,222 2,071,688
mAETRRAMBAFRESESR Purchase of goods from
certain fellow subsidiaries 20,105 21,932
mETRRNBRRREE N Purchase of electricity from
certain fellow subsidiaries 178,332 -
T -REER
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

On 30 December 2015, the Company entered into
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”), pursuant to which,
CR Bank shall provide general banking services including
deposit and other financial services to the Group. The
term of the strategic cooperation agreement was two years
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017. As at 31
December 2016, the Group had aggregate balance of
deposits of HK$528,821,000 (2015: HK$127,683,000)
with CR Bank.

On 20 August 2015, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with a holding company for an amount of
RMB2,000,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,387,260,000)
lent to the Group. The amount was unsecured, interest
bearing ranging from 3.3% to 4.4% per annum and
repaid on 20 October 2015.

In 2015, the Group acquired two office premises from
a fellow subsidiary at the aggregate consideration of
RMB57,654,800 (equivalent to HK$73,048,000).

The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation to them is disclosed in
Note 9.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material interest
at any time during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

()

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CRNC, which is controlled by the government of
the Chinese Mainland. Apart from the transactions with
the parent company and its subsidiaries which have been
disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group also conducts businesses with
entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the Chinese
Mainland government (“stated-controlled entities”) in the
ordinary course of business. The directors consider those
entities other than the CRNC group are independent third
parties as far as the Group’s business transactions with
them are concerned. In establishing its pricing strategies
and approval process for transactions with other state-
controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counter-party is a state-controlled entity or
not. The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure
of related party transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has bank balances deposited in and entered
into various transactions, including sales, purchases,
borrowings and other operating expenses, with other state-
controlled entities during the year in which the directors
are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the
identity of the controlling parties of these counterparties
and accordingly whether the counterparties are state-
controlled entities.

—E—REER
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45.

Z—XNF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September
2009. The share award scheme does not constitute a share
option scheme pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
is a discretionary scheme of the Company. The purpose of the
share award scheme is to recognise the contributions of officers
and employees of our Group, excluding any Director, towards the
development of our Group in the past or as incentives to selected
grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our Group and
to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable
growth and development of our Group. The share award scheme
is effective for a term of 10 years until 2 September 2019 unless
terminated at the discretion of the Board at an earlier date.

Pursuant to the share award scheme, a trust has been set up
and BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as
the trustee. The trustee may purchase Shares from the public
market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to
time. The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the
share award scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all issued shares
of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares which may be
awarded to a selected grantee under the share award scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Shares purchased under the share award scheme will be held
in trust for the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in
accordance with the provisions of the rules relating to the share
award scheme. There were 160,000,000 Shares acquired under
the share award scheme at the cost of HK$3.9 per share, which
was funded by the Company, in October 2009.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the
share award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and
such that payments under the Scheme will be made in form of
cash rather than Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company
can utilise the proceeds generated from the disposal of the Shares
purchased and held by the trustee for awards to be made under
the Scheme. Grantees do not have any right to the Shares.

In 2016, 55,316,000 Shares were disposed of (2015: nil) realizing
net proceeds of approximately HK$166,756,000 (2015: nil)
and total cash payments of approximately HK$166,199,000
(2015: nil) were vested upon 288 eligible employees (2015: nil).
As at 31 December 2016, the trustee held 35,176,000 (2015:
90,492,000) Shares, representing approximately 0.538% (2015:
1.385%) of the issued Shares, and cash of HK$65,920,000
(2015: HK$63,294,000) on trust under the Scheme.
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2016 and 2015 are as follows:

BETR ARFBE
WEAREHE T AR S 3t 2 HERA/EMER FAEERNLA FTEER
ZE-RE “Z-F1F
¢4 i E# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERKE(BI)BRARY R AR #520,750,0007T - 96.4% - %4%  KELEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited? cement
ZHKE (RR)BRAR? HE Ak AR #280,000,0007T - 72% - 72%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd# cement
ERKR (Frus) 5B A=Y HRE N, 15,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” cement
ERKE (FIL)BRAR B i AR #280,000,0007T - 72% = 7%  KRAEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited® cement
EBIF (GF) BRAFY I 20596130057 - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$205,961,300 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” cement
ERKE(BI)BRRRY HE A 255,560,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$255,560,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited®” cement
ERKR (BH)BRARY B i 55,104,000% 70 - 100% = 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited™ cement
EBKE (BE)ERARY R AR #230,000,0007T - 100% - 974% KREEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heqing) Limited? cement
ZRKE (BN ERARTY HE A 70,500,000 5 - 100% - 100% KEREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$70,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” cement
ZHKR I ERARY R 120,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$120,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
—E-REFH
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46. T EWEB A T (&)

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER T AR S 3t 2 HBRRE/EMER FERERMLH FTEEH
“B-RE “T-1%
=¢; 4 B BE A%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ZEKR (D) BRAEY EA AR 280,000,000 - 100% - 100%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jinsha) Limited® cement
ERKE(EI)BRARY HRE N, AR 51,000,000 - 100% = 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited”” cement
RIMEHKEERARY HE N, AR 10,000,000 - 100% = 100%  KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited™” cement
ZRNE(BEER)ERARY PEAL 480,000,000 ¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
EEKE (REER)BBARY  FERM 33,040,000% 1T - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited” cement
ERKE (EE)BRARY HE N, 33,280,000% 7T - 100% = 100%  KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited®” cement
EBKE (BI)ERRR HEIR AR #244,190,0007 - 100% = 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited”” cement
ERKE(BE)BRARY FRERL, 280,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% KREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” cement
ERKE (RE)BRAR HE N, AR #230,000,00070 - 100% = 974% KEEERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Midu) Limited®” cement
ERKE (BE)ERRAY HEIR 55,200,000 7 - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning) Limited”

cement

EHKRIERER AR
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46. T EWEB A T (&) 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER AR S 3t 2 HRRE/EMER FERERMLA FTEEH
ZE-RF —Z-TF
=84 B Bk %
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EBIF (Ti)BRARY BRI AR¥1,080,780,0007C - 100% = 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited” cement
ERKE (EM)BRARY HE A 3,280,000% T - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited” cement
ERKE(LR)BBRARY R AR #415,450,0007C - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB415,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited” cement
ERBK0F OLE) BRARY BRI AR #210,000,0007T - 100% = 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited”” cement
ZHKE(BR)ERARY HE A 270,095,000/ ¢ - 100% - 100% KREEHHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$270,095,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited” cement
ERKE(RE)BRARY R 257,266,000/ 75 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$257,266,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuxuan) Limited®” cement
ERKR (REL)ERARY HEIRH AR H25,000,0007T - 100% = 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhishan) Limited”” cement
EBKE (BE)BRARY REIA 350,000,000 5 - 100% - 100% KREEHHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited®” cement
ERKE GKE)BBRARY R 35,000,000 T - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yongding) Limited®” cement
EHKE (1) ERAAY E R 22,000,000 7% - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
—E-REFH
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46. T EWEB A T (&)

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER T AR S 3t 2 HBRRE/EMER FERERMLH FTEEH
“B-RE “T-1%
=¢; 4 B BE A%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ERKECET)BRARY B A, AR #129,000,0007C - 100% - 100% KEREERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB129,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Zhangping) Limited™” cement
ERKRER(BE)ERAA B 10,000/ 7T 100% - 100% - FEEZFMBLRTRE
China Resources Cement Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in

Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
EEKEREERARY R 1,066,770 3005 5 - 100% - 100% FHESFMERFRE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$1,066,770,300 Holding investments in

Investments Limited”” subsidiaries
ERRRL(BR)BERARY HEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Baise) Limited” concrete
EZEERL (L) ERARY A 32,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETAESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Beihai) Limited” concrete
LREERRL (EILE) A 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE

BRARY
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Beihai Tieshangang) Limited” concrete
ERRRLT (RBLI)BRARY REMNM 24,000,0007% 70 - 100% - 100% RETEESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited”” concrete
ERRRL (REZR)ERARY HENM AR #10,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RETAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Chengmai Laocheng) Limited” concrete
ERREL (KE)EBRARY A 30,000,0007 1T - 100% - 100% RRTAESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Dali) Limited” concrete
EHRELT (FR)BRARY B R, AR 10,000,000 - 100% = 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Dingan) Limited”

FRRRERBR AT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER AR S 3t 2 HRRE/EMER FERERMLA FTEEH
ZE-RF —Z-TF
=84 B Bk %
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

REERYHERLARRAY  PEAK 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Dongguan Fengcheng) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (B ERARY  FEMNY 25,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RETEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
EZRRRL (HA)BRARY R AR #20,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fengkai) Limited” concrete
ZRERL (BIL)BERARY HE Ak 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RRLTEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Foshan) Limited” concrete
EZHREL(BINBRBARY HE A AR 10,000,000 - 100% - 100% RELEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Fuchuan) Limited®” concrete
ZRREL(RE)BRAAY R 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
ZRERL (BAE)BRARY HE Ak 34,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RRLTEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Guangxi) Limited” concrete
EHRRL (B8)BRARY HRE N, 25,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RELEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Guigang) Limited” concrete
ZWERL (ENERARY R 25,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Hezhou) Limited®” concrete
ZRERL (BN)ARARY HE Ak 7,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRLTEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Huizhou) Limited® concrete
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46. T EWEB A T (&) 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER T AR S 3t 2 HBRRE/EMER FERERMLH FTEEH
“B-RE “T-1%
=¢; 4 B BE A%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ERRRLT (I ERARY HEIR 28,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jiangmen) Limited”” concrete
EHREL (BR)BBARY FE A 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELAESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jiedong) Limited” concrete
EZEREL (BH)BRARY A 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jingxi) Limited” concrete
ERRELT (RB)ERAAY HEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Laibin) Limited® concrete
ERRRL (2R)ERARY A 24,000,000 75 - 100% - 100% RETAESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Ledong) Limited” concrete
EZRREL(RI)BRARY HE N, AR 120,000,000 - 100% = 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Lianjiang) Limited® concrete
EHRRL (M) BRAFY HEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEFE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Liuzhou) Limited” concrete
EZEERL OB ERAR? REIA AR #30,000,0007 - 72% - 72% ORBTAESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Lucheng) Limited? concrete
ZEREL (BI)BRARY B A AR 125,000,007 - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Luchuan) Limited”” concrete
ERRERT (BE)ERARY HEIR 24,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Luoding) Limited®

concrete

2‘] 2 FRRRERBR AT
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46. T EWEB A T (&) 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER AR S 3t 2 HRRE/EMER FERERMLA FTEEH
ZE-RF —Z-TF
=84 B Bk %
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ERRRL (X8)BRARY HEIR 24,000,007 7 - 100% = 100% ERTEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Maoming) Limited”’ concrete
HEERABRERIERATY  HENM 20,000,000 75 - 100% - 100% RETEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited” concrete
ZPREL (BE)BRAY R 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning) Limited”” concrete
ERRRLT (BR)ERAAY HEIA 7,200,000 7T - 100% = 100% RRTEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Ningbo) Limited” concrete
EERREL (FN)BRARY HRE N, 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RELEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Qinzhou) Limited” concrete
FMEESERETARARY  REMNK 20,000,000/ 7 - 100% = 100% RRTHEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Qinzhou Legou) Limited”” concrete
ERRRL (BB ERARY HE Ak AR #25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RRLTEEHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Rongxian) Limited”” concrete
FEBERLERARY HE A AR #25,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RELEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Shenzhen) Company Limited” concrete
EZRREL (BX)BRAAY R AR #25,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Suixi) Limited” concrete
ERRERT (BE)ERAAY HEIA 24,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RRTEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Wanning) Limited”” concrete
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46. T EME LT (&) 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER T AR S 3t 2 HBRRE/EMER FERERMLH FTEEH
“B-RE “T-1%
=¢; 4 B BE A%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERRRLT (BM)ERARY HEIR 24,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhou) Limited” concrete
ZRERL (BIL)ERARY FE A 11,500,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELAESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangjiang) Limited” concrete
EZHREL (EM)BBRARY A 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited” concrete
ERRRT CHT)ERARY HEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
ZHRRL (ZE)BBRARY A 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% = 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoqing) Limited” concrete
EZEREL (KE)BRARY A 33,000,0007% 7 - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$33,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhuhai) Limited® concrete
EERTIORBIER AR AR Bk 150,000,0003 75 - 100% - 100% kKEES
China Resources Dongguan Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement
Cement Manufactory Holdings
Limited
RRERERLERARY RE N, 25,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETAEEHEE
China Resources Dongguan Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Co., Limited?” concrete
ERRRIBER(BR)ERAR BA 2% - 100% = 100% HENBRARE
(AT BBRERAR)
China Resources Environmental Hong Kong HK$2 Holding investments in
Protection Engineering Holdings subsidiaries

(Hong Kong) Limited (formerly
known as Redland Shotcrete
Limited)

ERRRERBRAE
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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46. T EWEB A T (&) 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BETR LONGIESZ ]
WEARER AR S 3t 2 HRRE/EMER FiERER LAl FTEEH
ZE-RF —Z-TF
=84 B Bk %
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ERRRIRE (BR)ARARY  HEAM ARH50,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  RERELR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental Protection

Protection Engineering Engineering

(Binyang) Limited”
REEBKEBRERARY HE A 199,000,0007% 1T - 100% - 100%  KREEEHE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Manufactory Co. Ltd.” cement
HEERAR B 28T - 100% = 100% #HE0E
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
BIEERZRRLAERARY  RENK 3,500,000% 7 - 100% = 100% RRTEEREE
Foshan China Resources Chinese Mainland US$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of

Shunan Concrete Limited” concrete
SERERAA B 28T - 100% = 100% HENE
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
ERERIATKEEBR R FEIA AR 200,000,000 - 95.8% - B8%  IKEEEEHEE
Guangxi China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd. cement
ARERRBEERLARARY A 24,000,000 T - 100% - 100% RRLEEHEE
Heyuan China Resources Huida Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited” concrete
MREBBRERTAERAAY  REMN AR %22,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RRTAESEE
Heyuan China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Pengyuan Concrete Limited”” concrete
EMEEEMERARY FEIA 8,000,000% T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Huizhou China Resources Chinese Mainland US$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Jiancai Limited” concrete
IFEERRLENERARY A 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRLEEHEE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Muzhou Limited” concrete
IMERRRLETABAAY R 20,000,000 75 - 100% - 100% RRIAESEE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Tangxia Limited™ concrete
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46. T EWEB A T (&)

J£ For the year ended 31 December 2016

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTR LONGIESZ ]
WEA=AMH A Lt 2 HERAE/EHER FrE gL Al TEEH
ZE-RE —T-hf
BE B BE# %
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

REZRRRERLARAAY  REMY 24,000,000 7T - 100% - looe ERTEERBE
Laibin China Resources Xingbin Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited” concrete
HEEBEARRLIARLAY HRE N, 34,000,00078 1T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Nanning China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Qingxiu Limited” concrete
BEERRERRLABR LAY A 37,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELEERHEE
Nanning China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$37,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Liangging Concrete Limited” concrete
ERNAZRRRLERAFAY  hEAM 7,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEEEEE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Resources Concrete Limited” concrete
ERRRERAR B 10,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% HE0E
Profit Success Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
mEEHBERERAA ) 200,000 T - 100% - 100%  RA TR RER R
Quality Control Consultants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Concrete testing and

consultancy services
HERRERAR BE 28T - 100% - 100% HEXRES
Redland Ash Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of fly ash
HEKRRIIBRAT BE 28T - 100% = 100%  KEES
Redland Cement Connections Limited  Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of cement
hARRLAERAR BE 1057 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete

HEDHERERAT BA 28T - 100% - 100% EBEHHES
Redland Construction Materials Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction

Limited materials
FEDRER AT A 28 - 100% - 100% »%EEH
Redland Mortars Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of mortars

ERRRERBRAE
China Resources Ceme
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46. T EWEB A T (&)

WEARER AR S 3t 2
Place of
Name of subsidiary incorporation

s
g
\

2T RFE+_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2016

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BETR P ONGESZ ]
HERE/FRER ikt 4 $l:barl TEER
“E-RE “Z-1fF
Ei B ER 3

Issued and fully

LAEEREKEERDA? BRI
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Chinese Mainland
Cement Limited?

AEBERELERRRY  HERM
Shenzhen China Resources Wenwei  Chinese Mainland
Concrete Limited”

ABFREBRAR BE
Standard Wealth Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong

EIZEBRERLERRAAY  dEAL
Zhanjiang China Resources Concrete  Chinese Mainland
Pengyuan Limited”

(@) ZERAERBRAMAINSBECENT

RERST o

A s

(@) ZEARERBEANHARINE B RENT
KL

RAREERA  ERVIHAAR AT
BRAREASENESE EENAERE
BB P EMMB AR BN
Jufe

%$¢FX%$¢FZ@W%TW@W
B AR EBITEAERE

paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2016 2015
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
90,000,000%7¢ - 72% - 2%  KREERHE
1US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
AR #20,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RETEESHEE
RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
28T - 100% - 100% FHEME
HK$2 Property holding
24,000,000 T - 100% - 100% RRLEEHEE
HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
notes:
(1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of

wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the subsidiaries
of the Company listed in the above table principally affected the
results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive length.

None of subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.
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47. ARz BBk R

47.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E—REF —ET—RF
FET THET
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
B FE & E Fixed assets 1,178 1,621
AN Interests in subsidiaries 20,771,898 25,189,446
20,773,076 25,191,067
mENEEE Current assets
H i E Y R IE Other receivables 84,279 116,976
R e RIRITRE R Cash and bank balances 277,831 127,681
362,110 244 657
mEEE Current liabilities
H Ath fE AT 3R IE Other payables 298,544 494,250
FET B8 R B FUR Amounts due to
subsidiaries 1,231,894 1,529,394
PR BB A R FIR Amount due to immediate
holding company - 54,956
HEmEE o Es - CimnEs Other unsecured
short term debt —
commercial paper 558,965 -
EIERES Unsecured bonds 3,102,032 =
RITER—R—FRNEIH Bank loans — amount
due within one year 2,335,379 4,510,464
7,526,814 6,589,064
mENBEFE Net current liabilities (7,164,704) (6,344,407)
BEABERREEE Total assets less
current liabilities 13,608,372 18,846,660
FEREEE Non-current liabilities
RITER-—R—FREIE Bank loans — amount
due after one year 5,315,712 10,597,782
| ES Unsecured bonds - 3,100,384
EPP R Unsecured medium
term notes 3,353,790 -
8,669,502 13,698,166
BEFE Net assets 4,938,870 5,148,494
AR A K 4 Capital and reserves
&4 Share capital 653,294 653,294
e (H1i248) Reserves (Note 48) 4,285,576 4,495 200
= BRE Total equity 4,938,870 5,148 494

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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48. XTIz f#E 48. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

RERE

RAEE ARG BERE REEE Bt

AT THT THT FHAT THT
Long
term award

Share scheme Translation ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000

RZZE—HFE—HA—H AtlJanuary 2015 6,936,754 (356,301) 685,217 (1,470,132) 5,795,538
EHER Exchange differences = = 18,052 = 18,052
FEER Loss for the year = = = (273,120) (273,120)
FEZEKRA Total comprehensive income

(BR)@®m (expense) for the year = = 18,052 (273,120) (255,068)
“E-NERBRE 2014 final dividend (653,294) - - - (653,294)
“E-RERHRE  2015interim dividend (391,976) = = = (391,976)
R-ZT—hfF At 31 December 2015

+-R=+—H 5,891,484 (356,301) 703,269 (1,743,252) 4,495,200
B ERE Exchange differences = = (214,843) = (214,843)
FEAF Profit for the year = = = 67,673 67,673
FEZ2HE(ER) Total comprehensive

LONx (expense) income

for the year - - (214,843) 67,673 (147,170)
“T-RERYKE  2015final dividend (130,659) = = = (130,659)
“TAFERHRE 2016 interim dividend (97,994) - - - (97,994)
BiER B EI60F2  Recognition under long term
award scheme - 217,095 - (50,896) 166,199

RZFE—RF At 31 December 2016

+ZRA=+—H 5,662,831 (139,206) 488426 (1,726,475) 4285576
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
—T——Ff T—=fF ZFT-NWFE —T—HF ZB-—REF
FHET FET FET FET FEx
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E Results
EHER Turnover 25345328 29340619  32,668910 26778671 25,647,464
RRRHEE AN Profit for the year
FEZ AR attributable to owners of
the Company 2,324,370 3,338,373 4,206,393 1,014,969 1,325,855
—E——fF Z—EBE-=F ZZT-NF ZZT—HF Z=ZB-KREF
FHT FET FET FHET TR
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
ETEE Fixed assets 31552919 32526564 33,271,505 31,596,192 29,783,669
BNEERA Prepaid lease payments 2,510,484 2,752,320 2,787,164 2,905,451 2,674,723
REME Investment properties 67,000 77,000 91,000 108,346 112,499
BREE Intangible assets 1,964,627 2,200,216 2,272,345 2394503 2,263,684
REE DB RER Interests in associates 2,286,023 2,392,943 3,284,186 5,620,142 5,212,992
REE AR ER Interests in joint ventures 1,381,417 1,727,042 1,594,566 1542889 1,484,271
HEETEER & Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 933,819 1,632,062 1,569,504 1,625,731 752,008
BLERBEE Deferred tax assets 124,456 152,878 104,252 365,030 325,525
R WA Long term receivables 633,048 620,686 615,166 662,115 440,901
O EHBITER Pledged bank deposit = = 20,558 24,729 32,368
MBEE Current assets 10,705338 10,097,959 11,926,841 7371622 9,073,871
BESR Total assets 52,159,131 54,179,670 57,537,087 54,216,750 52,156,511
=L Liabilities
TEEE Current liabilities 16,778,322 14,398,104 13,130,495  13402,104 14,816,834
FERBEE Non-current liabilities 13422609 14419815 15691444 13828969 11,087,808
BELR Total liabilities 30,200,931 28817919 28821939 27231073 25,904,642

EHKRIERER AR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company’s official website for corporate
communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share registrar of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong or by sending an email
to the share registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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